
 

 

 
 
To: Members of the  

EXECUTIVE 
 

 Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman) 
 

 Councillors Graham Arthur, Peter Fortune, William Huntington-Thresher, Kate Lymer, 
Peter Morgan and Diane Smith 

 
 A meeting of the Executive will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on WEDNESDAY 12 

FEBRUARY 2020 AT 7.00 PM  
 

 
 

MARK BOWEN 
Director of Corporate Services 

 

Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from 
 http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/ 

 
A G E N D A 

 

1    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

3   QUESTIONS  

 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports 
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of 
the meeting - by 5pm on Wednesday 29th January 2020. 
  
Questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda should be received within two 
working days of the normal publication date of the agenda.  Please ensure that 
questions specifically on reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic 
Services Team by 5pm on Thursday 6th February 2020.  
 

4    TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 JANUARY 2020 
(Pages 5 - 14) 
 

5    MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS  
(Pages 15 - 18) 
 

BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH 
 
TELEPHONE: 020 8464 3333  CONTACT: Graham Walton 

   graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk 

    

DIRECT LINE: 020 8461 7743   

FAX: 020 8290 0608  DATE: 31 January 2020 

http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/


 
 

 

6    2020/21 COUNCIL TAX  
(Pages 19 - 60) 
 

7    CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING Q3 2019/20 AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2020 TO 2024  
(Pages 61 - 80) 
 

8    TEC AMENDMENT TO ALLOW LONDON COUNCILS A COLLABORATIVE ROLE 
IN ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE  
(Pages 81 - 86) 
 

9   CRYSTAL PALACE PARK  
(Pages 87 - 96) 

 Crystal Palace ward 
 

10    HOUSING STRATEGY 2019-2029  
(Pages 97 - 112) 
 

11    TENANCY SUPPORT SERVICES FOR HOMELESS PEOPLE (PART 1)  
(Pages 113 - 122) 
 

12   CONTRACT AWARD: PROVISION OF HOUSING SUPPLY IN ANERLEY AND 
CHISLEHURST (PART 1)  
(Pages 123 - 130) 

 Crystal Palace and Chislehurst wards 
 

13    CONTRACT AWARD: DOMICILIARY CARE FOR DISCHARGE TO ASSESS  
(PART 1)  
(Pages 131 - 138) 
 

14    LONDON BOROUGHS LEGAL ALLIANCE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT FOR 
BARRISTERS  
(Pages 139 - 144) 
 

15   AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO NEGOTIATIONS TO DISPOSE  OF FORMER 
ADVENTURE KINGDOM BUILDING, BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE  TO CREATE A 
NEW NHS HEALTH AND WELL BEING CENTRE FOR BROMLEY  
(Pages 145 - 222) 

 Bromley Town Ward 
 

16    OPERATIONAL BUILDING MAINTENANCE BUDGETS AND PLANNED 
PROGRAMME 2020/21  
(To Follow) 
 



 
 

 

17    CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM THE EXECUTIVE, 
RESOURCES AND CONTRACTS POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  
 

18   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM 
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000  

 The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of 
the items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to 
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public 
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information. 
 

Items of Business Schedule 12A Description 

19   TENANCY SUPPORT SERVICE FOR 
HOMELESS PEOPLE (PART 2)  
(Pages 223 - 224) 

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  

20   CONTRACT AWARD: PROVISION OF HOUSING 
SUPPLY IN ANERLEY AND CHISLEHURST 
(Pages 225 - 232) 

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  

Crystal Palace and Chislehurst wards 

21   CONTRACT AWARD: DOMICILIARY CARE FOR 
DISCHARGE TO ASSESS (PART 2)  
(Pages 233 - 242) 

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  

22   CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - 
APPENDIX F  
(Pages 243 - 244) 

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information)  

  



This page is left intentionally blank



1 
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2020 starting at 7.00 pm 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman) 
Councillors Graham Arthur, Peter Fortune, 
William Huntington-Thresher, Kate Lymer, Peter Morgan 
and Diane Smith 

 
Also Present: 

 
Councillor Julian Benington, Councillor Simon Fawthrop 
and Councillor Angela Wilkins 
 

 
120   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 
121   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
122   QUESTIONS 

 
Two questions for oral reply were received from a member of the public - the 
questions and answers are set out in Appendix A to these minutes.  
 
123   TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27TH 

NOVEMBER 2019 
 

In relation to minute 103 (Beckenham Library and Cultural Venue - Authority 
to Proceed to Procurement), Councillor Angela Wilkins proposed that the 
definition of affordable housing given in section 3 (second page, agenda pack 
page 24) of Councillor Morgan’s statement at Appendix B should be reflected 
in the third bullet point in the main text of the minutes. The Leader responded 
that he had received no specific objection to the minutes previously, as well 
that no such recommendations had been forthcoming from the recent PDS 
call-in meeting, and he saw no reason for this change to be made. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 27th November 2019, 
excluding exempt information, be confirmed. 
 
124   MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 

Report CSD20009 
 
The Executive received a report on matters outstanding from previous 
meetings. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Executive 
15 January 2020 
 

2 

 
125   DRAFT 2020/21 BUDGET AND UPDATE ON THE COUNCIL'S 

FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021/22 TO 2023/24 
Report FSD20008 

 
The report set out the initial draft 2020/21 Budget, including the full-year effect 
of changes agreed as part of the 2019/20 Council Tax report and savings 
approved during the year with the resultant impact on the Council’s medium 
term budget gap. A key part of the financial strategy was to highlight the 
budget issues for the next few years by forecasting the level of available 
resources and the budget pressures. The views of PDS Committees would be 
sought prior to the next meeting, when the Executive would make 
recommendations to full Council on the 2020/21 Council tax and Adult Social 
Care precept levels.  
 
The report provided details of the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement 2020/21 (published on 20th December 2019) which represented a 
one year settlement, the longer term spending review having been postponed 
until 2020. The outcome of the Fair Funding Review and Devolution of 
Business Rates had been delayed by one year until 2021/22.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Resources, Commissioning and Contract 
Management announced that the budget assumed a staff pay award for 
2020/21 of 2.5% across the board.  
 
There were still outstanding issues and areas of uncertainty - any further 
updates would be included in the report to the next meeting.  
 
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts 
PDS Committee on 8th January 2020, and the Committee had supported the 
recommendations. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) The initial draft 2020/21 Budget as detailed in Appendix 7 to the 
report, including the provision for an Education Funding Risk Reserve, 
IBCF hospital discharge funding reserve, Carbon Neutral Initiatives Fund 
and setting aside New Homes Bonus funding for housing investment, be 
agreed.   
 
(2) The initial draft 2020/21 Budget for each portfolio be referred to the 
relevant PDS Committees for consideration. 
 
(3) The financial projections for 2021/22 to 2023/24 be noted. 
 
(4) It is noted that there are still areas of financial uncertainty which will 
impact on the final 2020/21 Budget. 
 
(5) The setting of the schools budget, mainly met through Dedicated 
Schools Grant, be delegated to the Children, Education and Families 

Page 6



Executive 
15 January 2020 

 

3 
 

Portfolio Holder, allowing for consultation with the Schools Forum 
(section 11 of the report). 
 
(6) It is noted that the outcome of consultation with PDS Committees will 
be reported to the next meeting of the Executive. 
 
(7) The outcome of the consultation meetings be noted (Appendix 9 to 
the report). 
 
(8) The proposed contribution of £247,844 in 2020/21 to the London 
Boroughs Grants Committee be agreed (section 10 to the report.) 
 
(9) The outcome of the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement 2020/21 be noted, as detailed in the report. 
 
(10) The budget gap remaining of an estimated £16.9m per annum by 
2023/24 and that any decisions made for the 2020/21 Budget will have an 
impact on the future year projections be noted. 
 
(11) It is noted that any final decision by the Executive on recommended 
Council Tax and Adult Social Care Precept levels to Council will 
normally be undertaken at the next meeting of the Executive. 
 
126   BIGGIN HILL AIRPORT LIMITED (BHAL) - LANDLORD'S 

CONSENT TO NEW HOTEL AND AVIATION COLLEGE 
Report DRR19/062 

 
Biggin Hill Airport Limited (BHAL) had requested that the Council give 
Landlord’s Consent, under the terms of the lease between BHAL and the 
Council, for the development of a new hotel and a separate aviation college at 
the airport.  
 
Councillor Julian Benington, ward member for Biggin Hill, attended the 
meeting and expressed strong support for the BHAL proposals. The Leader 
added that Councillor Melanie Stevens, the other ward member, had asked 
him to pass on her support for both developments - her comments are 
attached to these minutes as Appendix B.  
 
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts 
PDS Committee on 8th January 2020, and the Committee had supported the 
recommendations, with the addition of a recommendation that a market rent 
should be charged, reduced to zero, whilst the site was used for the purposes 
of an aeronautical college. In response to this, the Assistant Director, 
Strategic Property, circulated advice which explained that the site as an 
aeronautical college had no commercial value, and hence it was proposed 
that no rent would be charged. If BHAL wanted to vary the use at some point 
in the future they would need to obtain planning permission and landlord’s 
consent, and a market rent based on that usage could be applied.     
 

Page 7



Executive 
15 January 2020 
 

4 

The Chairman of the Executive, Resources and Contracts PDS Committee 
stated whilst he supported the college, it was important that the details of any 
change to the lease needed to be scrutinised very carefully.  
 
The Leader advised that the detailed wording relating to the college could be 
reviewed by the Portfolio Holder for Resources, Commissioning and Contract 
Management in conjunction with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
Executive, Resources and Contracts PDS Committee prior to being finalised if 
it would help to assuage any lingering concerns which the Chairman might still 
hold on the subject, which was accepted and agreed.    
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) Landlord’s consent for the hotel development be granted. 
 
(2) The terms of the lease be varied to permit the development of the 
aviation college and that delegated authority be given to the Assistant 
Director, Strategic Property, to finalise the conditions subject to which 
consent is given, subject to the agreement of the Resources, 
Commissioning and Contract Management Portfolio Holder.  
 
127   CENTRAL DEPOT WALL RECONSTRUCTION: REQUEST FOR 

ADDITIONAL FUNDING 
 

At its meeting on 28th March 2018 the Executive had approved that an 
additional sum of £500k be added to the £216k already available for the 
reconstruction of a retaining wall at the Central Depot. Additional enabling 
works were required and tenders had been sought on the basis of an 
amended specification, for which additional funding was required.  
 
The proposed works involved the demolition of some outbuildings, 
construction of a new retaining wall, formation of a concrete hardstanding 
area to replace the ground floor slab and external hardstanding and remedial 
repairs to the boundary wall.    
 
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts 
PDS Committee on 8th January 2020, and the Committee had supported the 
recommendations. 
 
RESOLVED that  
 
(1) Funding of £115k from the earmarked reserve for the Infrastructure 
Investment Fund be approved to undertake the works. 
 
(2) Delegated authority be given to the Director of Environment and 
Public Protection to authorise any variations against the contract within 
the contingency sum. 
 
 
 

Page 8



Executive 
15 January 2020 

 

5 
 

128   CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM 
THE EXECUTIVE, RESOURCES AND CONTRACTS POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

There were no additional items referred from Executive, Resources and 
Contracts PDS Committee. 
 
129   LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) 
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION ACT 2000 
 

RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration 
of the item of business referred to below as it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings 
that if members of the Press and public were present there would be 
disclosure to them of exempt information. 
 

The following summary 
refers to matters involving exempt information 

 
130   EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 27TH 

NOVEMBER 2019 
 

The Chairman of the Executive, Resources and Contracts PDS Committee 
commented that it was important that potential tenderers should not be given 
an indication of how much a construction project was anticipated to cost. 
 
RESOLVED that the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 27th 
November 2019 be confirmed. 
 
 
The Meeting ended at 7.39 pm 
 
 

 
Chairman 

 
 

Page 9



This page is left intentionally blank



 

1 
 

Appendix A 
EXECUTIVE 

 
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
 

(1)    From Sheila Grace to the Environment and Community Services Portfolio 
Holder  
 
In regard to agenda item 6.12.2 (page 43) – Carbon Neutral Initiative Fund of £875k 
for “pump priming”, 
 

What will the pump priming activities be and why is no further money allocated 

to the Carbon Neutral Initiative Fund for future years? (Page 37 and Appendix 

5, page 80). 

 

Reply: 

Having delivered Carbon Management Plan 1 (CMP1) achieving a 14% carbon 
saving and exceeded CMP2’s projections delivering a 33% saving on carbon 
emissions, we are confident that energy efficiency and carbon tax savings will 
continue to allow delivery of invest to save projects to advance towards Carbon 
neutrality for council activities. The full use of the pump priming budget is not 
allocated at this point, but I expect will include adding delivery detail to net-zero 
Council Carbon Policy and CMP3 (2019-2029) and identifying particular schemes. 
The strategy will be reported to Environment and Community Services PDS 
Committee at the end of this month with more detail. 
 

Supplementary Question: 

Ms Grace asked that, in view of the huge public awareness and concern for the 

climate emergency, what were the opportunities for members of the public to engage 

with the Council’s spending proposals for carbon reduction?  

 

Reply 

The Portfolio Holder responded that there would be regular reports to the 

Environment and Community Services PDS Committee, and residents would be able 

to ask questions at those meetings. 

 

(2)      From Sheila Grace to the Environment and Community Services Portfolio 
Holder  
 

Whilst a major financial risk to the Council of addressing Bromley wide emissions is 
noted in Appendix 10, (page 163), where, and to what extent is the financial risk of 
failing to address these emissions found in the report? 
 
Reply: 
It is not envisaged that there is a mitigatable financial risk to the Council, other than 
those already captured in the Council’s Strategy. For example, residents’ segregation 
of recycling saves carbon and disposal costs for the Council are less and general 
uncontrollable events.  

Page 11



 

2 
 

 
 

Supplementary Question: 

Ms Grace asked how risks from climate catastrophes across all portfolios such as 

increased health costs of an ageing population with increasing temperatures, and 

increased numbers of unaccompanied children seeking asylum from countries 

devastated by climate change, were being taken into account?  

 

Reply 

The Portfolio Holder responded that the Council would do its bit to address carbon 

emissions, but it could not control these issues as the Council’s emissions were a 

small proportion of UK and global emissions. The Council’s risk management plan 

already included some of these risks, but not every aspect of the future could be 

worked out in detail, and the Council’s budget plans were only projected over a four 

year period; risks arising later would be for future budget plans.   

   

Additional Supplementary Question from Cllr Simon Fawthrop: 

Cllr Fawthrop asked whether the Portfolio Holder was aware that one of the biggest 
risks facing the Council was the Mayor of London’s proposed London Plan which 
suggested that large areas of garden land should be built on.    
 
(At this point the meeting was suspended for a short period between 7.05 and 
7.08pm). 
 
Reply:  
The Portfolio Holder responded that he was aware of the London Plan, but whilst the 
proposals would have a small negative impact, equally in a UK and global context the 
impact would be small. 

Page 12



Appendix B  
 
Minute 126: Biggin Hill Airport Limited - Landlord’s Consent to new Hotel and 

Aviation College 
 
Representations from Cllr Melanie Stevens, Biggin Hill Ward 
 
 
Dear Colin 
 
As I will not be able to attend tonight due to other commitments I thought that you 
may be able to table my few and brief comments. 
 
Both developments are to be used for business activities related to aviation. 
 
The Aerospace and Technology College for training personnel in all matters “aircraft” 
creating a feed of well educated and trained staff to work within the airport business’s 
once qualified.  
  
The hotel with its ancillary facilities is primarily designed to be used by personnel 
using the airport, which at the present time go elsewhere, which will keep people in 
the local vicinity bringing economic benefit to LBB. 
 
Biggin Hill London Airport has been identified at a strategic Outer London 
Development Centre (SOLDC) with employment and business benefits for not only 
LBB but also our residents which can only be supported by these two developments. 
 
The airport, on granting the new lease have worked hard to remain within the new 
terms and I see no reason to doubt that they would not honour the terms of 
Landlords Consent should it be granted. 
 
With kind regards  
 
Melanie Stevens 
Cllr Biggin Hill Ward 
 

Page 13



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD20009 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 

Date:  12th February 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Non-Key 
 

Title: MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS 
 

Contact Officer: Graham Walton, Democratic Services Manager 
Tel: 0208 461 7743    E-mail:  graham.walton@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen, Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: N/A 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1   Council agreed on 8th April 2019 that all Council Committees should include a report covering 
matters outstanding from previous meetings.  Appendix A updates Members on matters 
outstanding from previous meetings of the Executive – one matter from the meeting on 27th 
November 2019 is listed. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

2.1   The Executive is invited to consider progress on matters outstanding from previous 
meetings.  

 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Impact on Vulnerable Adults and 
Children/Policy/Financial/Personnel/Legal/Procurement   

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Minutes of previous Executive meetings  

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Not applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   The Executive receives an update on matters arising from 
previous meetings at each meeting.   

 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Democratic Services  
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £358,740 
 

5. Source of funding: 2019/20 Revenue Budget  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  8 posts (6.79fte) 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:  Monitoring the Executive’s matters 
arising takes at most a few hours per meeting.      

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: None:  
 

2. Call-in: Not Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not Applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  This report is intended 
primarily for the benefit of Executive Members  

  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not Applicable  

Page 16



  

3 

 

Appendix A 

Minute 
Number/Title 

Executive 
Decision/Request 

Update Action by  Completion 
Date  

27th November 2019 
 

103  
Beckenham Library 
and Cultural Venue 
– Authority to 
Proceed to 
Procurement  
 
 
 

Proceeding to 
procurement for the 
appointment of a 
multi-disciplinary 
team to develop a 
scheme for 
Beckenham Public 
Hall up to RIBA Stage 
2 in the first instance, 
using an open tender 
process, agreed. 

The tender closed 
for submissions on 
the 24th January 
2020. Six 
tenderers bid for 
the contract. 
Evaluation took 
place w/c 27th 
January and a 
verbal update 
detailing the 
winning tenderer 
will be provided at 
the February 
meeting.  The 
value of the 
contract is such 
that the award is 
an officer decision. 
The outcome of 
the viability work 
will be reported in 
the June/July 
committee cycle. 
 

Assistant 
Director, 
Culture & 
Regeneration  

February 2020 

 
 

 

Page 17



This page is left intentionally blank



Report No. London Borough of Bromley 
FSD20022    

PART 1 - PUBLIC

Decision Maker: Executive 

Date: 12th February 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Executive Key 

TITLE: 2020/21 Council Tax 

Contact Officer: Peter Turner, Director of Finance 
  Tel: 020 8313 4338  E-mail: peter.turner@bromley.gov.uk 

Director: Director of Finance 

Ward: Borough wide 

  REASON FOR REPORT 

1.1 A key part of the financial strategy is to highlight the budget issues that will 
need to be addressed by the Council over the coming financial years, by 
forecasting the level of available resources from all sources and budget 
pressures relating to revenue spending. Details of the capital programme 
will be reported separately to Executive.  

1.2 The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21, which 
covers 2020/21 only, provides a significant improvement in funding for local 
government and represents the most positive funding proposal for local 
government since austerity began 10 years ago.  

1.3 There remains uncertainty around the level of Government funding for 
2021/22 and beyond. The longer-term Spending Review has been 
postponed for one year (until 2021/22) together with the outcome of the 
Fair Funding Review and Devolution of Business Rates.  

1.4 This report identifies the final issues affecting the 2020/21  revenue 
budget  and seeks recommendations to the Council on the level of the 
Bromley element of the 2020/21 Council Tax and Adult Social Care 
precept. Confirmation of the final GLA precept will be reported to the 
Council meeting on 24th   February 2020. The report also seeks final 
approval of the ‘schools budget’. The approach reflected in this report is 
for the Council to not only achieve a legal and financially balanced budget 
in 2020/21 but to have measures in place to deal with the medium term 
financial position (2021/22 to 2023/24). 

1.5 With the Government reductions in funding since austerity measures began, 
the burden of financing increasing service demands falls primarily on the 
level of council tax and share of business rate income.   

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

mailto:peter.turner@bromley.gov.uk


2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1   The Executive is requested to recommend to Council that it: 

(a) Approves the schools budget of £79.506m which matches the 
estimated level of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), after academy 
recoupment; 

(b)    Approves the draft revenue budgets (as in Appendix 2) for 2020/21; 

(c)    Agrees that Chief Officers identify alternative savings/mitigation within 
their departmental budgets where it is not possible to realise any 
savings/mitigation reported to the previous meeting of the Executive held 
on 15th January 2020; 

(d)   Approves a contingency sum of £12,622k (see section 6); 

(e)   Approves the following provisions for levies for inclusion in the budget for 
2020/21; 

£’000 
 London Pension Fund Authority* 470 
 London Boroughs Grant Committee 248 
 Environment Agency (Flood defence etc.) * 258 
 Lee Valley Regional Park * 324 
 Total 1,300 

* Provisional estimate at this stage

(f) Notes the latest position on the GLA precept, which will be finalised in the 
overall Council Tax figure to be reported to full Council (see section 12); 

(g) Considers the “Bromley element” of the Council Tax for 2020/21 to be 
recommended to the Council, including a general increase and the Adult Social 
Care Precept, having regard to possible ‘referendum’ issues (see section 16); 

(h) Approves the approach to reserves outlined by the Director of Finance (see 
Appendix 4); 

(i) Notes that any decision on final council tax level will also require additional 
“technical” recommendations, to meet statutory requirements, which will be 
completed once  the final outcome of levies are known at the full Council 
meeting (see 16.9); 

(j) Agrees that the Director of Finance be authorised to report any further changes 
directly to Council on 24th February 2020. 

Page 20



Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 

1. Summary of Impact: None arising directly from this report
#

Corporate 

Policy Status: Existing Policy 
BBB Priority:  Excellent Council 

Financial 

1. Cost of proposal: N/A 
2. Ongoing Costs: Recurring costs – impact in future years detailed in Appendix 1 
3. Budget head/performance centre: Council wide 
4. Total budget for this head £167m Draft 2020/21 Budget (excluding GLA precept)
5. Source of funding: See Appendix 2 for overall funding of Council’s budget

Personnel 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): total employees – full details will be available with
the Council’s 2020/21 Financial Control Budget to be published in March 2020

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours – N/A

Legal 

1. Statutory requirement: The statutory duties relating to financial reporting are covered within
the Local Government Act 1972; the Local Government Finance Act 1998; the Local
Government Act 2000; the Local Government Act 2002 and the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015.

2. Call-in is applicable

Procurement 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: None arising directly from this report

Customer Impact 

Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected) - the 2020/21 budget 
reflects the financial impact of the Council’s strategies, service plans etc. which impact on 
all of the Council’s customers (including council tax payers) and users of the services. 

Ward Councillors Views 

1. Have ward councillors been asked for comments? N/A

2. Summary of Ward Councillor comments: Council wide 

Page 21



3. PREVIOUS REPORTING TO MEMBERS

3.1 In considering this report further background information was available through the
Members’ seminars as follows:

(a) Members’ Welfare Reform Seminar on 14th January 2019;
(b) Members’ Finance Seminar on 24th June 2019.

3.2 The ‘Draft 2020/21 Budget and Update on the Council’s Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 
2023/24’ was reported to the Executive on 15th January 2020. Key matters reflected in the 
report included: 

(Please note appendices and sections shown below refer to the report to the meeting of 
the Executive on 15th January 2020) 

(a) Approach to Budgeting, Financial Context and Economic Situation which can impact 
on Public Finances (Section 3 and Appendix 1); 

(b) Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21 (Appendix 2); 
(c) Council Tax Levels, Government Funding and Spend Levels (Appendix 3); 
(d) Changes since the 2019/20 Budget that impact on the Financial Forecast (Section 6); 
(e) Latest Financial Forecast (Section 5 and Appendices 5-6); 
(f) Detailed Draft 2020/21 Budget (Section 7 and Appendix 7); 
(g) Options being undertaken with a “One Council” approach including Transformation  

(Section 8); 
(h) Future Local Authority Landscape (Section 9); 
(i) The Schools’ Budget (Section 11); 
(j) Consultation (Section 16); 
(k) Position by Portfolio – Key Issues/Risks (Section 17 and Appendix 10). 

All of the above should be considered with this report as part of finalising the 2020/21 
Budget and council tax levels. 

4. 2020/21 DRAFT BUDGET AND CHANGES SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE
EXECUTIVE

 4.1 The last report to the Executive identified a balanced budget in 2020/21, assuming an 
increase in council tax and adult social care precept of 3.99%, and a ‘budget gap’ of £16.9m 
by 2023/24.The main updates are shown below: 

(a) The final Local Government Financial Settlement 2020/21 is still awaited and any 
updates will be provided at the meeting; 

(b) The Portfolio Holder for Resources, Commissioning and Contracts Management 
announced at the last meeting of Executive that the Council is proposing an across 
the board pay increase of 2.5% for Council staff with further changes to  staff on lower 
scale points(inclusive of the 2.5%). Further details are being reported to General 
Purposes and Licensing Committee on 11th February 2020. The financial impact of 
this proposal has been included in the Draft 2020/21 Budget; 

(c) Additional Government funding in 2020/21 of £103,654 for Rough Sleepers Initiative. 
Additional spend of an equivalent amount has been assumed in the Draft 2020/21 
Central Contingency Sum.  

5. LATEST FINANCIAL FORECAST

5.1 A summary of the latest budget projections is shown in Appendices 1 and 2 and 
are summarised in the table below: 

Page 22



Variations Compared with 2019/20 Budget 2020/21
£m

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

Changes in Government Core Funding -0.6 3.0 6.0 9.0

Cost Pressures
Increased costs  (2.3% per annum in 2020/21, 2.5% per annum from 
2021/22) 6.2 12.9 19.8 26.8
Reinstatement of highways  maintenance (previous ly capi ta l i sed) 0.0 0.0 2.5 2.5

Total Additional Costs 6.2 12.9 22.3 29.3

Income / Savings
Interest on ba lances  -0.3 -0.2 -0.2 -0.2
Release genera l  provis ion in contingency for s igni ficant 
uncerta inty/variables

-4.2 -6.0 -8.0 -8.0

Savings  from chi ldren's  socia l  care l inked to invest to save -0.5 -0.8 -0.8 -0.8
Review of s taffing across  organisation -0.9 -0.9 -0.9 -0.9
Impact of ful ly funded pens ion scheme - defici t contribution no 
longer required

-2.1 -2.1 -2.1 -2.1

Adult socia l  care and chi ldren's  socia l  care grant -4.2 -4.2 -4.2 -4.2
Additional  high needs  funding requiring no genera l  fund 
contribution -3.2 -4.5 -5.2 -4.3

Transformation Savings  (based on commitments/approvals  
a l ready made)

-4.1 -5.6 -5.9 -6.1

Total Income / Savings -19.5 -24.3 -27.3 -26.6

Other Changes (includes use of non-recurring funds)
Fal l  out of Col lection Fund surplus  2017/18 set as ide as  one off 
support towards  meeting the funding shortfa l l  in 2019/20 6.7 6.7 6.7 6.7
Real  Changes  and other Variations -0.7 -0.7 0.2 -0.2
Fal l  out of New Homes  Bonus  funding 0.9 1.9 2.3 2.5
Fal l  out of one off bus iness  rate levy 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6
Fal l  out of London pi lot of bus iness  rates  2.2 2.2 2.2 2.2
Estimated impact of McCloud judgement on pens ion costs  0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
Set as ide of New Homes  Bonus  Funding for hous ing investment  1.6 0.7 0.2 0.0
Continuation of iBCF funding origina l ly due to fa l l  out in 2020/21 -1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
Set as ide of iBCF funding to support hospi ta l  discharge impact on 
socia l  care costs 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0
Carbon Neutra l  Ini tiatives  Fund 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
Eduction Funding Risk Reserve 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5

Total Other Changes 13.1 12.3 13.1 12.7

Council Tax
Assumed increase in counci l  tax base number of properties  -0.7 -1.5 -2.3 -3.0
Increase in counci l  tax (assume 1.99% per annum) -3.2 -6.4 -9.7 -13.1
Impact of  Adult Socia l  Care Precept (assume 2% per annum) -3.2 -3.2 -3.2 -3.2
Col lection Fund Surplus  2018/19 -5.9 0.0 0.0 0.0
Col lection Fund set as ide to meet future years  budget gap 5.9 0.0 -5.9 0.0
Projection of future year col lection fund surplus 0.0 -4.0 -3.0 -2.0

Total Council Tax -7.1 -15.1 -24.1 -21.3

Growth/Cost Pressures including mitigation (see Appendix 6)
Education 1.5 3.1 4.4 5.1
Chi ldrens  Socia l  Care 1.1 1.5 1.8 1.8
Adult Socia l  Care 4.4 6.9 8.1 9.3
Hous ing 0.2 -0.1 -3.2 -3.5
Reduction in investment property income 0.7 0.6 0.9 1.1

Total growth/cost pressures 7.9 12 12 13.8

Remaining "Budget Gap" 0.0 0.8 2.0 16.9

Page 23



5.2 The above table shows, for illustrative purposes the impact of a council tax increase of 
3 .99% in 2020/21 (including adult social care precept). Each 1% council tax increase 
generates on-going annual income of £1.6m. The financial forecast assumes that any future 
increases in the Adult Social Care precept cease beyond 2020/21. It should be noted that 
the current legislation only provided powers for this precept until the end of 2020/21. 

5.3 These variations are subject to any final decision on Council Tax levels. Appendix 2 
derives an illustrative ‘Bromley element’ Council Tax of £1,264.77 (1.99% general 
increase plus 2% adult social care precept) and Appendix 3 includes the Draft 2020/21 
Central Contingency Sum. Appendix 2 is based on draft portfolio budgets, the draft 
contingency provision and the latest assumptions for levies. This sum excludes the GLA 
precept. 

5.4 Appendix 1 highlights that the Council, on a roll forward basis, has a “structural deficit” as 
the on-going budget has increasing costs relating to inflation, service pressures and 
potential future loss of Government grants. These changes are not being fully funded by a 
corresponding growth in income. The above projection includes savings previously agreed 
to reduce the ‘budget gap’ and the situation has improved following the 2019 Spending 
Round.  

5.5 The above table highlights that, although it has been possible to achieve a potential 
balanced budget for next year even after allowing for significant cost pressures there 
remains a “budget gap” of £0.8m in 2021/22 rising to £16.9m per annum in 2023/24. The 
projections in later years have to be treated with some caution, particularly as the 
Government’s next spending review is expected to be implemented from 2021/22 which will 
include the revised levels of funding for individual local authorities following the ‘Fair 
Funding’ review and Spending Review combined with the awaited outcome of the devolution 
of business rates income (75% share with GLA). 

5.6 In considering action required to address the medium term “budget gap”, the Council 
has taken significant action to reduce the cost base while protecting priority front line 
services and providing sustainable longer term solutions. Significant savings of o v e r  
£100m were realised since 2011/12. Our council has to balance between the needs of 
service users and the burden of council tax on council tax payers. With the Government 
having placed severe reductions in the level of grant support, the burden of financing 
increasing service demand falls primarily upon the level of council tax and business rate 
income. 

5.7 Further changes will be required, prior to the report to full Council on 24th February for the 
finalisation of the Council Tax, to reflect latest available information on levies, and the final 
GLA precept. 

5.8 The reasons for the budget gap by 2023/24 include, for example: 

(a) inflation pressures partly offset by assumed council tax increase (1.99% per annum) 
and social care precept (2020/21 only) of 2% leaving a balance required of £10.5m; 

(b) Loss of core grant funding of £9m; 

(c)  Growth/cost pressures less mitigation of £12.7m relating to education, social care and 
housing. If further growth pressure continues in these areas, as well as other areas, 
the future years ‘budget gap’ could increase; 

Page 24



(d) Additional income of £4.2m from Government social care funding which partly 
offsets the social care cost/growth pressures; 

(e) Additional High Needs funding from Government, utilising £3.2m in 2020/21 
(£4.3m in 2023/24) which partly offsets the education cost/growth pressures; 

(f) Phase 1 of the Transformation savings  (£4.1m in 2020/21 increasing to £6.1m per 
annum in 2023/24); 

(g) Savings from reduction in the Council’s provision for risk/uncertainty held within 
the Central Contingency Sum (savings of £8m per annum); 

(h) Fall out of use of use of collection fund surplus and new homes bonus funding 
(£7.3m net). 

5.9 Even using a ‘best case scenario’ that there are no government grant reductions 
after 2020/21, the final budget gap in future years will remain significant (£7.9m). 

 5.10 In the financial forecast, after allowing for inflation, council tax income and other 
changes we have an unfunded budget gap mainly due to net service growth/cost 
pressures. Therefore elements of service growth/cost pressures are effectively 
unfunded. This highlights the importance of scrutinising growth and recognition that 
corresponding savings will need to be found to achieve a statutory balanced budget. It 
is timely as we all have to consider what level of growth the council can afford and the 
need for significant mitigation or alternative transformation options.  

6. DRAFT 2020/21 CENTRAL CONTINGENCY SUM

6.1     Details of the 2020/21 Draft Contingency Sum of £12,622k have been included in 
Appendix 3. This sum includes a provision for risk/uncertainty in the future included in the 
base budget. There remains a need to consider a significant provision in the central 
contingency sum to allow for unforeseen costs, prevent drawing from reserves to fund 
overspends, to reflect the impact of new burdens introduced after the budget was set, 
to cover the impact of savings and mitigation of growth not realised and, as in the past, 
enable funding of key initiatives and investment opportunities. 

6.2    It is important to recognise that this sum also includes various significant costs not 
allocated to Portfolio budgets at this stage. Therefore, there may be further changes 
to the Central Contingency to reflect allocations to individual Portfolio Budgets which will 
be reflected in the 2020/21 Financial Control Budget. This will ensure that budget 
holders will have all their individual budgets updated early in the financial year. Such 
changes will not impact on the Council’s overall 2020/21 Budget. 

6.3 The updated financial forecast assumes the release of £4.2m in 2020/21, £6m in 
2021/22 and £8m per annum from 2022/23 to directly support the revenue budget. 

7. GENERAL AND EARMARKED RESERVES

7.1 Appendix 4 of this report highlights the Council’s approach to utilising reserves and 
the significant value in retaining reserves. The level of reserves needs to be adequate 
to ensure the longer term stewardship of the Council’s finances remain effective 
and the Council maintains ‘sustainable’ finances in the medium term. Medium term 

Page 25



planning remains absolutely key in recognition of the ongoing ‘structural’ budget 
deficit facing the Council. Inflation, new burdens, growth/cost pressures and 
previous reductions in Government funding has created the structural budget 
deficit. Reserves are one off monies and do generate income and should only be 
used where no other savings/efficiencies can be identified or to plug the gap (short 
term) for the phasing of savings. 

7.2 The Council will have retained previous year’s collection fund surpluses as well as a 
financial management and risk reserve (both included within earmarked reserves) which 
can support any planned transition in delivering significant savings to meet the 
budget gap. However, any medium or longer term utilisation of one off resources and 
reserves to support the revenue budget are unsustainable and place the council at 
greater financial risk in the future. 

7.3 If the existing general reserves are released now to fund service initiatives, delay 
savings or reduce council tax there would be a resultant “opportunity cost”  relating  to a 
corresponding  loss  in  interest  earnings/investment  opportunities  and  the resultant 
exhaustion of reserves which is not recommended. Any increase in service levels or initial 
protection would only be very short term. Reserves can only be used as a one-off 
contribution to revenue spending and would not provide a sustainable solution to 
maintaining local government services. 

7.4 The Council had general reserves remaining of £20m as at 31/3/2019. A full 
breakdown of reserves, including earmarked reserves, is detailed in Appendix 4. 

8. 2019/20 BUDGET MONITORING

8.1 The most recent budget monitoring position was reported to Executive on 27th
November 2019. The report identified an overall net underspend of £1.6m but 
highlighted full year costs of £5.2m.  The majority of these full year costs relating to 
Adult Care and Health Services (£3.5m) and Education, Children and Families 
(£1.8m) have been included in the 2020/21 Budget. The Government’s additional 
funding for social care in 2020/21 (£4.2m) has been utilised towards meeting these full 
year costs. 

9. THE SCHOOLS BUDGET

9.1 Since 2003/04, the Council has received funding for the ‘Schools Budget’ element of 
Education services through a ring fenced grant, more recently through the Dedicated 
Schools Grant (DSG). 

9.2 The implementation of the National Funding Formula (NFF) began in 2018/19. Funding 
has been split into four blocks, Schools, High Needs, Early Years and Central Spend 
DSG. The funding splits are detailed in the table below: 

Page 26



PROVISIONAL DSG FUNDING

Schools High Needs Early Years Central Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

2019/20 208,637 49,016 22,181 1,938 281,772

2020/21 218,401 53,540 22,530 1,920 296,391

Variation 9,764 4,524 349 -18 14,619

9.3 The Schools Block has risen by £9.8m. This is due to an increase in the per pupil unit 
funding and increases in the population figures. 

9.4 The High Needs Block is seeing pressures coming through the system. The Government 
recently announced increases in funding for 2020/21 of £700m nationally to acknowledge 
these pressures and the fact that some Authorities were building up high levels of deficit 
reserves. This announcement by Government has resulted in an increase in funding of 
£4.5m for Bromley. 

9.5 Although there are increases in funding, predictions for expenditure are rising at a faster 
rate. This is due to growth in pupil numbers in this area, Government extending the scope 
of the High Needs Block from ages 5 to 19 to 0 to 25 and historical baseline funding 
adjustments. Moreover future funding levels have not yet been announced and so there is 
uncertainty as to what funding levels will be from 2021/22. 

9.6 The Council were contributing core funding of £1.9m in 2019/20 to support High Needs 
expenditure. The additional grant means that this can now be removed and the additional 
DSG grant can be used as envisaged by the Government. 

9.7 It is also proposed to set aside £1.1m of the funding as part of a four year strategy to 
smooth the impact of High Needs demands as far as possible until 2023/24. 

9.8 There are no firm guarantees for High Needs funding beyond 2020/21 and this will avoid 
spikes in funding deficits as far as possible. 

9.9 The Council are also proposing to set aside £500k per annum of core funding in a reserve, 
in the event that deficits in the Education funding cannot be met. Any drawdown of this 
funding would need a report and the agreement of the Executive. 

9.10 Early Years funding has increased by £349k. This is due to increases in population and 
take up and in increase in the rates from government. Early Years DSG is adjusted in 
years to take account of take up during the year, so the figure will change as the year 
progresses. 

9.11 The Central Block has decreased as expected by £18k. However, this has been offset 
slightly by an increase in funding based on pupil number increases. There continues to be 
pressures in the Central Schools DSG due to funding shortfalls. 

9.12 Last year the Council used £310k of core LBB funding to underpin this expenditure. A 
further £50k is being proposed for 2020/21 bringing the total Council core funding to 
£360k. 

9.13 The use of DSG is subject to consultation with the Schools Forum and this also went to the 
Children Education and Families PDS Committee on the 30th January 2020. At the time of 

Page 27



writing this report, this is subject to the formal agreement of the Children, Education, and 
Families Portfolio Holder. 

10. LEVIES

10.1 Miscellaneous levies must be charged to the General Fund and shown as part of 
Bromley’s expenditure on the Council Tax bill. The levy figures in Appendix 2 are 
based on the latest information but many are still provisional. Any changes will be 
reported at the meeting of the Council on 24th February 2020. The London Boroughs 
Grants Committee is required to apportion its levy on a population basis but the other 
levying bodies must use the Council Tax base. 

11 COLLECTION FUND 

11.1 It is a statutory requirement to maintain a Collection Fund at arm’s length from the 
remainder of the Council’s accounts. 

11.2 The Council has a non-recurring collection fund surplus of £7.4m reflected in the ‘2018/19 
Provisional Final Accounts’ report to Executive on 21st May 2019. The surplus income is 
mainly due to good debt recovery levels, an increase in new properties in the borough 
and the successful continuing impact of actions following the data matching exercise on 
single person discounts. The financial impact of the council tax support scheme was also 
lower than budgeted. A sum of £1.5m will be allocated to the GLA and £5.9m to the 
Council. The financial forecast assumes that the surplus will be used towards reducing 
the Council’s “budget gap” in 2022/23, which is an approach previously used to ‘smooth 
out’ future years budget gap. 

11.3 There have been no changes to the council tax base since the previous meeting of 
the Executive. 

12. THE GREATER LONDON AUTHORITY PRECEPT

12.1 The GLA’s 2020/21 Draft Budget has been issued for consultation and is expected to 

13. UTILISATION OF GENERAL RESERVES, COUNCIL’S CAPITAL PROGRAMME
AND BUILDING MAINTENANCE

13.1 The latest estimated general fund (revenue) balance at 31st March 2020, as shown in 
the ‘Budget Monitoring 2019/20’ report to the 27th November 2019 meeting of 
Executive, is provided below: 

be updated to include proposals for an increase of 3.6% in existing GLA precept levels 
for 2020/21, to reflect a recent Home Office settlement for policing providing greater 
flexibility in increasing the precept to fund police services. The final GLA precept for 
2020/21 is expected to be announced after the Assembly has considered the Mayor’s 
draft consolidated budget on 24th February 2020. 

Page 28



2018/19 
Projected 

Outturn 
£Million 

General Fund Balance as at 1st April 2018 20.0 

Impact of net projected underspends reflected in the 
2019/20 budget monitoring report 

+1.6 

Adjustment to Balances:  Carry forwards (funded 
from underspends in 2017/18) 

-0.8 

Estimated General Fund Balance at 31st March 2020 (end 
of year) 

20.8 

13.2 Bromley’s Capital programme is mainly funded by external government grants, 
contributions from TfL and from general capital receipts. Si te G will be funded 
through internal borrowing on the basis that a significant capital receipt will be realised 
at a later date to repay the internal loan. 

13.3 The latest capital programme funding projections indicate that the Capital Programme 
will not require significant levels of funding from the Councils General Fund reserve until 
2024/25. 

13.4 Alongside the introduction of the prudential code for capital spending, the Director of 
Finance is required to report to the council on the appropriateness of the level of 
reserves held by the council and the sustainability of any use of reserves to support 
the revenue budget. The detailed advice is contained in Appendix 4. 

13.5 Details of the Council’s Building Maintenance Programme and associated costs will 
be reported to a future meeting of the Executive. No significant changes in the overall 
cost of the programme have been assumed in the 2020/21 Budget, at this stage. 

14. CONSULTATION

14.1   Two separate resident association meetings were held on 1 8 th November 2019 and 
25th November 2019 relating to ‘Looking to the Future’. The outcome was reported to 
the previous meeting of the Executive.  

14.2 Executive, at its meeting on 15th January 2020, requested that the ‘Draft 2020/21
Budget and Update on Council’s Financial Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/24’ report 
proposals are considered by individual PDS Committees. PDS Committees comments 
relating to the report in January will be circulated separately. Such consideration will 
enable the Executive to take into account those views as part of agreeing its final 
recommendations to the Council meeting on 24th February 2020 where the 2020/21 
Budget and Council Tax will be agreed. 

14.3  The use of DSG is subject to consultation with the Schools Forum and this also went to 
the Children Education and Families PDS Committee on the 30th January 2020. At the 
time of writing this report, this is subject to the formal agreement of the Children, 
Education, and Families Portfolio Holder. 

14.4 Consultation papers have been sent to Bromley Business Focus, Federation of Small 
Businesses (Sevenoaks & Bromley Branch) and the 20 largest business ratepayers in 
the borough. At the time of writing this report no responses have been received. 

Page 29



14.5 Other examples of consultation will include consultation on specific budget proposals. 

15. POSITION BY DEPARTMENT – KEY ISSUES/RISKS

15.1 There remain risks in meeting the ‘budget gap’ arising from budget savings, mitigation 
options to address cost pressures , as well as ongoing cost pressures arising from new 
burdens and the impact of Government policy changes. Action will need to be taken to 
contain,  where  possible these cost pressures, managing the implementation of savings 
or seeking alternative savings where required. The Council’s Corporate Risk Register 
shows that ‘Failure to deliver a sustainable financial strategy  which meets Building a 
Better Bromley priorities and failure of individual departments to meet budget’ is the 
highest risk the Council is facing.   

15.2 Details of the potential risks which will be faced in future years, as part of finalising 
the 2020/21 Budget, were reported to the previous meeting of the Executive. The 
level of balances held and provisions set aside in the central contingency provide 
significant safeguards against any adverse financial pressures. 

16. COUNCIL TAX LEVEL 2020/21

16.1 The updated GLA’s 2020/21 Draft Budget includes proposals for an increase of 
3 .6% in existing GLA precept levels for 2020/21. The final GLA Precept for 2020/21 
is expected to be announced after the Assembly has considered the Mayor’s draft 
consolidated budget on 24th February 2020. 

16.2 The current overall Council Tax (Band D equivalent) includes the “Bromley element” 
relating to the cost of the council’s services and various levies of £1,216.26 in 2019/20 
and a further sum of £320.51  for the GLA precept (providing a total Band D 
equivalent Council Tax of £1,536.77). 

16.3 For 2020/21 every £1m change in income or expenditure causes a 0.6% variation in 
the ‘Bromley element’ of the Council Tax. Each 1% council tax increase generates 
ongoing annual income of £1.6m. 

16.4 As part of the Localism Act, any council tax increase of 2% or above in 2020/21 will 
trigger an automatic referendum of all registered electors in the borough. If the 
registered electors do not, by a majority, support the increase then the Council would 
be required to meet the cost of rebilling of approximately £100k. The one off cost of a 
referendum is estimated to be £700k. 

16.5 The Government has enabled the Council in 2020/21 to have a council tax precept of 
up to 2% per annum to specifically fund adult social care (a 2% increase in council tax 
equates to £3.2m additional income per annum). The Government recognises that the 
precept can also include, for example, funding the additional cost of the Living Wage. 
Councils are able to levy the precept on top of the existing freedom to raise council 
tax by up to 1.99% without holding a referendum. Therefore, the Council could 
potentially have a council tax increase of just below 4 % without the need for a 
council tax referendum. The financial forecast assumes the precept could not 
continue beyond 2020/21. The Council’s ability to raise income through an increase 
in the council tax and the adult social care precept is reflected in the overall level of 
Government funding received by the Council. 

16.6 If the Council chose to agree a Bromley element 3.99% council tax increase, including 

Page 30



the 2% Adult Social Care Precept, and the GLA Precept was increased by 3.6% there 
would be an overall combined council tax increase of around 3.91%. This would equate 
to an overall Council Tax (Band D equivalent) of £1,596.84 consisting of the Bromley 
element of £1,264.77 and GLA precept of £332.07. 

16.7 The table below identifies the changes required to the draft 2020/21 Budget to 
achieve different levels of increases in the Bromley element of the council tax. An 
increase of 3 .99%, including 2% for the Adult Social Care Precept, has been assumed 
in the 2020/21 Draft Budget at this stage. 

Increases in Council Tax Levels 

Bromley Element % Increase in 2020/21 including 
Adult Social Care Precept 

Additional Income 
2020/21 

£’m 
Freeze NIL 

1.0 1.6 
2.0 3.2 
3.0 4.8 

   3.99* 6.4 
 4.99# 8.0 

*Assumed in draft 2020/21 Budget. Adult social care precept of 2% equates to additional
income of £3.2m per annum. #  Would be subject to a council tax referendum

16.8 Any decision on council tax levels will need to be based on a medium term view 
and therefore not only consider the financial impact on 2020/21 but also the longer 
term impact over the four year forecast period. 

16.9 The  Council  Tax  Referendum  Principles  a r e  e x p e c t e d  t o  b e  c o n f i r m e d  a s  
part  of  the  final  Local Government Finance Settlement 2020/21. Any final 
recommendations on council tax levels will need to take into account any changes to 
statutory requirements. 

16.10 Bromley has the second lowest settlement funding per head of population in 2019/20 for 
the whole of London. Despite this, Bromley has retained the third lowest council tax 
in outer London (other low grant funded authorities tend to have higher council tax 
levels). This has been achieved by having one of the lowest costs per head of 
population in outer London. Further details were reported to the previous meeting of the 
Executive. 

16.11 Members are asked to consider the impact of the latest draft budget on the level of 
Council Tax for 2020/21, having regard to all the above factors, including the 
Director of Finance comments in Sections 18.6, 18.7, 18.8 and Appendix 4. 

17. FUNDING SETTLEMENT

17.1 Details of the Council’s representation on the response to the ‘Local Government 
Finance Settlement 2020 to 2021: Technical Consultation’ were reported to the previous 
meeting of the Executive. The Council’s response to the Provisional Local Government 
Finance Settlement 2020/21 is provided in Appendix 5. The Council will continue to 
engage local MPs and Government ministers to secure a better funding deal for the 
Council and its residents. 

17.2 Although the Local Government settlement for 2020/21 represents a significant 
improvement in funding from Government it remains a one year settlement only.  

Page 31



18. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

18.1 Local Government funding arrangements are set to experience their most significant 
reform for over two decades. The outcome of the Fair Funding Review (a revised 
formula for local government funding allocation), the devolution of business rates and 
the Spending Review (provides the plan on how the Government money will be 
allocated across years determining the financial quantum for local authorities) will not 
be known until the autumn 2020.   In addition, there are likely to be transitional 
arrangements that will impact on any ‘winners’ and ‘losers’ amongst Councils.   

18.2 The detailed approach of the Council towards budgeting over the medium to longer term 
was reported to Executive on 15th January 2020 and the Draft 2020/21 Budget and 
future years' forecasts reflect the impact of this approach. 

18.3 With the future funding uncertainty together with ongoing cost/growth pressures, the 
continuation of long term financial planning as part of the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy remains essential to ensure that any future service changes are managed 
effectively. 

18.4 For financial planning purposes, the financial forecast assumes a council tax 
increase of 1.99% per annum over the fo l lowing three years to compensate for 
funding reductions, to meet inflationary costs on social care and provide funding to meet 
increasing social care costs, demographic cost pressures. As part of the Local 
Government Finance Settlement 2020/21, the Government’s reported ‘Spending Power’ 
of local government assumes that Councils will raise alternative funding, to partly 
determine grant calculations, from council tax increases and utilisation of the Adult Social 
Care precept. The financial forecast reflects that approach. 

18.5 The Budget Strategy has to be set within the context of a reducing resource base, 
with Government funding reductions likely to continue beyond 2020 – the on-going 
need to reduce the size and shape of the organisation to secure priority outcomes 
within the resources available. There is also a need to build in flexibility in identifying 
options to bridge the budget gap as the gap could increase further. The overall updated 
strategy has to be set in the context of the national state of public finances, 
recognising that local authorities funding from Government remains ‘unprotected’ 
compared with NHS and other ‘protected’ services.    It is therefore likely that, even if 
funding levels are maintained, the ongoing demographic and other cost pressures are 
unlikely to be matched by corresponding increases in government funding.  

18.6 The Council has had to take significant action to reduce the cost base while 
protecting priority front line services and providing sustainable longer term solutions. 
Council Tax has been kept low compared with other Councils. A combination of front 
loading of savings in previous years, pro-actively generating investment income and 
prudent financial management together with an improved f inancial sett lement 
have provided an opportunity to provide a balanced budget for next year. To illustrate 
the benefit of the investment approach the Council has undertaken, budgeted 
income totaling £14.9m from a combination of treasury management income (£3.6m) 
and rents from investment and operational properties (£11.3m) is expected to be 
realised. Without this income, equivalent service reductions may be required. 
Utilisation of the remaining uncommitted Growth and Investment Fund monies will 
continue to be prioritised for housing investment, at this stage, given the need to 
reduce the significant cost pressures on homelessness and the opportunities for 
invest to save. The Council will continue to explore using low cost treasury 

Page 32



management monies to support future joint venture opportunities with the aim to 
generate investment returns over a 3 to 5 year period. This could include, for example, 
funding of joint venture opportunities to support land disposal/key investments. The 
Council has already undertaken secure lending to a developer which generates interest 
income of 6% per annum and also supports a homelessness initiative. The Council 
remains debt free and has resources to encourage and invest in innovation and new 
types of investment for the future. 

18.7 The background to the impact of real reductions in government funding within the 
local authority landscape was reported to the last meeting of the Executive. Bromley has 
delivered savings of over £100m since 2011 and has a low cost base which makes 
further savings more challenging. C h a n g e s  i n  Government funding are not expected 
to meet future year cost pressures and new burdens w h i c h  w i l l  continue over 
the next four years. CIPFA have provided advice to local authorities on the financial 
stress warning signs: 

• Running down reserves – a rapid decline of reserves;
• A failure to plan and deliver savings in service provision to ensure a council

lives within its resources; 
• Shortening medium-term financial planning horizons – perhaps from four to

three years to two years or even one year – this would indicate lack of 
strategic thinking and unwillingness to confront tough decisions; 

• Greater ‘still to be found’ gaps in saving plans – identifying savings for the
next financial year only and not beyond; 

• Growing tendency for departments to have unplanned overspends and/or
carrying forward undelivered savings in the following year. 

18.8 The Council is ‘better placed’ than many other authorities due to remaining debt free , 
has retained adequate level of reserves and maintained adequate provisions in the 
Council’s revenue budget for unforeseen costs and risks. The Council has 
maintained four year financial planning despite the future funding uncertainty 
(awaited Spending Review, Fair Funding review and devolution of business rates from 
2021/22) and it remains essential that action is taken to address any in year 
overspends, recognising that there could be a full year impact which could increase the 
‘budget gap’ further. Continuing the One Council Transformation approach as reported 
to the previous meeting of the Executive,  as well as minimising cost/growth pressures 
are essential to identify options from 2021/22 to address the medium term budget gap 
and ensure the Council can continue to ‘live within its means’. It also remains 
essential that Chief Officers identify mitigating action to address any in year cost 
pressures/new burdens to remain within their ‘cash envelope’. Commentary on the 
level of reserves and robustness of the 2020/21 Budget are provided in Appendix 4. 

18.9 Stewardship and delivering sustainable finances are increasingly important whilst 
cost pressures and the Government’s fiscal squeeze continues. The strategy needs to 
remain flexible and the Council’s reserves resilient to respond to the impact of 
volatile external events and the structural budget deficit. 

19. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS WITH CHILDREN

19.1 The Draft 2020/21 Budget reflects the Council’s key priorities which includes, for 
example, supporting vulnerable adults with children and being ambitious for all our 
children and young people. 

Page 33



20. POLICY IMPLICATIONS

20.1 The Draft 2020/21 Budget enables the Council to continue to deliver on its key priorities 
and the financial forecast enables medium term financial planning allowing for early 
decisions to be made which impact on the medium term financial plan. The Council 
continues to deliver key services and lives within its means.  

21. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS

21.1 Staff, departmental and trade union representatives will be consulted individually and 
collectively on any adverse staffing implications arising from the Draft 2020/21 
Budget. Managers have also been asked to encourage and facilitate staff involvement 
in budget and service planning. 

22. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

22.1 The Council is required to fix its Council Tax by the 11th March in any year. The 
Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 and the Local 
Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended) deal, 
amongst other things, with the process of approving the budget. Under these 
provisions and the constitution, the adoption of the budget and the setting of the council 
tax are matters reserved for the Council upon recommendation from the Executive. 
Sections 31A and 31B to the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended by 
sections 73-79 of the Localism Act 2011) set out the way in which a billing authority 
calculates its budget requirement and basic amount of Council Tax. The main change 
being replacing the need to calculate a budget requirement for a financial year with the 
obligation to calculate a Council tax requirement. These calculations are required to be 
presented to and be subject to formal resolution by the Council. 

22.2 Schedule 5 to the Localism Act 2011 inserted a new section 52ZB in the 1992 Act 
which sets out the duty on billing authorities, and precepting authorities to each 
determine whether their relevant basic amount of council tax for a financial year is 
excessive. If an authority’s relevant basic amount of council tax is excessive, the 
provisions in relation to the duty to hold a referendum will apply (see Section 16 of the 
Report). This replaced the previous power of the Secretary of State to “cap” local 
Authority budgets. 

22.3 The introduction of the Education Act 2005 has changed the procedure for the setting 
of schools budgets. The Act has introduced the concept of a funding period, which 
allows for the introduction of multiple year budgets rather than the setting of financial year 
budgets. 

22.4 The Schools Finance (England) Regulations 2005 introduced under the provisions of the 
new Section 45AA of  the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, place a 
requirement  on the LEA to determine schools budgets by the 31st March. Notice of a 
schools determination must be given to maintained schools governing bodies. Contained 
within the regulations is a designated procedure that allows the LEA to predetermine 
schools  budget  and  the  individual  schools  budget.  There is also a provision allowing 
amendment to the determination, but any reduction in budget can only be proportionate to 
any reduction in the dedicated schools grant that has been received. 

22.5 The making of these budget decisions is a statutory responsibility for all Members. Section 
106 of the Finance act 1992 provides that Members who are present and who are 2 
months or more in arrears with their Council Tax must declare this to this meeting and 

Page 34



the budget meeting and not vote on budget recommendations. 

22.6 The Local Government Act 2003 included new requirements to be followed by local 
authorities, which includes the CIPFA Prudential Code. This includes obligations, which 
includes ensuring the adequacy of future years' reserves in making budget decisions. 

22.7 In setting the proposed budget, due regard has been necessary to relevant considerations 
including equality, human rights, proportionality, reasonableness, need to maintain our 
statutory obligations, legitimate expectation and the Council's priorities The Public Sector 
Equality Duty, at section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, requires public bodies such as the 
Local Authority to consider all individuals when carrying out their day to day work – in 
shaping policy, in delivering services and in relation to their own employees. It requires 
public bodies to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality 
of opportunity, and foster good relations between different people when carrying out their 
activities. The Act covers discrimination because of a ‘protected characteristic’ which 
includes age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

22.8  In fulfilling our equalities duty, and in particular the specific equalities duty, regard has 
been had to the impact of budget proposals and savings options on those with ‘protected 
characteristics’ including the potential for cumulative impact on some groups from 
separate work streams arising from this budget. As part of the budget setting process 
where appropriate impact assessments have been performed at service level where 
service managers and frontline staff will be involved in implementing the changes and 
fully understand the customer base and likely impact on them. Where any proposals are 
found to have a disproportionate impact on a particular group, the Council will consider 
what actions can be taken to avoid or mitigate the impact. 

22.9 In some instances detailed analysis will be undertaken after the budget has been set but 
before a policy arising from the budget is implemented. In these instances the council will 
comply with its legal obligations including those relating to equalities and consultation and 
if a proposal is deemed to be unsustainable after such detailed work or where a 
disproportionate impact on a protected group is identified consideration will be given to 
any necessary mitigation, rephrasing or substitution of the proposed service changes. 

Page 35



Background 
documents 

Treasury Management – Annual Investment Strategy 2020/21 and 
Quarter 3 Performance 2019/20,  Executive, Resources and Contracts 
PDS Committee and Council, 5th February 2020 and 24th February 
2020 

Capital Programme Monitoring Q3 2019/20 and Capital Strategy 
2020 to 2024, Executive and Council, 12 th  February 2020 and 
24th February 2020 

Draft 2020/21 Budget and Update on Council’s Financial 
Strategy 2021/22 to 2023/24, Executive, 15th January 
2020 

Budget Monitoring 2019/20, Executive, 27th November 
2019 

Insurance Fund – Annual Report 2018/19,  Executive, Resources and 
Contracts PDS Committee, 9th October 2019 

2018/19 Provisional Final Accounts. Executive, 21st May 2019 

2018/19 Council Tax, Executive, 13th February 2019 

Financial 
Considerations Covered within overall report 

Page 36



DRAFT 2020/21 BUDGET AND FINANCIAL FORECAST 2021/22 TO  2023/24 APPENDIX 1
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Bromley's Budget Requirement in 2019/20 (before funding from 200,242 200,242 200,242 200,242 200,242
  Formula Grant) @
Formula Grant and Business Rate Share -40,391 -40,391 -40,391 -40,391 -40,391

159,851 159,851 159,851 159,851 159,851

Changes in Government Core Funding  -616 3,000 6,000 9,000

Cost pressures
Increased costs (2.3% per annum in 2020/21, 2.5% per annum from 2021/22) 6,231 12,909 19,759 26,787

6,231 12,909 19,759 26,787
Reinstatement of highways maintenance (previously capitalised) 2,500 2,500

Total additional costs 6,231 12,909 22,259 29,287
Income/Savings
Interest on balances -300 -200 -200 -200
Release general provision in contingency for significant uncertainty/variables -4,251 -6,000 -8,000 -8,000
Savings from children's social care linked to invest to save funding -500 -750 -750 -750
Review of staffing across organisation -900 -900 -900 -900
Impact of fully funded pension scheme - deficit contribution no longer required -2,100 -2,100 -2,100 -2,100
Adult social care and children's social care grant -4,216 -4,216 -4,216 -4,216
Additional high needs funding requiring no general fund contribution -3,187 -4,535 -5,235 -4,319
Transformation Savings (based on commitments/approvals already made) -4,096 -5,621 -5,885 -6,070 

-19,550 -24,322 -27,286 -26,555
Other changes
Fall out of Collection Fund surplus 2017/18 set aside as one off support 
towards meeting the funding shortfall in 2019/20 6,753 6,753 6,753 6,753
Fall out of New Homes Bonus funding 919 1,860 2,280 2,531
Fall out of one off business rate levy 581 581 581 581
Fall out of London pilot of business rates 2,200 2,200 2,200 2,200
Estimated impact of McCloud judgement on pension costs 400 400 400 400
Set aside of New Homes Bonus Funding for housing investment  1,612 671 251 0
Continuation of iBCF funding originally due to fall out in 2020/21 -1,677 0 0 0
Set aside of iBCF funding to support hospital discharge impact on social care costs 1,677 0 0 0
Carbon Neutral Initiatives Fund 875 0 0 0
Education Funding Risk Reserve 500 500 500 500
Real Changes and other Variations -717 -676 174 -269

13,123 12,289 13,139 12,696

Council Tax
Assumed increase in council tax base number of properties -750 -1,500 -2,250 -3,000

Growth/Cost Pressures including mitigation 
Adults and Children Social Care, Education and Housing 
 - Education 1,452 3,158 4,409 5,113
 - Children's Social Care  1,135 1,477 1,773 1,784
 - Adults Social Care 4,405 6,956 8,126 9,329
 - Health support to schools (funded by cash limiting Public Health 0 0 0 0
 - Housing 239 -136 -3,194 -3,485
Reduction in investment property income 713 616 853 1,055
Total growth/cost pressures 7,944 12,071 11,967 13,796 
Budget Requirement 166,233 174,298 183,680 195,075

2019/20 Council Tax Income -159,851 -159,851 -159,851 -159,851 -159,851
Increase in council tax (assume 1.99% per annum) -3,182 -6,425 -9,734 -13,109
ASC Precept @2% -3,200 -3,200 -3,200 -3,200 
Budget Gap before use of  collection fund surplus 0 4,822 10,895 18,915
Collection Fund surplus 2018/19 -5,900
Collection fund set aside to meet future years budget gap 5,900 -5,900
Projection of future years collection fund surplus 0 -4,000 -3,000 -2,000
Revised Budget Gap after allowing for growth/cost pressures
 and draft savings identified 0 822 1,995 16,915
1) The above forecast assumes a council tax increase of 1.99% per annum for the four year period and an adult social care precept increase of 2%

in 2020/21 only
2) The Draft 2020/21 Budget includes investment income of £14.9m consisting of interest on balances (£3.6m) and investment property income (£11.3m)

Page 37



Appendix 2

SUMMARY OF DRAFT 2020/21 REVENUE BUDGET - PORTFOLIO

2019/20 Portfolio/Item 2020/21 2020/21
Final Draft Band "D"

Budget Budget Equivalent
£'000 £'000 £

84,176 Education 85,785 649.76
76,722Cr   Less costs funded through Dedicated Schools Grant 79,506Cr   602.20Cr       

7,454 Sub total 6,279 47.56

37,304 Childrens Social Care 35,735 270.67
69,424 Adult Care and Health 71,700 543.08
31,295 Environment & Community Services Portfolio 31,086 235.45

2,447 Public Protection and Enforcement 2,403 18.20
16,015 Renewal, Recreation and Housing 14,805 112.14
31,764 Resources, Commissioning & Contracts Management 31,631 239.58

3,986 Non Distributed Costs & Corporate & Democratic Core 1,870 14.16

199,689 Total Controllable Budgets 195,509 1,480.84

11,768 Total Non Controllable Budgets 9,341 70.75
792Cr   Total Excluded Recharges 853Cr   6.46Cr   

210,665 Portfolio Total 203,997 1,545.13

10,265Cr    7,794Cr 59.03Cr   
3,291Cr   3,591Cr   27.20Cr   

-  875 6.63
-  1,612 12.21
-  5,900 44.69

11,155 12,622 95.60

Reversal of Net Capital Charges
Interest on General Fund Balances
Contribution to Carbon Neutral Initiatives Fund 
Contribution to Utilisation of New Homes Bonus for Housing 
Utilisation of Prior Year Collection Fund Surplus/Set Aside 
Central Contingency Sum

Levies
452  - London Pensions Fund Authority* 470 3.56
249  - London Boroughs Grants Committee 248 1.88
249  - Environment Agency * 258 1.95
312  - Lee Valley Regional Park *       324 2.45

209,526 Sub Total 214,921 1,627.87

39,810Cr   Business Rate Retention  40,426Cr 306.20Cr       
581Cr   Business Rate Levy -  0.00

6,753Cr   Collection Fund Surplus 5,900Cr   44.69Cr   
2,531Cr   New Homes Bonus  1,612Cr 12.21Cr   

159,851 Bromley's Requirement (excluding GLA) 166,983 1,264.77
* Final allocations awaited
** There may be further amendments to reflect any changes to the Portfolio structure for 2020/21

Page 38



 Appendix 3
 

                                    2020/21 CENTRAL CONTINGENCY SUM £'000
 

General 
Provision for Unallocated Inflation 4,059           
General provision for risk/uncertainty 2,431           
Provision for risk/uncertainty relating to volume and cost pressure 2,182           
Increase in Cost of homelessness/impact of welfare reforms 1,825           
Universal credit roll out - impact on claimant fault overpayment recoveries 750              
Tackling Troubled Families Grant Income 628Cr           
Tackling Troubled Families Grant Expenditure 628              
Growth for Waste services 587              
Homeless Prevention funding 424Cr           
Set aside for Homeless Prevention Initiatives 424              
Estimated Impact of McCloud Judgement 400              
Adult Social Care Expenditure 210              
Deprivation of Liberty 118              
Rough Sleeping Initiative Grant Income 104Cr           
Rough Sleeping Initiative Grant Expenditure 104              
Planning appeals - changes in legislation 60                

12,622         

There will be further changes to the Central Contingency to reflect allocations to individual 
Portfolio budgets prior to publication of the Financial Control Budget.

Page 39



Appendix 4 

LEVEL AND USE OF RESERVES AND ROBUSTNESS OF THE 2019/20 BUDGET 

1. Background

With the introduction of the prudential approach to capital investment, Chief Financial Officers 
in local authorities are required to have full regard to affordability when making 
recommendations about the local authority’s future capital programme. Such consideration 
includes the level of long-term revenue commitments. In considering the affordability of its 
capital plans, councils are required to consider all of the resources available to it/estimated 
for the future, together with the totality of its capital plans and revenue forecasts for the 
forthcoming year and the following two years. This requires clear and objective attention to 
the levels and application of the Council’s balances and reserves. The level of balances and 
reserves needs to be adequate to ensure that the longer term stewardship of the Council’s 
finances remains effective and the Council maintains ‘sustainable’ finances in the medium 
term. Medium term planning becomes absolutely key in recognition of the ongoing 
“structural” budget deficit facing the Council. 

2. General Reserves

2.1. Bromley has estimated general reserves of £20.8 million as at 31st March 2020 (as reported 
to Executive on 27th November 2019), as well as earmarked reserves (Section 3). Key to any 
financial strategy is the retention of sufficient reserves (including earmarked reserves) for 
the following reasons: 

(a) To provide some contingency reflecting the financial risks facing the Council, the 
scale of budget reductions and associated impact, the need to manage effectively 
action to reduce the longer term ‘budget gap’ and recent government changes which 
include the transfer of risks from central to local government provides significant new 
risks for longer term planning purposes; 

(b) To provide alternative one off funding to offset the impact of any overall large 
overspends facing the Council; 

(c) To provide adequate resources for spend to save initiatives which, following 
investment, can provide real longer term financial and service benefits; 

(d) To provide support in financing the capital programme, particularly to assist in funding 
key initiatives; 

(e) To provide financial support (income) to the revenue budget through interest 
earnings, which will reduce as balances are gradually reduced; 

(f) To utilise short term monies available from any ‘front loading’ of savings to assist in 
managing the key risks facing the Council and fund key initiatives preventing the 
further deterioration in the ‘sustainability’ of the Council’s finances; 

(g) To provide investment to seek a long term alternative to current income streams; 
(h) To provide funding (e.g. severance costs) to enable the release of longer term ongoing 

savings; 
(i) To set aside income available, that does not provide a permanent income stream, 

towards one off investment in the community for schemes that meet the Council’s 
priorities; 

(j) To buy time to identify further savings needed whilst avoiding ‘knee jerk’ actions to 
deal with future budget deficits; 

(k) To assist the Council to achieve as much stability as possible for both longer term 
service delivery and planning the moving of resources to areas of agreed priority. 

Page 40



2.2 In order to assess the adequacy of unallocated  general  and  earmarked  reserves 
when setting the budget, account must be taken of the strategic, operational and 
financial risks facing the authority. This is an important aspect of Bromley’s approach to 
risk management. An ‘Annual Governance Statement’ signed by  the  Chief  Executive 
and the Leader of the Council covers, for example, the processes to fully underpin the 
Council’s system of internal control. 

2.3 Setting the level of reserves is just one of several related decisions in the formulation of 
the medium term financial strategy and the budget for a particular year. Account needs 
to be taken of the key financial assumptions underpinning the budget alongside a 
consideration of the authority’s financial management arrangements. 

2.4 Bromley’s reserves had reduced from £131m to £54m (general reserves) between 1997 and 
2011. The Council had previously agreed to set aside part of these reserves towards an 
Invest to Save Fund and to fund the Growth Fund and Investment Fund. The latest 
projected level of general reserves remaining is £20.8m. 

2.5 The most significant gain to balances was following the housing transfer to Broomleigh in 
1992 (now part of Clarion). Opportunities to generate additional capital resources and 
reserves through disposal of surplus assets should continue to be vigorously pursued, 
however, there are unlikely to be opportunities to again generate the very substantial level of 
reserves held in the past. 

2.6 Latest projections in the capital programme indicate that there will be no requirement to fund 
capital expenditure from revenue balances over the next four years which should enable the 
current level of balances to be retained. This position depends on the cost of any future 
proposed scheme not currently included in the capital programme and is also affected by the 
Council’s ability to realise future sales/disposals to generate capital receipts to avoid seeking 
funding from the Council’s revenue budget or reserves. 

2.7 If the existing general reserves are released now to fund continuing service initiatives and/or 
significantly reduce council tax then there would be a resultant ‘opportunity cost’ relating to 
the corresponding loss in interest earnings and depletion of reserves which is not 
recommended by the Director of Finance, particularly at this time of financial uncertainty. 
Funding for any increases in service levels would only be in the short term. If the reserves 
were used to just balance the budget they would be fully spent in the next few years resulting 
in greater budget cuts in the future. Using this money to fund services is not a sustainable 
approach as these reserves are not budgets that are renewed every year. Similar to a 
savings account – once it is spent, it is gone. Retaining a significant level of reserves 
provides a major opportunity to fund any transformation/spend to save programmes in future 
years, as well as provide an ongoing source of significant revenue income to the Council. It 
becomes increasingly more critical with the future devolution of business rates and 
associated risks (e.g. future recession) and the organisation moving to become more ‘self- 
sufficient’. 

2.8 Executive previously agreed that the following principles be applied to determining the use 
of reserves: 
(a) As a prudent working balance, the Director of Finance continues to recommend 

subsequently reviewed the minimum level of general reserves and recommended 
a minimum sum of £20m to reflect the significant financial uncertainty facing the 
Council and the need to address the ongoing ‘budget gap’ with higher amounts 
being retained for specific purposes; 

Page 41



(b) Any support for the  capital programme to be  focused  on  areas  that  can 
generate business efficiencies and maintain and enhance the Council’s core 
infrastructure. The programme should be driven by the Council’s asset management 
plan, which in turn should be derived from the key priorities of the Council; 

(c) Any support for the revenue budget  will  need  to  be  modest  and  sustainable  in 
the medium term and the impact of any withdrawal built into future financial plans. 
From 2008/09, Members agreed to eliminate the continuing use of reserves to 
support the revenue budget; 

(d) The Council has limited scope to utilise general fund reserves for capital spending 
in excess of the current capital programme and will need to continue to progress 
a programme of asset disposals. Given the substantial pressures on the revenue 
position of the council it would be sensible to focus the spending of general reserves 
in excess of the basic level on investments to increase the efficiency of the 
Council, provide income and reduce the cost base. 

2.9  Balancing  the  annual  budget  by  drawing  on  general  reserves  is  a  legitimate  short- 
term  option. However, where reserves are  t o  be  deployed to finance recurrent 
expenditure  this needs  to  be  explicitly considered including  the  sustainability  of this 
measure over the lifetime of the medium term financial plan. 

2.10 In the context of Bromley’s current financial position options need to  be  explored  to 
ensure that the recommended minimum sum of general reserves are retained to provide 
adequate flexibility during the financial forecast period. However, the important issue to 
consider is planning the future use of reserves in the context of the authority’s medium 
term financial plan and not to focus exclusively on short-term considerations. 

Page 42



3. Earmarked Reserves

3.1 As part of developing a medium term financial plan and preparing the annual budget 
Members need to consider the appropriate use of reserves for specific purposes and the 
levels at which these should be set. Further details on the utilisation of earmarked reserves 
together with general reserves are provided in section 2.1. The current specific (earmarked) 
reserves and their estimated uses are: 

Description 

B
al

an
ce

 a
t 

01
/0

4/
19

 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
N

et
 

M
ov

em
en

t 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
B

al
an

ce
 a

t 
31

/0
3/

20
 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
M

ov
em

en
t 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
B

al
an

ce
 a

t 
31

/0
3/

21
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
EARMARKED BALANCES 
LPSA/LAA Reward Grant Investment Fund 231 0 231 -75 156 
Technology Fund 5,044 73 5,117 51 5,168 
Town Centre Improvement Fund (LABGI) 55 0 55 0 55 
Transformation Fund 2,208 -334 1,874 -700 1,174 
Investment to Community (Resources) 372 -17 355 0 355 
Works to Property 100 0 100 0 100 
Planning Services Charging Account 166 -103 63 0 63 
Government Grants (c/fwd from previous years) 6,845 -2,346 4,499 -2,898 1,601 
Invest to Save Fund 17,084 975 18,059 670 18,729 
One off Member Initiatives 891 -298 593 0 593 
Infrastructure Investment Fund 1,690 -370 1,320 -249 1,071 
Commissioning Authority Programme 365 0 365 0 365 
Health & Social Care Initiatives – Promise 
Programme 3,953 0 3,953 -2,000 1,953 

Housing Strategy Trading Account 25 0 25 0 25 
Community Right to Bid & Challenge 46 0 46 0 46 
Investment Fund 6,050 0 6,050 -6,050 0 
Winter Pressures Reserve 2,010 0 2,010 0 2,010 
Refurbishment of War Memorials 13 0 13 0 13 
Key Health & Social Care Initiatives 1,700 0 1,700 0 1,700 
Integration of Health & Social Care Initiatives 1,614 0 1,614 0 1,614 
Collection Fund Surplus Set Aside 19,166 0 19,166 5,900 25,066 
Healthy Bromley Fund 3,815 0 3,815 0 3,815 
Glaxo Wellcome Endowment 132 -21 111 -7 104 
Cheyne woods & Cyphers Gate 143 -1 142 -1 141 
Public Halls Fund 7 0 7 0 7 
Future Repairs of High Street Properties 55 12 67 12 79 
Parallel Fund 2,903 0 2,903 0 2,903 
Growth Fund 21,092 -2,326 18,766 -57 18,709 
Health & Social Care Integrated Commissioning 
Fund 5,550 -2,000 3,550 0 3,550 

Financial Planning & Risk Reserve 10,000 0 10,000 0 10,000 
Bromley Welfare Fund 749 -214 535 -215 320 
Payment in Lieu Reserve for Temporary 
Accommodation 149 27 176 27 203 

Business Rate Risk Reserve 4,200 0 4,200 0 4,200 
Sub Total B/fwd 118,423 -6,943 111,480 -5,592 105,888 

Page 43



Description 

B
al

an
ce

 a
t 

01
/0

4/
19

 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
N

et
 

M
ov

em
en

t 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
B

al
an

ce
 a

t 
31

/0
3/

20
 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
M

ov
em

en
t 

Es
tim

at
ed

 
B

al
an

ce
 a

t 
31

/0
3/

21
 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Sub Total C/fwd 118,423 -6,943 111,480 -5,592 105,888 
Crystal Palace Park Improvements 26 -26 0 0 0 
Various Joint Schemes and Pump Priming 
Investments 3,375 -1,781 1,594 -304 1,290 

Transition Fund 2,560 0 2,560 0 2,560 
Environmental Initiatives 467 -30 437 0 437 
Planning/Planning Enforcement 197 -197 0 0 0 
Apprenticeship Scheme 200 -55 145 -62 83 
Civic Centre Development Strategy 457 -49 408 -306 102 
Future Professional Advice for Commissioning 147 0 147 0 147 
Utilisation of New Homes Bonus 2,256 0 2,256 0 2,256 
Future Pensions Risk on Outsourcing 550 170 720 173 893 
West Wickham Leisure Centre & Library 
Development 993 -993 0 0 0 

Income Equalisation Reserve 2,594 0 2,594 0 2,594 
Capital Funding for Property Disposal/Feasibility 
Works 79 -79 0 0 0 

Biggin Hill Airport Project 124 -15 109 -15 94 
Transformation Programme 500 0 500 -85 415 
Housing Investment Fund 7,500 -500 7,000 -7,000 0 
High Street & Parks Improvement Fund 115 0 115 0 115 
Contribution to YES Funding for 2019/20 130 -130 0 0 0 
Day Centre Rent Relief 76 -76 0 0 0 
Housing Invest to Save 3,409 0 3,409 0 3,409 
Sub Total 144,178 -10,704 133,474 -13,191 120,283 
PROVISIONS 
Insurance Fund 3,984 30 4014 30 4044 
OTHER 
School Budget Share Funds 1,757 -116 1641 0 1641 
Total Reserves 149,919 -10,790 139,129 -13,161 125,968 
New Reserves Subject to Final Approval 
Provision for Education Risk Reserve 0 0 0 500 500 
IBCF Hospital Discharge Funding Reserve 0 0 0 1,677 1677 
Carbon Neutral Initiatives 0 0 0 875 875 
New Homes Bonus funding for Housing Investment 0 0 0 1,612 1612 
Total Estimated Reserves 149,919 -10,790 139,129 -8,497 130,632 

3.2 The report highlights the ongoing ‘budget gap’ (see 5.1 of main report) which results in the 
Council, on an ongoing basis, having a “structural deficit”. To respond to this, Members have 
agreed over the last few years to create new earmarked reserves to support longer term 
investment and provide a more sustainable longer term financial position. This  includes 
setting aside resources to support the Council’s future transformation programmes (invest to 
save), support acquisition of investment properties to generate sustainable income and the 
growth fund to support economic development and employment within the borough whilst 
generating income opportunities. Further opportunities will be explored to provide invest to 
save to mitigate against the significant cost pressure of homelessness. These measures are 
important to provide sustainable solutions in the longer term. 

Page 44



3.3     A summary of other significant areas are: 

• School  Balances  -  these  are  unspent  balances  of  budgets  delegated  to  individual
schools and these are legally only available to schools.

• Insurance Reserves – self-insurance is a mechanism used by a number of local
authorities including Bromley. In the absence of any other statutory basis, sums held to
meet potential and contingent liabilities are reported as earmarked reserves or
provisions.

• Technology Fund - this represents IT budgets that have been put into a reserve in
previous years to allow projects to be carried out across the boundaries of financial
years and the utilisation of this will become increasingly important over the next few
years.

• Health and Social Care (various) – there are monies set aside as part of a Section 256
agreement with Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group for the funding of future
transformation/integration of health and social care and to contribute towards the
financial sustainability of Bromley CCG.

3.4 In addition there is the pensions reserve – this is a specific accounting mechanism used to 
reconcile the payments made for the year to various statutory pension schemes in 
accordance with those schemes’ requirements and the net change in the authority’s 
recognised liability under IAS19 – employee benefits, for the same period. An appropriation 
is made to or from the pensions reserve to ensure that the bottom line in the income and 
expenditure account reflects the amount required to be raised in taxation. This effectively 
prevents any deficit on the pension fund needing to be made good from taxation in one 
year. 

3.5 The outcome of the actuarial valuation as at 31/3/19 was reported to Pensions Investment 
Sub Committee on 30st January 2020 and General Purposes and Licensing Committee on 
11th February 2020. The Council’s pension fund is now fully funded. The triennial actuarial 
valuation impacts on the budget from 2020/21 to 2022/23. The Council has received national 
awards recognising the outstanding investment performance of its pension fund. 

 4  Budget Assumptions 

4.1 Treatment of Inflation and Interest Rates 

4.1.1 Despite the previous increase in the Bank of England base rate from 0.50% to 0.75%, there 
had been very little impact on interest income from lending to banks. This is partly due 
to banks continuing to have access to lending from central government at very low rates as 
well as the strengthening of ‘balance sheets’ reducing the need to borrow. In addition, the 
utilisation of the investment and growth fund as well as the Highways Investment Fund, have 
reduced the resources available for treasury management investment. However, the 
treasury management strategy had previously been revised to enable alternative 
investments o f  £100m which will generate additional income of around £2m compared 
with lending to banks. The contribution of higher risk and longer term investments within 
Treasury Management have contributed towards the Council being in the top decile 
performance (top 10%) against the local authority benchmark group. Further details are 
included in the ‘Treasury Management – Annual Investment Strategy 2020/21 and Quarter 
3 Performance 2019/20’ report to Executive, Resources and Contracts PDS Committee on 5 t h 
February 2020. 

4.1.2  A general allowance of 2.3% per annum has been built into the Draft 2020/21 Budget and 
financial forecast with an assumed 2.5% in future years. 

Page 45



   4.1.3  The 2020/21 Budget includes an across the board pay increase of 2.5% for Council 
staff with additional changes for staff on lower scale points (inclusive of the 2.5%), as 
announced   by the   Portfolio Holder   for   Resources, Commissioning and  Contract 
Management at the last meeting of Executive.  Further details are being  reported  to General 
Purposes and Licensing Committee on 11th February 2020. 

4.2 Level and Timing of Capital Receipts 

4.2.1  Details of the level and timing of capital receipts are included in the ‘Capital Programme 
Monitoring Q3 2019/20 and Capital Strategy 2020 to 2024’ report elsewhere on the agenda. 

 4.3     Budget and Financial Management and ‘Demand Led’ Budgets 

4.3.1 Bromley has for many years operated multiyear budget planning. The need to meet budget 
savings has reduced the frequency of budget monitoring. The budget has been 
prepared to reflect commissioning plans of service areas but also recognising the 
need to identify mitigation action, where possible, recognising the ‘budget gap’ for 
the Council. 

4.3.2 The major demand led services that currently affect Bromley's budget are homelessness, 
education (high needs), adults and children’s social care. Cost/growth pressures impacting 
on education, housing, adults and children’s social care have been quantified together with 
the mitigation of costs which have been reflected in the Draft 2020/21 Budget and financial 
forecast which are summarised below with more details reported to the previous meeting of 
Executive: 

2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

Growth/cost pressures 12,302
 

19,282 24,488
 

29,593
 Mitigation -5,071 -7,827 -13,374 -16,852 

Net additional costs 7,231 11,455 11,114 12,741
 

4.3.3  It remains essential that there is the ongoing scrutiny and review of growth/cost pressures, 
with options to help achieve a balanced budget, including any mitigation over the 
financial forecast period. 

4.3.4 The draft 2020/21 Budget includes reasonable estimates of likely changes in activity in 
the next financial year. It is important that Chief Officers identify mitigating action to 
address any in year cost pressures or other mitigation savings not realised to remain 
within their ‘cash envelope’. 

4.4     Financial Standing of the Authority 

4.4.1   Long-term Council Tax collection rates have been consistently high at around 98/99%. 
Other external debt collection is also high. There are plans to continue to improve 
the recovery  of  income  across  service  areas.  Any  improvement  will  serve  to  
improve  the Council's overall financial position. As a debt free authority, Bromley has 
relatively limited exposure  to  interest  rate  movements  and  changes  in  interest  
earnings  on  external investments  have  been  reflected  in  the  budget  based  upon  
likely use  of  reserves  and current interest rates. 

4.5     Financial Information and Reporting 

Page 46



4.5.1  The arrangements for finance staff to report to the Director of Finance, in place since April 
2002, have produced far greater clarity of roles and responsibilities. The Council will need to 
continue with a rolling service review process to be able to generate savings as part of 
future  years'  budgets.  The  main  issue  remaining  is  to  ensure  that  service  managers 
continue to develop even greater ownership of their budgets and have more sophisticated 
activity and performance information on the service which they are providing. Any 
overspending should require compensating savings to be identified. 

4.5.2 The Council will need to continue w i t h  t h e  T r a n s f o r m a t i o n  P r o g r a m m e  
addressing budget pressures and identifying saving options (details reported to last meeting 
of the Executive), as well providing many positive transformational benefits. 

4.6 Virement Procedures 

4.6.1 Currently, Bromley does not routinely allow the carry forward of under-spending (and 
overspending) by service departments as part of its year-end procedures. The Director of 
Finance remains satisfied however, that the current virement rules allow sufficient flexibility 
within the year for officers/Members to manage the budget to enable them to contain 
overspending within overall budgets. 

4.7 Risk areas 

4.7.1 Details were reported to the previous meeting of the Executive. 

4.8 Link with other plans/strategies 

4.8.1  A budget is a service plan/strategy expressed in financial terms and there will be linkages 
with other strategies and plans across the Council. The proposed budget also takes into 
account the outcomes of the Public Sector Equality Duty on the Council’s proposals (see 
legal considerations of main report). 

4.9 Insurance Fund 

4.9.1 The insurance fund is protected by the existence of external catastrophe insurance, which 
meets large claims. There is a significant financial stop loss that prevents the council from 
having to meet losses in excess of this amount on liability claims in any one year. The 
‘Insurance Fund – Annual Report 2018/19’, considered by the Resources, Commissioning 
and Contracts Management Portfolio Holder at the meeting of the Executive and Resources 
PDS Committee on 9th October 2019, gives more background information. 

4.10 Funds and the adequacy of provisions 

4.10.1 As is discussed above, the Council has both general and earmarked reserves and 
continues to take a prudent approach to limiting the scope of future year’s capital expenditure 
and other commitments. It is essential that an adequate level of reserves is maintained to 
reflect the impact of the future years budget gap of £16.9m by 2023/24, ‘balance sheet’ 
liabilities combined with the ongoing cost/growth pressures facing the Council. The “budget 
gap” may increase or reduce as a result of a number of variables in future years. Bad debt 
provisions are reviewed each year as part of the closure of accounts and are subject to 
audit by the council’s external auditors. 

4.10.2 The scale of the medium term “budget gap”, coupled with the significant financial 
uncertainty arising from the review of local government finance makes it important to maintain 
an adequate level of reserves to ensure the Council has sufficient resilience, flexibility 

Page 47



and stability for longer term service delivery. Apart from the need to retain reserves to 
address risks and uncertainty there are specific reserves to fund invest to save as well as 
investment in the future towards economic development within the borough (Growth Fund), 
housing invest to save opportunities and other investment options whilst generating 
sustainable income and savings to help reduce the future years budget gap. This helps 
ensure that key measures of sustainable finances and stewardship in the medium term can 
be realised. The funds retained are adequate to meet the needs of the Council in the 
medium term. The level of reserves will continue to be kept under review during the Medium 
Term Financial Planning period. 

4.11 Council’s Investment Income contributing to supporting key services 

4.11.1 Historically the Council has acquired investment properties. More recently, since 2011/12 
the Council created an investment and growth fund. Background on the use of these funds 
are reported quarterly to the Executive. At its meeting on 19th July 2017, Executive approved 
the following new property investment criteria: 

• Provides a net investment return of 5%;
• Provides a suitable mix of portfolio to mitigate against risks of “all eggs in one basket” i.e.

variation in investment portfolio to cover void risk;
• Ability to sell the asset at a future date within a reasonable turnaround period of less than

one year; 
• Mitigates against problematic tenancy risks e.g. secured tenancy etc ;
• Mitigates  against  significant  repair  liabilities  which  have  a  downward  impact  on  the

investment return i.e. seek full repairing leases from tenants;
• Mitigate against capital value risk – purchase in places where capital values are unlikely to

fall in the longer term;
• That opportunities should be explored in economic growth areas as well as the South East.

This would be the cities of Manchester and Leeds together with other areas such as Cardiff,
Bristol and the Midlands;

• That the lot size should be in excess of £5m;
• That  multi-let  investment  opportunities  which  provide  suitable  income  protection  and

covenant should be considered taking into account management costs.

4.11.2 The strategy of generating additional investment income provided funding for key 
services thus enabling a corresponding reduction in the Council’s budget gap. 

4.11.3 The Council’s investment income of £14.9m, assumed in the 2020/21 Budget, is shown 
below: 

£’m 
Investment properties a n d  r e n t a l  i n c o m e  11.3 
Treasury Management Income   3.6 
Total investment income   14.9 

4.11.4 The Council has used existing resources in acquiring investment properties and has not 
utilised the option of borrowing. A combination of ensuring the criteria above is met, decisions 
by Executive taking into account the professional advice Cushman and Wakefield and not 
utilising borrowing to fund the acquisitions helped ensure that the primary driver of 
sustainable income is met which is critical to support key services. The Council being 
prepared to retain the investment assets through any future recession period significantly 
reduces the longer term capital risk of the investment. Utilisation of the remaining 

Page 48



uncommitted Growth Fund and Investment Fund will be prioritised for housing investment at 
this stage. 

4.11.5 Details of the approach to treasury management is being reported to Executive, Resources 
and Contracts PDS meeting on 5th February 2020. The Treasury Management Strategy has 
previously been revised to enable alternative investments of £100m which will generate 
additional income of around £2m compared with lending to banks. Additional income of £300k 
has been assumed in the 2020/21 Budget. The contribution of higher risk and longer term 
investments within Treasury Management have contributed towards the Council being in 
the top decile performance (top 10%) against the local authority benchmark group. The 
approach to addressing Security, Liquidity and Yield is addressed in that report.

Page 49



Appendix 5

Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
FSD20024 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Executive 
Council 

Date:  
Executive 12th February 2020 
Council 24h February 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Key  
 

Title: CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING Q3 2019/20 & CAPITAL 
STRATEGY 2020 TO 2024 
 

Contact Officer: Katherine Ball, Principal Accountant  
Tel:  020 8313 4792   E-mail:  Katherine.Ball@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Director of Finance 

Ward: All 

 
1. Reason for report 

 This report updates the Council’s Capital Strategy. It also summarises the current position on 
capital expenditure and receipts following the third quarter of 2019/20 and presents for approval 
the new capital schemes in the annual capital review process. The Executive is asked to 
consider the updated Capital Strategy and approve a revised Capital Programme. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1  The Executive is requested to: 

(a) Note the report, including a total re-phasing of £13.6m from 2019/20 into future years, 
and agree a revised Capital Programme; 

(b) Approve the following amendments to the Capital Programme:  

(i) Increase of £3,141k to the capital programme for a Crystal Palace subway capital 
scheme (report elsewhere on this agenda) (para 3.2.1), 

(ii) Increase of £115k to the Central Depot Wall Reconstruction, funded by the 
Infrastructure Investment Fund (earmarked reserve) (para 3.2.2) – agreed by the 
Executive on January 15th 2020, 

(iii) Increase of £10k to the TfL Bus Priority Programme scheme, funded by a £10k 
contribution from the Royal Borough of Greenwich (para 3.2.3) and  

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



  

2 

(iv) Decrease of £1k to the capital programme to reflect the removal of the 
Manorfield – Temporary Accommodation scheme from the capital programme 
(para 3.2.4) 

(v) Increase of £232k to the Section 106 receipts from developers – as detailed in 
paragraph 3.2.5 

  

(c) Recommend to Council: 

(i) The inclusion of the new scheme proposals listed in Appendix C in the Capital 
Programme (see section 3.5) 

2.2 Council is requested to: 

(a) Agree the inclusion of the new scheme proposals listed in Appendix C in the 
Capital Programme (see section 3.5). 

Page 62



  

3 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy: Capital Programme monitoring and review is part of the planning 
and review process for all services. Capital schemes help to maintain and improve the quality of 
life in the borough.  Effective asset management planning (AMP) is a crucial corporate activity if 
a local authority is to achieve its corporate and service aims and objectives and deliver its 
services. For each of our portfolios and service priorities, the Council reviews its main aims and 
outcomes through the AMP process and identifies those that require the use of capital assets. 
The primary concern is to ensure that capital investment provides value for money and matches 
the Council’s overall priorities as set out in “Building a Better Bromley”.    

 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost:  Total net increase of £8.8m over the 5 years 2019/20 to 
2023/24, mainly due to the additional capital bids outlined in this report 

 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre:  Capital Programme 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: Total £155.4m over 5 years 2019/20 to 2023/24 
 

5. Source of funding:  Capital grants, capital receipts and earmarked revenue contributions 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 1fte   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: 36 hours per week   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance  
 

2. Call-in: Applicable   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 
 

Page 63



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 Capital Expenditure 

3.1.1 This report sets out proposed changes to the Capital Programme following a detailed 
monitoring exercise carried out after the 3rd quarter of 2019/20 and also seeks approval for the 
new capital schemes submitted as part of the 2019 annual capital review process. The report 
is divided into two distinct parts; the first (sections 3.2 & 3.3) looks at the Q3 monitoring 
exercise and the second (sections 3.4 & 3.5) includes details of the capital strategy update 
and proposed new schemes.  

3.1.2 Appendix A sets out proposed changes to the Capital Programme. The base position is the 
revised programme approved by the Executive on 27th November 2019, as amended by 
variations approved at subsequent Executive meetings. If all the changes proposed in this 
report are approved, the total Capital Programme 2019/20 to 2023/24 would increase by 
£8,817k, mainly due to new capital bids. Estimated expenditure in 2019/20 will reduce by 
£13.6m due to the re-phasing of expenditure from 2019/20 into future years. Details of the 
monitoring variations are included in Appendices A and B, and the proposed revised 
programme, including the additional funding provided, is summarised in the table below.  

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

TOTAL 

2019/20 to 

2023/24

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Programme approved by Executive 27/11/19 44,400 41,387 29,575 31,240 0 146,602

Variations approved at subsequent Executive meetings 0 0 0 0 0 0

Approved Programme prior to 3rd Quarter's Monitoring 44,400 41,387 29,575 31,240 0 146,602

Variations requiring the approval of the Executive (Appendix A) 124 3,373 0 0 0 3,497

Variations not requiring approval of Executive:

Net rephasing from 2019/20 into future years Cr 13,631 12,880 751 0 0 0

Total Q3 Monitoring variations Cr 13,507 16,253 751 0 0 3,497

New Schemes (Appendix C) 0 1,695 1,205 180 2,240 5,320

TOTAL REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 30,893 59,335 31,531 31,420 2,240 155,419

Assumed Further Slippage (for financing purposes) Cr 5,000 Cr 15,000 10,000 10,000 0 0

Assumed New Schemes (to be agreed) 0 0 3,500 3,500 3,500 10,500

Cr 5,000 Cr 15,000 13,500 13,500 3,500 10,500

Total revised expenditure to be financed 25,893 44,335 45,031 44,920 5,740 165,919

 
 

3.2 Variations requiring the approval of the Executive (£3,497k total net addition) 

3.2.1 Crystal Palace subway (£3,141k addition in 2020/21 budget) 

A report elsewhere on this agenda requests that the Executive approve the adoption of a 
capital estimate for £3,141k to undertake restoration works to Crystal Palace park subway on 
the basis that this will be fully funded by grants and contributions from the Strategic Investment 
Pot (£2,340k), Historic England grant (£500k), TfL Highway works (£296k) and the Friends of 
Crystal Palace Subway group (£5k). This has been reflected in the figures in this report. 

3.2.2 Central Depot Wall Reconstruction (£115k increase in 2019/20 budget) 

At its meeting on January 15th, the Executive agreed the addition of £115k to this existing 
capital scheme, to be funded from the Infrastructure Investment Fund (earmarked reserve).  
The Executive is asked to formally agree to increase the capital estimate by this amount.  This 
has been reflected in the figures in this report. 

Page 64



  

5 

3.2.3 TfL Bus Priority Capital Programme (£10k increase in 2019/20 budget) 

The Executive is asked to agree to make improvements at the junction of Mottingham Road 
with Elmstead Lane, William Barefoot Drive and White Horse Hill in order to ease congestion 
and reduce injury collisions.  The existing 2019/20 budget for the TfL Bus Priority was £360k, 
of which this specific scheme had an allocated budget of £65k, which will now increase by 
£10k, with the increase to be funded from a contribution from the Royal Borough of 
Greenwich.  This has been reflected in the figures in this report. 

3.2.4 Manorfield Temporary Accommodation: remove from the capital programme – (decrease of 
£1k in 2019/20) 

Members are asked to agree that this scheme be deleted from the capital programme as it has 
now completed. There is a remaining budget of £1k in 2019/20 which will be removed.  This 
has been reflected in the figures in this report. 

3.2.5 Section 106 receipts (uncommitted balance) (net increase of £232k in 2020/21)  

In July 2015, the Executive agreed that the Capital Programme budget should reflect the total 
amount of s106 receipts available to fund expenditure.  Members are asked to agree a net 
increase of £232k in the Capital Programme budget for Education s106 in respect of additional 
receipts received since the last report. 

3.3 Scheme Re-phasings 

3.3.1 As part of the 3rd quarter monitoring exercise, a total of £13.6m has been re-phased from 
2019/20 into 2020/21 and 2021/22 to reflect revised estimates of when expenditure is likely to 
be incurred. The largest elements of these are £3.5m relating to the Basic Need Scheme, 
£3.2m relating to the Affordable Housing Unallocated scheme, £1.4m relating to the Highways 
Investment scheme, and £1m relating to the Bromley High Street Improvements scheme.  

3.3.2 Other schemes rephased into future financial years include the Sharepoint Productivity 
Platform upgrade/ replacement programme (£756k), the LIP Formula Funding (£415k) and the 
London Private Sector Renewal Scheme (£411k). This has no overall impact on the total 
approved estimate for the capital programme. Further details and comments are provided in 
Appendix B. 

3.3.3 In view of the variations that have arisen in recent years, further slippage of £5.0m has been 
assumed for the remainder of 2019/20, as well as £15.0m of slippage in 2020/21, for financing 
purposes to cover unforeseen delays to capital schemes. 

3.4 Capital Strategy update and Annual Capital Review – new scheme proposals   

Capital Strategy update 

3.4.1 The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code 2017 
introduced the setting and revising of a capital strategy. The Prudential Code laid out: 

 Governance Procedure – the setting and revising of the capital strategy and prudential 
indicators will be done by the same body. For this Council it is the Executive and full 
Council. 

 Determining a Capital Strategy – the Capital Strategy should demonstrate that the Council 
takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives. 

Page 65



  

6 

 Prudence & Affordability – each local authority should ensure that all of its capital, 
investment (and any borrowing) are prudent and sustainable. 

3.4.2 As required, this Council’s strategy includes capital expenditure, investments and treasury 
management and the Council’s Capital Strategy is linked to the Treasury Management 
Strategy which reports and monitors the Council’s Prudential Indicators. In addition the 
Director of Finance reports on affordability and risks in the annual budget setting reports.  

3.4.3 An annual review of the Capital Programme is undertaken as outlined in section 3.5.  The 
Council’s Capital Programme is intended to maintain and improve the quality of life in the 
borough and help meet its overall priorities as set out in “Building a Better Bromley”, and with 
a four year plan, assists the longer-term planning for capital expenditure and the use of 
resources to finance it. 

3.4.4 In recent years, the Council has steadily scaled down new capital expenditure plans and has 
transferred all of the rolling maintenance programmes to the revenue budget. General (un-
earmarked) reserves, established from the disposal of housing stock and the Glades Site, 
have been gradually spent and have fallen from £131m in 1997 to £49.3m (including 
unapplied capital receipts) as at 31st March 2019. The Council’s asset disposal programme 
has diminished, and as set out in section 3.7, it is currently projected that these balances will 
be around £14.2m by 2027.   

3.4.5 It is therefore likely that any significant future capital schemes not funded by 
grants/contributions, future disposals or from revenue, may have to be funded from external 
borrowing. Prior to any consideration of external borrowing, the Council will review its assets 
to ensure all opportunities to generate capital receipts as alternative funding have been fully 
explored. 

3.4.6 The Council’s policy for borrowing and the investment of balances are set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement which will be considered by Executive, Resources & 
Contracts PDS Committee on 5th February 2020, prior to submission for Council approval on 
24th February 2020. 

3.4.7 In addition to Treasury Management investments, the Council also has an alternative 
investment strategy for the acquisition of investment properties. To ensure that these 
investments are made prudently, and that the income generated remains sustainable, the 
Council has to date funded the property from its own resources rather than utilise any external 
borrowing. 

3.4.8 This combination of lower risk Treasury Management investments and a separate longer-term 
investment strategy in the form of property acquisitions (generating higher yields and risks) 
provides a balanced investment strategy.  

3.5 Annual Capital Review: new scheme proposals - (£5,320k total net addition) 

3.5.1 As part of the normal annual review of the Capital Programme, Chief Officers were invited to 
present bids for new capital investment. Apart than the regular annual capital bids (TfL-funded 
Highway and Traffic schemes and Feasibility Studies) three other bids were submitted, which 
are summarised in paras 3.5.2 to 3.5.4 below, and outlined in Appendix C. The total amount of 
funding required from Council resources is £3,120k. New Invest to Save bids were particularly 
encouraged, but none were received and it is assumed that any such bids will be submitted in 
due course to be funded through the earmarked reserve that was created in 2011.  

 

 

Page 66



  

7 

3.5.2 Future Proofing the Local Authority’s six Children’s Centres - £1,170k 

 This capital estimate will cover works to five of the six Children and Family Centres (Bleinheim, 
Cotmandene, Community Vision, Castlecombe & Biggin Hill) and will encompass internal 
building works, for example the re-configuration of the existing internal spaces in order to 
improve the space and increase the capacity, as well as works to improve and add to the 
external play areas.  No external funding has been identified for this programme and therefore 
the Council’s own resources will need to be used to finance the scheme.  The provisional sum 
of £1,170k has been set aside in the capital programme for planning purposes, however the 
release of these monies will be subject to a future report to the Executive for approval of the 
final scheme. 

3.5.3 Refurbishment of Orpington (Saxon) Family Contact Centre - £160k  

This capital estimate will cover works to improve the current layout of the Saxon Family 
Contact Centre to make it Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) compliant. In addition to the DDA 
requirement, Bromley’s aim is to become accredited under the National Association of Child 
Contact Centres scheme (NACCC). To enable Bromley to ‘sell’ this service, which will 
generate income to off-set a proportion of the cost of delivering the service to our own families, 
a planned programme of refurbishment work needs to be undertaken. No external funding has 
been identified for this programme, and therefore the Council’s own resources will need to be 
used to finance the scheme. 

 
3.5.4 Financial Systems Replacement - £1,750k  

This scheme will procure and implement a new Financial System to replace the existing 
Oracle E-Business Suite R12, and in-house developed budget monitoring systems (EBM and 
FBM).  As a result the Council will have a fully supported, more flexible financial system, 
increased resilience by removing the reliance on and risks of using the Council’s on-premises 
data centre, support for a separate reporting entity for the Pension Fund, and the ability to 
accept and process electronic invoices from suppliers.  No external funding has been identified 
for this programme, and therefore the Council’s own resources will need to be used to finance 
the scheme. 
 

3.6 Capital Receipts 

3.6.1 Details of the receipts forecast in the years 2019/20 to 2022/23 are included in Appendix F to 
this report to be considered under Part 2 proceedings of the meeting. The latest estimate for 
2019/20 has decreased by £6.5m compared to what was reported in November (excluding 
“other” capital receipts). The estimate for 2020/21 has increased by £7m in comparison to 
what was reported in November. This relates to the sale of a Council asset that was previously 
forecast for 2019/20 and now anticipated in 2020/21. A total of £1m per annum is assumed for 
receipts yet to be identified in later years. These projections, as detailed in Appendix F, reflect 
prudent assumptions for capital receipts, and do not include estimated disposal receipts from 
the review being undertaken by Cushman and Wakefield. 

3.7 Financing of the Capital Programme 

3.7.1 A capital financing statement is attached at Appendix D and the following table summarises 
the estimated impact on balances of the revised programme and revised capital receipt 
projections which, as noted above, reflect prudent assumptions on the level and timing of 
disposals. Total balances would reduce from £49.3m (General Fund £20.0m and capital 
receipts £29.3m) at the end of 2018/19 to £38.3m by the end of 2021/22 and then £14.2m 
by the end of 2026/27.  It is therefore likely that any significant future capital schemes not 
funded by grants/contributions or revenue, may have to be funded from external borrowing. 

Page 67



  

8 

   

Balance Estimate Estimate

31/03/2019 Balance Balance

31/03/2022 31/03/2027

£m £m £m

General Fund 20.0 20.8 14.2

Capital Receipts 29.3 17.5 0.0

49.3 38.3 14.2

 

3.7.2 A summary of how the capital programme will be financed is shown in the table below with 
further detail provided in Appendix D. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 Section 106 Receipts   

3.8.1 In addition to capital receipts from asset disposals, the Council is holding a number of Section 
106 contributions received from developers. These are made to the Council as a result of the 
granting of planning permission and are restricted to being spent on capital works in 
accordance with the terms of agreements reached between the Council and the developers. 
These receipts are held as a receipt in advance on the Council’s Balance Sheet, the balance 
of which stands at £10,637k as at 31st December 2019 as shown in the table below, and will 
be used to finance capital expenditure from 2019/20 onwards: 

 

 

 

Balance Receipts Expenditure Balance

Specified Capital Works 31/03/2019 2019/20 2019/20 31/12/2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Housing 3,510 0 67 3,443

Education 2,751 765 125 3,391

Local Economy 2,006 1,500 0 3,506

Community Facilities 0 0 0 0

Highways 83 0 83 0

Other 0 300 3 297

Total 8,350 2,565 278 10,637

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Total Capital Expenditure 25,893 44,335 45,031 44,920 5,740 165,919

Financed by:

Usable Receipts 909 9,182 38,608 25,996 3,211 77,905

Revenue Contributions 4,662 8,346 1,365 329 329 15,031

Government Grants 12,074 16,029 2,653 0 0 30,756

Other Contributions 8,248 10,779 2,406 2,200 2,200 25,832

Internal Borrowing 0 0 0 16,395 0 16,395

General Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 25,893 44,335 45,031 44,920 5,740 165,919

Page 68



  

9 

3.8.2 The Council’s budgets are limited and, where a developer contribution (S106) can be secured, 
this will be required as a contribution towards projects, notwithstanding any other allocation of 
resources contained in the Council’s spending plans. 

3.8.3 The Executive is asked to note that in December 2019 a sum of £1.5m was received in 
relation to s106 obligations on the Langley Court development.  At its meeting on March 22nd 
2016, the Executive agreed that if any of the £4m of s106 monies were received in relation to 
this site, that they would be used to fund the Bromley High Street Improvements capital 
scheme in place of funds that had initially been allocated from the Growth Fund.  The 
Executive is asked to note that this funding switch will be applied.   

3.9 Investment Fund and Growth Fund  

3.9.1 To help support the achievement of sustainable savings and income, the Council has set aside 
funding in the Investment Fund and Growth Fund earmarked reserves to contribute towards 
the Council’s economic development and investment opportunities. To date, total funding of 
£144.0m has been placed in the Investment Fund and Growth Fund earmarked reserves to 
contribute towards the Council’s economic development and investment opportunities.  

3.9.2 Appendix E provides a detailed analysis of the Funds dating back to their inception in 
September 2011. To date schemes totalling £121.5m have been approved (£92.3m on the 
Investment Fund, and £27.7m on the Growth Fund), and the uncommitted balances as at end 
of January 2020 stand at £12.5m for the Investment Fund and £11.5m for the Growth Fund.  

3.10 Feasibility Works – Property Disposals 

3.10.1 At its meeting on 24th May 2017, Executive agreed to the creation of a new Earmarked 
Reserve with an initial allocation of £250k to be funded from the Growth Fund to allow 
feasibility works to be commissioned against specific sites so as to inform the Executive of 
sites’ viability for disposal or re-development and potential scheme optimisation together with 
an appraisal as to worth.  

3.10.2 Members requested that an update from the Strategic Property Service be included in 
quarterly capital monitoring report, this is provided in Appendix G.  

3.11 Post-Completion Reports 

3.11.1 Under approved Capital Programme procedures, capital schemes should be subject to a post-
completion review within one year of completion. These reviews should compare actual 
expenditure against budget and evaluate the achievement of the scheme’s non-financial 
objectives. Post-completion reports on the following schemes are due to be submitted to the 
relevant PDS Committees: 

 Banbury House Demolition/Site Prep 

 Review of Corporate Customer Services IT System 

 Upgrade of MS Dynamics CRM System 

 Care Homes – improvements to environment for older people 

 Performance Management/Children’s Services IT scheme  

 Beacon House Refurbishment 

 Langley Park Boys School (BFS) 

 The Highway Primary 

 Suitability / Modernisation Issues in School 

 Universal Free School Meals 

 The Woodland Improvement Programme 

 Upgrade of Core Network Hardware 

Page 69



  

10 

 Replacement of Storage Area Network 

 Rollout of Windows 7 and Office 2000 

 Replacement of MD110 telephone switch  

 Windows Server 2003 Replacement Programme 
 

 
4. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 Capital Programme monitoring and review is part of the planning and review process for all 
services. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 These are contained in the main body of the report and in the appendices. Attached as 
Appendix D is a capital financing statement, which gives a long-term indication of how the 
revised Programme would be financed if all the proposed changes were approved and if all 
the planned receipts were achieved. The financing projections assume approval of the revised 
capital programme recommended in this report, together with an estimated £3.5m per annum 
for new capital schemes and service developments from 2021/22 onwards. 

 

Non-Applicable 
Sections: 

Legal, Personnel & Procurement Implications, Impact on Vulnerable 
Adults and Children 

Background 
Documents: 
(Access via 
Contact Officer) 

Approved Capital Programme  (Executive 27/11/19) 
Treasury Management – Annual Investment Strategy 2020/21 (Executive 
and Resources PDS Committee 05/02/20) 
The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 
edition) CIPFA publication 
List of potential capital receipts from strategic property as at 24.01.2020 
List of Feasibility monies for property disposal from strategic property as 
at 24.01.2020 
 

 

 
 

Page 70



APPENDIX A - VARIATION SUMMARY
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - FEB 2020 - SUMMARY OF VARIATIONS FROM APPROVED PROGRAMME

Variations on individual schemes

Date of 
Portfolio 
meeting

Revised 
2019/20 

Revised 
2020/21 

 Revised 
2021/22 

Revised 
2022/23 

Revised 
2023/24 

TOTAL 2019/20 
to 2023/24 

Comments / reason for 
variation

£'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 
Current Approved Capital Programme
Programme approved by Executive 27/11/2019 Exec 27/11/19 44,400    41,387    29,575     31,240     146,602             

Approved Programme prior to 3rd Quarter's Monitoring 44,400  41,387  29,575    31,240   146,602           

Variations in the estimated cost of approved schemes

(i) Variations requiring the approval of the Executive/Council

Crystal Palace subway Exec 12/02/20 3,141      3,141                 See paragraph 3.2.1
Central Depot Wall Reconstruction Exec 15/01/20 115         115                    See paragraph 3.2.2
Bus Priority Programme (TfL funded) PDS 29/01/20 10           10                      See paragraph 3.2.3
Manorfield - Temporary Accomodation - remove from programme 1Cr           1Cr                      See paragraph 3.2.4
s106 - unallocated Education 232         232                    See paragraph 3.2.5

124         3,373      0              0              0              3,497                 

(ii) Variations not requiring approval 13,631Cr 12,880    751          0              0                        See section 3.3 and Appendix B
Net rephasing from 2019/20 into future years 13,631Cr 12,880    751          0              0              0                        

TOTAL AMENDMENT TO CAPITAL PROGRAMME 13,507Cr 16,253  751         0            3,497               

Add: Proposed new schemes 0             1,695      1,205       180          2,240       5,320                 See section 3.5 and Appendix C
0           1,695    1,205      180        2,240     5,320               

TOTAL REVISED CAPITAL PROGRAMME 30,893  59,335  31,531    31,420   2,240     155,419           

Less: Further slippage projection 5,000Cr   15,000Cr 10,000     10,000     0                        
Add: Estimate for further new schemes 3,500       3,500       3,500       10,500               
TOTAL TO BE FINANCED 25,893  44,335  45,031    44,920   5,740     165,919           P

age 71



APPENDIX B - REPHASING

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - FEB 2020 - SUMMARY OF VARIATIONS FROM APPROVED PROGRAMME - SCHEME REPHASING

Variations on individual schemes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 TOTAL Comments/reason for variation
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Rephasing of schemes

Basic Need 3,500Cr    3,500     0

A full detailed report on the various projects within the Basic Need Programme was reported to 
Executive on 19 Jul 17.  Works at Pickhurst are nearing completion, Phase 2 works at Stewart 
Fleming are underway following the collapse of the contractor and re-tendering. Phase 2 works 
at Bromley Beacon (Orpington) are complete and Phase 3 has started. Trinity (old EDC) 
refurbishment works are delayed and due to start Summer 2020. £3.5 million has been re-
phased into 2020/21.

Glebe School Expansion 348Cr       348        0
The contractor is in administration and final accounts are not yet agreed.  Although 
conversations with the contractor are ongoing it is unlikely that the budget will be fully spent in 
2019/20 therefore £348k has been re-phased into 2020/21.

Healthy Pupil Capital Fund 29Cr         29          0

ESFA have allocated the Council £29k from Healthy Pupils Capital Fund. The HPCF is Intended 
to improve children’s and young people’s physical and mental health by improving and 
increasing availability to facilities for physical activity, healthy eating, mental health and 
wellbeing and medical conditions.  We are currently reviewing, in consultation with public health, 
how best to deliver this to schools, therefore the remaining budget has been re-phased into 
2020/21. 

Seed Challenge Fund 184Cr       184        0
Maintained schools will be requested to submit updates as to whether they will utilise approved 
budgets - otherwise money will be re-phased back to Basic Need. An additional £184k has been 
moved to 2020/21 to reflect the likely level of expenditure in 2019/20.

Security Works 89Cr         89          0
There was an agreed budget of £140k for 2019/20. Notification of works from schools is 
currently being awaited, therefore re-profiling of £89k has been undertaken in order to better 
reflect the anticipated spend in 2019/20.  

Feasibility Studies 20Cr         20          0 This budget will be used for feasibility works.  £20k has been re-phased into 2020/21.

S106 - Education (unallocated) 400Cr       400        0

S106 is allocated to education projects at the planning application stage. This budget line 
represents S106 funding that has become available for use on specific projects due to planning 
condition triggers being met, but has yet to be been drawn formally down into the Council’s 
Basic Need budget for use. Drawdown of funding to projects will be agreed in future Basic Need 
Update reports and £400k has been re-phased from 2019/20 to 2020/21.

Youth centres - Capital improvements 3Cr           3            0 The remaining budget of £3k has been re-phased to 2020/21. This will be used for any 
emergency works that are required to enable youth centres to remain open.

Social Care Case Management System 100Cr       100        0

Approved by Exec 12th Sept 2018 -  contract was awarded in Sept 2019 to engage specialist 
staff resources to support procurement and implementation of a new Social Care Information 
Management System, value up to £450k by  March 2021. Procurement strategy is agreed, likely 
award of contract for new system by May 2020, therefore £100k has been re-phased into 
2020/21.

Mobile technology to support children's social 
workers 18Cr         18          0

This spend will afford the ASYEs and 'frontline' staff as part of the recruitment and retention of 
'Grow Your Own Staff' to improve the permanency figures to 90%.  The remaining budget of 
£18k budget has been re-phased to 2020/21.

P
age 72



APPENDIX B - REPHASING

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - FEB 2020 - SUMMARY OF VARIATIONS FROM APPROVED PROGRAMME - SCHEME REPHASING

Variations on individual schemes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 TOTAL Comments/reason for variation
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Rephasing of schemes

PCT Learning Disability reprovision 
programme - Walpole Road 24Cr         24          0

The Department of Health capital is for uses associated with the reprovision of NHS Learning 
Disability Campus clients to the community and projects relating to the closure of the Bassetts 
site.  A report was presented to the November 19 Executive seeking a full review of learning 
disabilities provision and a project plan to be reviewed by Members in the spring of 2020.  It is 
envisaged that this plan will require full utilisation of the remaining capital plus some additional 
capital investment.  It is now envisaged that the £24k for works on LD properties will be 
included within the main project and this has been re-phased into 2020/21

Customer Services IT System Replacement 50Cr         50          0 Scheme has commenced, initial scoping, analysis, business process mapping and technical 
designs are in development.  £50k has been re-phased to 2020/21.

Winter maintenance - gritter replacement 36Cr         36          0
No planned gritter replacement will take place this year. Team is planning the next round of 
replacement vehicles - these are likely to be purchased in the summer of 2020, therefore the 
remaining £36k of 2019/20 budget has been re-phased into 2020/21.

SharePoint Productivity Platform 
upgrade/replacement 756Cr       256        500        0

The project has been slightly delayed due to the need to align it with the delivery of the 'IT 
Transformation' capital project.  Re-phasing of £756k from 2019/20 into 2020/21, and £500k 
from 2020/21 to 2021/22 has been undertaken.

IT Transformation 215Cr       215        0

Each workstream within the Transformation is progressing to plan.  In order to align all the 
workstreams some of the individual projects within the programme have been re-phased for 
technical dependency reasons, therefore re-phasing of £215k from 2019/20 to 2020/21 is 
necessary to reflect this.

Orpington Railway Station 48Cr         48          0 £48k of budget has been re-phased from 2019/20 to 2020/21 to link in with the forthcoming 
Crofton Road cycle route.

Affordable Housing Unallocated 3,206Cr    3,206     0 Work is ongoing with housing association partners to identify suitable approved housing 
development schemes.  £3,206k of funding has been re-phased to 2020/21.

Principal Roads Maintenance 311Cr       311        0 £311k of budget has been re-phased from 2019/20 to 2020/21 to reflect the anticipated spend in 
2019/20.

Widmore Road 105Cr       105        0 This scheme and budget is being reviewed and £105k of budget has been re-phased from 
2019/20 to 2020/21.

Orpington Public Realm Improvements 34Cr         34          0 The remaining budget of £34k of budget has been re-profiled from 2019/20 to 2020/21 when it 
will be used for minor re-designs to the scheme.

Street Lighting Invest to Save Initiative 193Cr       193        0 Additional works will be ongoing during the next six months as part of the project and re-phasing 
of £193k from 2019/20 to 2020/21 has been undertaken.

Highway Investment 1,400Cr    1,400     0 These works are underway but will not be completed this financial year, therefore £1,400k has 
been re-profiled into 2020/21.

London Private Sector Renewal Schemes 411Cr       206        206        0 Due to recycled funding having been added to this programme  re-phasing of £411k from 
2019/20 into 2020/21 and 2021/22 has been reflected. 

P
age 73



APPENDIX B - REPHASING

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - FEB 2020 - SUMMARY OF VARIATIONS FROM APPROVED PROGRAMME - SCHEME REPHASING

Variations on individual schemes 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 TOTAL Comments/reason for variation
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Rephasing of schemes

Empty Homes Programme 91Cr         46          46          0

Funding criteria changed in 2017 to improve take up - all long term empty property owners are 
being targeted and made aware of assistance available. The empty property officer funded from 
this budget has left and a new temporary appointment is being sought, and re-phasing of £91k 
from 2019/20 into 2020/21 and 2021/22 has been undertaken. 

LIP Formula Funding 415Cr       415        

Due to the ambitious nature of the Clock House Corridor scheme with the need for significant 
member and public engagement, officers have discussed with TfL and taken the opportunity to 
carry forward £415k to cover the cost of this project in 2020/21. 

Payment in Lieu Fund - Property Acquisitions 57Cr         57          
£1m budget used to purchase nine properties with remaining budget allocated for capital 
refurbishment.  Capital works are currently being commissioned on boilers, roofing etc and re-
phasing of £57k from 2019/20 to 2020/21 has been reflected.

Provision of Housing supply in Anerley & 
Chislehurst 190Cr       190        

Contract award report scheduled for Executive in February 2020.  Budget of £190k has been re-
phased into 2020/21.  Expected completion August 2020.

Star Lane Traveller Site 133Cr       133        
Stage one undertaken by Thames Water has been completed. The work on the site to complete 
the new supply has had to be re-tendered by Amey. Expected completion date will now be in 
2020/21 requiring the remaining budget of £133k to be re-phased.

Crystal Palace Park - Alternative Management 
Options 50Cr         50          

Due to delays to the outline planning permission application being submitted, re-phasing of £50k
from 2019/20 to 2020/21 has been undertaken.

Bromley High Street Improvements 1,000Cr    1,000     
Re-phasing of £1m into 2020/21 has been undertaken due to a changing approach to the 
commercial units.

Bromley North Village 65Cr         65          
The remaining budget required for remedial works is expected to be used in 2020/21, therefore 
£65k has been re-phased into 2020/21.

Penge Town Centre 150Cr       150        
Funds for a second round of shop front improvements will be used in the next financial year and 
therefore £150k has been re-phased into 2020/21.

TOTAL REPHASING ADJUSTMENTS 13,631Cr 12,880 751      0             

P
age 74



APPENDIX C - NEW SCHEMES 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME REVIEW 2019 - RECOMMENDED TO EXECUTIVE 12/02/20

    Capital Scheme/Project Priority TOTAL 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 Running Financing Comments
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Transforming Bromley by future proofing the Local 
Authority's six Children and Family Centres

HIGH 1,170 660 330 180 15

Refurbishment of Orpington (Saxon) Family Contact Centre HIGH 160 100 60

Financial Systems Replacement MED 1,750 935 815 60
Transport for London (Highways and Traffic Schemes) HIGH 2,200 2,200 0 0 Further Highways and Traffic schemes to be fully funded 

by TfL on the basis of the bid in the Borough Spending 
Plan (BSP). The Capital Programme currently includes 
estimates for 2020/21 to 2022/23 and these will all be 
adjusted to reflect any subsequent changes in 
approvals/allocations.

Feasibility studies - block provisions HIGH 40 40 0 0 Provision for 2020/21 - 2022/23 already in Capital 
Programme to fund feasibility works in respect of 
potential new schemes. 

GRAND TOTAL NEW CAPITAL BIDS 5,320 1,695 1,205 180 2,240 75 0

COST TO THE COUNCIL (LBB RESOURCES) 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 TOTAL
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Grand total new bids above 1,695         1,205         180         2,240      5,320          

External funding for new bids
Transport for London (Highway Schemes) 0                0                0             2,200Cr    2,200Cr       100% TFL funding

Funding from Council's resources 1,695       1,205       180       40          3,120        

Revenue effect

P
age 75



APPENDIX D - FINANCING
CAPITAL FINANCING STATEMENT - EXECUTIVE 12/02/20 - ALL RECEIPTS

(NB. Assumes all capital receipts - see below)

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
Estimate Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Summary Financing Statement

Capital Grants 12,939       11,221       12,074       16,029       2,653         0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 
Other external contributions 10,289       7,732         8,248         10,779       2,406         2,200         2,200         2,200         2,200         2,200         
Usable Capital Receipts 5,367         8,905         909            9,182         38,608       25,996       3,211         2,041         551            1,000         
Internal Borrowing 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 16,395       0                 0                 0                 0                 
Revenue Contributions 3,518         3,056         4,662         8,346         1,365         329            329            329            107            0                 
General Fund 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 1,170         2,882         2,540         
Borrowing (external) 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 

Total expenditure 32,113     30,914     25,893     44,335     45,031     44,920     5,740       5,740       5,740       5,740        

Usable Capital Receipts

Balance brought forward 26,203       25,695       29,313       31,984       35,502       17,501       2,803         592            0                 0                 
New usable receipts 12,396       12,523       3,580         12,700       20,607       11,298       8,489         9,906         1,000         1,000         

38,599       38,218       32,893       44,684       56,109       28,799       11,292       10,498       1,000         1,000         
Capital Financing 5,367Cr       8,905Cr       909Cr          9,182Cr       38,608Cr     25,996Cr     3,211Cr       2,041Cr       551Cr          1,000Cr       
Repayment of Internal Borrowing 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 7,489Cr       8,457Cr       449Cr          0                 

Balance carried forward 33,232     29,313     31,984     35,502     17,501     2,803       592          0               0               0                

Internal Borrowing
Balance brought forward 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 16,395Cr     8,906Cr       449Cr          0                 
Capital Financing 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 16,395Cr     0                 0                 0                 0                 
Repaid from new Capital Receipts 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 7,489         8,457         449            0                 
Balance carried forward 0               0               0               0                0               16,395Cr    8,906Cr      449Cr         0               0                

General Fund

Balance brought forward 20,000       20,000       20,000       20,814       20,814       20,814       20,814       20,814       19,644       16,762       
Less: Capital Financing 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 0                 1,170Cr       2,882Cr       2,540Cr       
Less: Use for Revenue Budget 1,085Cr      814          0                0               0               0               0               0                
Balance carried forward 18,915     20,000     20,814     20,814     20,814     20,814     20,814     19,644     16,762     14,222      

TOTAL AVAILABLE RESERVES 52,147     49,313     52,798     56,316     38,315     23,617     21,406     19,644     16,762     14,222      

Assumptions:
New capital schemes - £3.5m p.a. from 2021/22 for future new schemes.
Capital receipts - includes figures reported by Property Divison as at 24/01/20 - as shown in Appendix F
Current approved programme - as recommended to Executive 12/02/20
Internal Borrowing to fund until Capital Receipts pay Back - Site G

2018-19

P
age 76



APPENDIX E - INVESTMENT FUND GROWTH FUND

INVESTMENT FUND & GROWTH FUND - 12 February 2020

Investment Fund £'000

Revenue Funding:
Approved by Executive 7th September 2011 10,000           
Approved by Council 27th February 2013 16,320           
Approved by Council 1st July 2013 20,978           
Approved by Executive 10th June 2014 13,792           
Approved by Executive 15th October 2014 90                  
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (Transfer to Growth Fund) 10,000Cr        
New Home Bonus (2014/15) 5,040             
Approved by Executive 11th February 2015 (New Homes Bonus) 4,400             
Approved by Executive 10th June 2015 10,165           
Approved by Executive 2nd December 2015 (New Homes Bonus) 141                
Approved by Executive 10th Feb 2016 (New Homes Bonus) 7,482             
Approved by Executive 6th December 2017 3,500             
Approved by Executive 21st May 2018 2,609             

84,517           
Capital Funding*:
Approved by Executive 11th February 2015 (general capital receipts) 15,000           
Approved by Executive 10th February 2016 (sale of Egerton Lodge) 1,216             
Approved by Executive 7th November 2017 (Disposal of 72-76 High Street) 4,100             

20,316           

Total Funding Approved: 104,833         

Property Purchase
Approved by Executive 7th September 2011 (95 High St) 1,620Cr          
Approved by Executive 6th December 2012 (98 High St) 2,167Cr          
Approved by Executive 5th June 2013 (72-76 High St) 2,888Cr          
Approved by Executive 12th June 2013 (104 - 108 High St) 3,150Cr          
Approved by Executive 12th February 2014 (147 - 153 High St) 18,755Cr        
Approved by Executive 19th December 2014 (27 Homesdale) 3,938Cr          
Approved by Executive 24th March 2015 (Morrisons) 8,672Cr          
Approved by Executive 15th July 2015 (Old Christchurch) 5,362Cr          
Approved by Executive 15th July 2015 (Tilgate) 6,746Cr          
Approved by Executive 15th December 2015 (Newbury House) 3,307Cr          
Approved by Executive 15th December 2015 (Unit G - Hubert Road) 6,038Cr          
Approved by Executive 23th March 2016 (British Gas Training Centre, Thatcham) 3,666Cr          
Approved by Executive 15th June 2016 (C2 and C3) 6,394Cr          
Approved by Executive 14th March 2017 (Trinity House) 6,236Cr          
Approved by Executive 1st December 2017 (54 Bridge Street, Peterborough) 3,930Cr          

82,869Cr        
Other Schemes
Approved by Executive 20th November 2013 (Queens's Garden) 990Cr             
Approved by Executive 15th January 2014 (Bromley BID Project) 110Cr             
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (BCT Development Strategy) 135Cr             
Approved by Executive 2nd December 2015 (Bromley Centre Town) 270Cr             
Approved by Executive 15th June 2016 (Glades Shopping Centre) 400Cr             
Approved by Executive 11th January 2017 (Disposal of Small Halls site, York Rise) 46Cr               
Approved by Executive 10th July 2019 (Modular Homes at York Rise Site) 3,500Cr          
Approved by Executive 2nd August 2019 (Provision of Housing in Burnt Ash Lane) 3,286Cr          
Valuation for 1 Westmoreland Rd 5Cr                 
Valuation for Biggin Hill - West Camp 10Cr               
Growth Fund Study 170Cr             
Crystal Park Development work 200Cr             
Civic Centre for the future 50Cr               
Strategic Property cost 258Cr             
Total further spending approvals 9,430Cr          

Uncommitted Balance on Investment Fund 12,534           
*Executive have approved the use of specific and general capital receipts to supplement the Investment Fund

Page 77



APPENDIX E - INVESTMENT FUND GROWTH FUND
Growth Fund: £'000

Funding:
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (Transfer from Investment Fund) 10,000           
Approved by Executive 2nd December 2015 6,500             
Approved by Executive 23rd March 2016 6,000             
Approved by Executive 15th June 2016 7,024             
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017 4,000             
Approved by Executive 14th June 2017 3,311             
Approved by Executive 21st May 2018 2,319             
Total funding approved 39,154           

Schemes Approved and Committed 
Approved by Executive 24th March 2015 (Housing Zone Bid (Site G)) 2,700Cr          
Approved by Executive 24th March 2015 ((Site G) - Specialist) 200Cr             
Approved by Executive 18th May 2016 (Feasibility Studies and Strategic Employment Review) 180Cr             
Approved by Executive 18th May 2016 (Broadband Infrastructure Investment) 50Cr               
Approved by Executive 20th Jul 2016 (BID - Penge & Beckenham) 110Cr             
Approved by Executive 1st Nov 2016 (19-25 Market Square) 10,705Cr        
Approved by Executive 1st Nov 2016 (63 Walnuts) 3,804Cr          
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017  (Bromley Town Centre Public Realm Improvement Scheme) 2,844Cr          
Approved by Executive 7th November 2017 (Bromley Town Centre and Public Realm) 464Cr             
Approved by Executive 17th October 2018 (Bromley Town Centre - Mirrored Canopies & Shops) 415Cr             
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017 (Project Officer cost Bromley Town Centre Public Realm improvement 40Cr               
Approved by Executive 22nd March 2017  (Community Initiative) 15Cr               
Approved by Executive 24th May 2017  (Feasbility Works/Property Disposal) 250Cr             
Renewal Team Cost 310Cr             
Approved by Executive 28th November 2018 (Housing Development Feasibility) 100Cr             
Approved by Executive 27th March 2019 (West Wickham BID) 75Cr               
Approved by Executive 21st May 2019 (Specialist advice for setting up local Housing company) 100Cr             
Noted by Executive 12th February 2020 - £1.5m of s106 to replace Growth Fund allocation for Bromley Town 
Centre capital scheme 1,500             
Total further spending approvals 20,862Cr        

Schemes Approved, but not committed
Approved by Executive 26th November 2014 (for Biggin Hill and Cray Valley) 6,790Cr          

Uncommitted Balance on Growth Fund 11,502           

Page 78



APPENDIX G - FEASIBILITY WORKS

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - FEB 2020 

Location Estimated Feasibility / 
Viability Cost (£'000) Description Feb 2020 Status

West Wickham Leisure Centre 35
To fund study to deliver optimal new leisure facilities based on market evidence 
as to rents from third party operators, together with residential development, to 
generate a capital receipt to fund the cost of re-provision of facilities.

Programme in development and consultants now 
instructed. Reporting to Executive in March 2020.

The Glades Department Store 49

To fund work to progress the business case for the development of a new 
Department Store at the Glades Shopping Centre, utilising the Council’s 
business interests at Market Square, so as to improve footfall and therefore 
improve the asset value and return on income derived from the Council's 
ownership of The Glades.

Work progressing with landlord and advisors to future 
proof Glades operation in the event of further 
downturn in retail supply.

The Walnuts Centre 33

To fund work to progress the business case for the development at the Walnuts 
utilising the Council’s interests at and around the Walnuts Centre including the 
Leisure Centre so as to provide larger retail opportunities and improve footfall 
and therefore improve the asset value and return on income derived from the 
Council's ownership of The Walnuts.

Requirement for Orpington masterplan to include 
Walnuts now being progressed with intention to take 
to Executive in May 2020.  New purchaser of Walnuts 
Shopping Centre about to launch Master Plan for 
Regeneration via Public Consultation in March 2020.  
At that stage options for the Council can be 
considered.

Old Town Hall/Civic Centre 44

To fund a review of the Council’s accommodation strategy at the Civic Centre 
based on the addition of the former Town Hall becoming available as part of the 
Council’s property portfolio and how that asset could be utilised as a 
Democratic Centre and associated offices/meeting space.  

Old Town Hall / South St car park site disposed of - 
works progressing with viability of Office 
Accommodation strategy with intention to report to 
Executive in June 2020.

Depots Review - Disposal Options 45
To fund disposal viability studies as to density and permitted development, 
together with initial planning briefs, so as to be in a position to take to market 
after the outcome of the Depot review.

Programme of capital works being developed with 
newly appointed waste contractor.  Some surplus 
sites to be considered for disposal - decision to 
progress due in March 2020.

Biggin Hill Aviation College - Alternative 20
To fund potential alternative site viability studies for Biggin Hill should the 
Council decide not to pursue Area 1 purchase for an Aviation 
College/Enterprise Zone.

C & W valuation to be commissioned in respect of 
potential land acquisition options.  Not progressing at 
this stage - however options to investigate West 
Camp future being investigated.

Libraries (Chislehurst model roll out) 18
To fund the investigation of viability of renewing other library facilities, by 
redeveloping their sites, and using the capital receipt proceeds to develop 
replacement facilities within said schemes. 

Property currently being re-marketed due to failure to 
enter into Development Agreement with previous 
bidder.  2 stage process due in Feb/ April 2020.  
Executive Report due in April or May 2020.

Lease standardisation 6 To fund various studies to create standard T&Cs to the property portfolio. Under review.

TOTAL 250

P
age 79



T
his page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
ES20008 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
 
FULL COUNCIL 
 
For Pre-Decision Scrutiny by the Environment and Community Services 
PDS Committee on: 

Date:  Wednesday 29 January 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Key 

Title: TEC AMENDMENT TO ALLOW LONDON COUNCILS A 
COLLABORATIVE ROLE IN ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING 
INFRASTRUCTURE 
 

Contact Officer: Dan Beckett, Transport Planner 
Tel: 020 8461    E-mail:  Dan.Beckett@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Colin Brand, Director of Environment and Public Protection  

Ward: All Wards  

 
1. Reason for report 

 1.1  To inform Members of the request by London Councils to amend the Transport and 
Environment Committee (TEC) Agreement in order to allow them to continue to perform a 
coordination role in the planning and delivery of electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 
Something that is currently afforded to them by the Go Ultra Low City Scheme (GULCS), which 
is due to end in March 2020. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 That the Environment and Community Services PDS Committee comment on the 
proposal of London Councils to continue performing a coordination role in the field of 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure.  

2.2 The Executive recommends the above to Full Council and Full Council agrees to the 
proposed Transport and Environment Committee (TEC) amendment that is requested. 
Thereby authorising the Director of Environment and Public Protection to sign the 
amendment as required. 

 

Page 81

Agenda Item 8



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: None expected  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy: Supports Outcome 4 of Bromley’s Third Local Implementation 
Plan (LIP). This outcome is focused on improving the air quality and reducing emissions in 
affected areas of the Borough partly through the delivery of electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure.  

   
 

2. BBB Priority: Quality Environment Healthy Bromley  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: No Cost  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Not applicable 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: Not applicable 
 

5. Source of funding: Not applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 1    
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: Around 20 hours to implement the 
amendment.      

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: None: There is no legal requirement for the Council to amend the TEC 
Agreement, nor to liaise with London Councils in relation to EV charging infrastructure. 

 

2. Call-in: Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: Not applicable.   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): There are multiple, complex 
factors that will impact the Council’s ability to introduce electric vehicle charging infrastructure. 
This TEC amendment will assist the Council in gathering data and allow access to the 
procurement framework, however, it is difficult to gauge the precise number of beneficiaries 
based on the TEC amendment alone.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 

Page 82



  

3 

 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? 
 
As this is not an issue that is expected to directly impact wards specifically at this stage, 
Councillors have not been asked for comments. However, the Portfolio Holder has been made 
aware of developments and been present at London Councils meetings where this TEC 
amendment has been discussed. 

 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  Not applicable. 
 

Page 83



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

In 2015, London Councils, Transport for London (TfL) and the Greater London Authority (GLA) 
agreed to jointly bid for funding from the Office for Low Emission Vehicles (OLEV) as part of a 
campaign called the Go Ultra Low City Scheme. This funding was designed to increase the 
provision of EV charging points across the UK. 
 
A number of different city regions received funding, of which London was one. London received 
£13m in funding and the project chose 4 work streams for the scheme: 
 
1) EV charging points for residential areas without off-street parking. 
 
2) EV charging points for car clubs. 
 
3) Rapid EV charging points for businesses and taxis. 
 
4) Neighbourhoods of the Future – a number of area based schemes implementing innovative 
policies designed to encourage the use of ultra-low emission vehicles. 
 
London Councils have been coordinating this project with TfL and the GLA, including the 
development of a procurement framework for EV charging points that London boroughs can use. 
This coordination role will cease to exist in March 2020 when the funding for the GULCS scheme 
officially ends. 
 
The Council has recently submitted a bid to the GULCS scheme for funding to facilitate the  
proposed installation of residential charge points in the Borough. If this bid is successful the 
continuation of the coordination work offered by London Councils would be utilised by the relevant 
Council officers. 
 
It is recognised that there is a need for London Councils to continue to coordinate and support EV 
infrastructure delivery in London after March 2020. This is supported by the findings of the Mayor 
of London’s EV Infrastructure Taskforce, which recommended that a new pan-London EV 
coordination function is created to facilitate and oversee charge point installation. London 
Councils have committed to take this recommendation forward. 
 
London Councils have expressed to Boroughs that they believe they have the knowledge and 
experience required to lead on the delivery of the EV coordination function. Mainly from work to 
date on the GULCS programme, which has supported boroughs to deliver over 1,300 on-street 
charge points, and will provide funding for the delivery of more than 2,000 charge points in total. 
London Councils has established relationships with key stakeholders including the boroughs and 
charge point operators which would make it a logical entity to undertake the coordination function. 
 
For this coordination function to be created and vested in London Councils, there is a need to 
amend the TEC written agreement, that sets out what TEC (and therefore London Councils) can 
work on. This currently does not make provision for London Council’s involvement in EV charge 
infrastructure coordianation as an ongoing function.   
 
A full breakdown of proposed responsibilities for the EV coordination role is attached as an 
appendix and is summarised below: 

1. Act as a first point of contact for London boroughs, the GLA, TfL, existing and new charge 
point operators, and other relevant stakeholders seeking information about charge point 
installation in the capital. 

 

Page 84



  

5 

2. Facilitate sharing of best practice and other relevant information amongst London boroughs 
and other relevant stakeholders. 

 
3. Collate and share information to encourage Londoners to switch to electric vehicles. 

 
4. Liaise with TfL to provide procurement and contract management support to London boroughs 

to support delivery of EV charge points. 
 

5. Oversee delivery of GULCS programme to the end of 2020. 
 

6. Secure and distribute funding to London boroughs for the delivery of on-street charging points. 
 

7. Monitor and support data sharing between charge point operators, London boroughs, TfL and 
other relevant stakeholders. 

 
8. Analyse charge point usage data. Share and promote key findings with relevant stakeholders. 

 
9. Collate and share locations of installed charge points. 

 
10. Monitor customer experience and charging behaviour. 

 
11. Identify funding and partnership opportunities to continue the role of the coordination body 

from 2022.  
 

12. The Council has recently submitted a bid to the GULCS scheme for funding to facilitate the 
proposed installation of residential charge points in the Borough. If this bid is successful the 
continuation of the coordination work offered by London Councils would be utilised by the 
relevant Council officers. 

 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

There is no direct impact expected on vulnerable adults or children. 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Outcome 4 of the Local Implementation Plan is focused on improving the air quality and 
reducing emissions especially within the Borough’s Air Quality Management Area. The policy 
regarding the issue of EV charging infrastructure reads as follows:  

 
“Whilst mode shift to more efficient modes of transport is central to delivering an efficient, low 
carbon transport network, private vehicles will remain necessary for many journeys in the 
Borough that cannot be made by other modes. However, in order to reduce the impact of these, 
the Council will support measures to facilitate the adoption of alternative fuels.” 

 
“Consideration is, therefore, being given to the provision of both standard chargers as part of 
the Source London network in locations that are convenient to a wide catchment of residents, 
as well as lamp column charging infrastructure, which can be delivered cheaply with no need to 
reserve space on-street.” 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 There is no direct cost to the Council 

7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 85



  

6 

 There will be no additional demands of officers. 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

For London Councils to play a direct role in the delivery of EV charging infrastructure the 
London Councils’ Transport and Environment Committee Agreement (LC TEC Agreement) 
needs to be amended. The reason the Agreement needs to be amended is because none of the 
local authorities’ functions relating to EV charging points are currently delegated as functions of 
LC TEC, and the Committee therefore does not currently have the legal authority to undertake 
this function on behalf of the London local authorities. Without all authorities signing the 
variation to the TEC Agreement LC TEC will be unable to take on this new role in leading the 
EV coordination function. 

 
The proposed variation does not provide LC TEC with the power to act as a decision 
maker on behalf of the London local authorities and does not put any borough under 
any obligation to take part in any proposed activity in this area. It simply allows LC 
TEC to take on a limited, collaborative role in relation to electric vehicle charging 
infrastructure. The amendment wording sets out the types of actions that a function 
managed by LC TEC could undertake. The reason the amendment is worded in this 
way is to ensure that further amendments to allow some development of the role would 
not be needed. Any decision making would still need to be agreed by TEC and every 
London local authority would need to agree to participate in any proposed activity. 

 

 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Procurement Implications 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 

 

Page 86



  

1 

Report No. 
DRR20/018 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
 

FOR PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY BY THE RRH PDS  
 

Date:  
RRH PDS: Tuesday 11 February 2020 
Executive: Wednesday 12 February 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Key 
 

Title: CRYSTAL PALACE PARK 
 

Contact Officer: Lydia Lee, Assistant Director Culture and Regeneration 
Tel: 01689 873 826    E-mail:  Lydia.Lee@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Assistant Director Culture and Regeneration 

Ward: Crystal Palace; 

 
1. Reason for report 

To provide a progress update on the regeneration of Crystal Palace Park, and to seek authority 
in relation to taking forward the restoration of the Crystal Palace Subway.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

  
That Members of the RRH PDS: -  

 
2.1  Note the contents of this report and make any comments available to the Executive.  

 
That Members of the Executive: -  

 
2.2 Note the contents of this report, namely information regarding the submission of the 

Regeneration Plan’s Outline Planning Application.  
 
2.3 Subject to obtaining the approval of Full Council, approve the addition of the Subway 

project to the Capital Programme at a cost of £3.141m on the basis of the scheme 
costs being fully funded by grants from the Strategic Investment Pot, Historic 
England, and TfL, and a contribution from the Friends of Crystal Palace Subway. 

 

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: The Regeneration Plan will have a positive impact on vulnerable adults 

and children. The park is an unrestricted public space and leisure facility which is easily 
accessible by public transport and car.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy 
 

2. BBB Priority: Regeneration 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: £3.141m estimated for the Crystal Palace Subway scheme  
 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: New capital programme provision for the Crystal Palace 
Subway scheme; Crystal Palace Park Alternative Management Options capital programme in 
respect of the Regeneration Plan.    

 

4. Total current budget for this head: Capital programme provision of £1.12m in respect of the 
Regeneration Plan. 

 

5. Source of funding: Crystal Palace Subway scheme: grants from the Strategic Investment Pot, 
Historic England and TfL and a contribution from the Friends of Crystal Palace Subway. 
Regeneration Plan: capital receipts  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): N/A   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance 
 

2. Call-in: Applicable 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  The correct procurement process has been 
undertaken to date under advice from the Head of Procurement. This report has no 
procurement considerations. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  A recent survey estimates 
that the park receives 1.4m visits each year. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 

Page 88



  

3 

 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Yes  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  None received however the request for comments 
was made very late by the report author. 

 

Page 89



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1. The detailed background to this report is set out in report no. DRR17/029. 

3.2. At the July 2017 meeting of the Executive, progression of the Crystal Palace Park 
Regeneration Plan and the submission of the Outline Planning Application was 
approved. The report proposed that the costs would be fully met from a combination of 
capital receipts from the sale of housing land and external grants.  In January 2020 the 
Outline Planning Application was finally submitted. This report sets out the current issues 
and next steps in relation to the Crystal Palace Subway. 

Background summary 

3.3. Crystal Palace Park has been in decline for almost 100 years. From its original 
conception the park struggled with mounting costs, and just at the point where its 
fortunes were turning the Crystal Palace burnt down. The destruction of the palace was 
closely followed by the Second World War, and its historic landscape was severely 
damaged as a consequence.  

3.4. Subsequent interventions, such as the introduction of the National Sports Centre, failed 
to regenerate the park long-term, and the park is well-known for the many unsuccessful 
schemes that have been proposed over the years. The London Borough of Bromley took 
responsibility for the park in the 1980s and in the 1990s delivered a grant funded 
restoration project in part of the South of the park, focussed on the Grade I listed 
dinosaurs. Whilst successful at the time, current knowledge about the dinosaurs shows 
that a far more radical approach needs to be taken to ensure their long term future. 

3.5. In 2007 a Masterplan for the park was developed by the then London Development 
Agency (LDA). This Masterplan received planning consent in 2010, however the LDA 
never identified a route for delivery mainly because it was costed at £80m in today’s 
money. Note that this sum relates to the park’s regeneration only and not the 
development and restoration of the National Sports Centre, which was included in the 
Masterplan but costed separately. The planning consent expires later this year on the 
13th December 2020 unless reserved matters are submitted. 

3.6. In 2014 an Improvement Scheme led by LBB was agreed for the park. These works were 
largely funded by a grant and included: the restoration of the sphinxes and south terrace 
steps, dinosaur conservation and interpretation, a new skatepark, a new café, and the 
removal of hard standing and improvements to access. These works have all been 
completed and the café and skatepark have proved incredibly popular. 

3.7. In 2017 a developed Regeneration Plan for the park was presented to Members, to build 
on the momentum of the Improvement Scheme. The Regeneration Plan takes a three 
pronged approach to secure the sustainable future of the park: a capital scheme, a new 
business model and a new approach to governance. 

The Regeneration Plan 

3.8. The Regeneration Plan’s Outline Planning Application has now been submitted. The 
planning application is for the scheme as presented to committee in 2017, the only 
significant change is to the footprint of the maintenance and training building which has 
been designed by Capel Manor. 

3.9. The 2017 version identified a long thin building next to the museum for maintenance and 
training alongside the Ledrington Road site which had been identified in the 2007 
Masterplan as a new location for Capel Manor. Ledrington Road is no longer considered 

Page 90



  

5 

a suitable development site because of the significant engineering costs associated with 
building over a train line therefore this building has been removed from the plan 
completely. Instead Capel Manor has developed plans for the site next to the museum, 
with a revised footprint, complemented by proposed changes to their existing farm site.   

3.10. The significant delay to the submission of the Regeneration Plan has primarily been 
caused by differences in opinion with the Greater London Authority in relation to the 
housing sites. The housing sites – Rockhills and Sydenham Villas – have been designed 
to host 210 units. The sale of this land for housing would be ring fenced to fund the 
park’s regeneration in a mechanism known as enabling development. Surprisingly 
developing these sites for housing will actually lead to a net gain in parkland rather than 
a loss, because both sites are currently inaccessible to the general public. 

3.11. Under normal planning policy, Council owned land developed for housing, should include 
50% affordable, however in the case of enabling development the capital receipt wants to 
be maximised for the community benefit gained by restoring and regenerating the park. 
This principle was established by the 2007 Masterplan. The former Mayor of London Ken 
Livingstone, and the then Secretary of State, stated when granting permission for the 
Masterplan, that due to the special needs of Crystal Palace Park and the importance of 
maximising the proceeds from the housing sites, no element of affordable housing would 
be required. This planning permission as set out in para 3.5 is still extant.  

3.12. The cost of delivering the Regeneration Plan is now estimated at £40m, half the cost of 
the 2007 Masterplan. This includes staffing, legal and planning costs incurred by the 
Council, alongside contingency, inflation over the next five years, fees, and a park 
endowment in addition to the actual works. This estimate has increased by approximately 
£10m since the estimated costs were reported in 2017. The primary reasons for the 
increase are that quotes have been obtained for the key works and are higher than 
anticipated (particularly in relation to the terraces), further knowledge on the condition of 
the dinosaur landscape has more than doubled the likely cost of their conservation and 
the delays have also cost money both due to inflation and the continuing deterioration of 
the historic fabric. 

3.13. The value of the housing land is estimated at £24m. Given that the cost of the scheme is 
estimated at £40m it is imperative that the housing land value is maximised, to reduce 
the challenge of bridging the gap. The three main grant funding sources are the National 
Lottery Heritage Fund, the National Lottery Community Fund and Historic England. The 
Council may be able to secure in the region of £8m from these funders. Therefore a 
funding gap is currently forecast, however this will be better understood once the housing 
sites have gone to market and their value is known rather than estimated.  

3.14. Consequently LBB will continue to make the case during the planning determination 
period as to why zero affordable housing should be accepted in this instance, and has 
set out through the enabling case why very special circumstances apply.   

3.15. If all the monies to deliver the full Regeneration Plan cannot be secured the Council will 
either look at options to deliver part of the Regeneration Plan, as long as planning 
conditions in relation to the housing receipts allow, or it will not be implemented. 

3.16. The capital regeneration includes the full repair of the dinosaurs, new playgrounds, a new 
information centre, restoration of the terraces, new entrances and paths improving 
accessibility, new lighting, infrastructure repairs eg drainage, new car parks, and high 
quality horticulture. The works will transform the park and restore the historic assets, 
however they are modest. None of the grand and costly ideas of the original Masterplan 

Page 91



  

6 

are included e.g. the large new greenhouses. Importantly the works fully support the 
business model by creating new accessible spaces that can host significant events 

3.17. It should be noted, as set out in para 3.55 within report no. DRR17/029, that whilst there 
is no expectation of requesting any significant funding from the Council to bridge the 
forecast gap, it is likely that the Council will need to demonstrate an element of match 
funding for the grant bids. However, the enabling development approach allows for 
money spent by the Council to date to develop the scheme to be included in the overall 
costs that can be recovered from the housing development’s capital receipts. Therefore 
the £40m project cost of the Regeneration Plan tentatively includes a reimbursement to 
the Council of the £1.12m committed to progress to the Outline Planning Application 
stage thus far. Any match funding required would be within the £1.12m, effectively 
recycling the monies spent to date. 

3.18. Once the Outline Planning Application is approved a report will be brought to the 
Executive setting out next steps in relation to Reserved Matters, and seeking authority to 
take the housing sites to market. 

 The Crystal Palace Park Trust 

3.19. The Shadow Board has now become a constituted Trust and they are currently going 
through the process of securing charitable status. The Trust has worked closely with the 
Council to progress the Regeneration Plan to this point. 

3.20. Given the likely time period of five years to implement the Regeneration Plan following 
planning approval, the Trust is keen to look at other ways in which they can start taking a 
lead role in the park, rather than waiting for the capital scheme to be completed before 
taking their potential role as the new governing body for the park. 

3.21. Therefore officers are working with the Trust to explore the potential of the Trust taking 
responsibility for the park’s events programme within the next 18 months. Events are a 
key part of the future sustainability of the park and are identified as a primary source of 
income in the new business model. Therefore it would be a sensible step forward to 
enable the Trust to start developing a new events programme for the park. 

The Crystal Palace Subway 

3.22. As set out in report no. DRR19/058 in 2019 officers made an application to the Strategic 
Investment Pot for a grant of £2.34m to restore the Grade II* Subway. The grant 
application had at that time been recommended for approval and since then the grant 
has been confirmed, 25% of the grant monies will shortly be transferred to the Council up 
front of the work commencing.   

3.23. The total cost of restoration is estimated at £3.141m. This estimate is inclusive of all 
costs including fees, and is based on a detailed condition survey and cost plan work 
undertaken in 2014 with a prudent 48.5% inflation added due to the specialist nature of 
the structure, 10% contingency added and 5% dilapidation costs added.  

3.24. Therefore an additional £801k is forecast to be required to progress the scheme. The 
Friends of Crystal Palace Subway are contributing £5k and the Council’s Highways team 
are applying for £296k from Transport for London. The stability of the Subway is linked to 
the stability of Crystal Palace Parade and they have previously given grant monies for 
strengthening works on this site. 

3.25. The remaining £500k required is expected to be awarded by Historic England. Officers 
are engaged in detailed discussions in relation to this grant award and have been given 

Page 92



  

7 

as much certainty as is reasonable that this grant application will be successful. However 
because of the terms of their grants the grant application has to be made in two stages. 

3.26. Firstly the Council is required to go out to tender for the conservation architect-led team 
to review the current condition and produce detailed drawings as well as a specification 
for works. This has been done. Once the Council has completed the procurement 
process and is ready to award the contract, the Council can apply to Historic England for 
50% of the cost of this first phase of work. This first phase of work is expected to cost in 
the region of £250k, therefore the grant from Historic England is likely to be around 
£125k in the first instance. 

3.27. Then, once this work is completed, the Council is required to go out to tender for the 
actual works contract. Again, once the Council has completed the procurement process 
and is ready to award the works contract, the Council can apply to Historic England for a 
further grant to fund the restoration work itself. Historic England has indicated that in 
total, over the two phases, they will support a grant application of £500k. Therefore the 
second grant is likely to be in the region of £375k. 

3.28. This two phased grant process does create risk, as there is always the possibility that the 
first phase is completed, and money spent, and then the remaining grant monies needed 
for works are not fully secured. However this has already been mitigated to a degree by 
the prudent nature of the cost forecast, and other measures could be undertaken to 
reduce the costs of the works themselves. For example not reinstating the glass roof, 
which is currently debateable anyway for security and maintenance reasons, although 
the cost has been allowed for in the forecast at this time. 

3.29. Once the restoration is complete the Subway is planned to become a new cultural 
destination for South London. This use for the historic building was originally set out in 
the 2007 Masterplan and has been carried in to the Regeneration Plan. An outline 
business case was produced as part of the SIP grant application demonstrating its 
suitability for events and temporary outdoor exhibitions. The restoration will also allow the 
Council to progress the potential of engaging a commercial partner for the site, who 
would fund the cost of ancillary visitor facilities at ground level linked through to the 
Subway, creating further prospects for the site. 

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

4.1  The Regeneration Plan, which includes the restoration of the Subway, will have a positive 
impact on vulnerable adults and children. The park is an unrestricted public space and 
leisure facility, which is easily accessible by public transport and car. 

 
4.2  The park is designed for public enjoyment and education, and includes the popular 

dinosaurs which are a unique London attraction. The Regeneration Plan will improve 
access and public enjoyment and will increase the amount of high quality freely 
accessible public land within the park. The park provides green space for many local 
families who do not have access to gardens of their own. 

 
5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The park is shown with various designations and policies in the Local Plan and the 
London Plan). There is an outline planning permission in place for the 2007 Masterplan, 
which has established the planning principles. 

 

Page 93



  

8 

5.2 The Regeneration Plan requires a separate planning consent. The approach that has 
been taken has been to submit an Outline Planning Application for the whole scheme, 
with detailed reserved matters to follow specific to the delivery phases. 

 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

 Regeneration Plan  

 6.1 The cost of progressing the Regeneration Plan to the submission of the outline planning 
application is funded from within the Capital Programme provision of £1.12m approved 
by the Executive on 19 July 2017 (report no. DRR17/029). This was on the basis that the 
Regeneration Plan itself would be self-financing i.e. that the total costs of the scheme 
including capital works, fees and support would in the main be met by funding generated 
from capital receipts from land sales and external grants and contributions. 

 6.2 The latest cost estimate is now £40m. However, current funding projections estimate 
capital receipts of £24m with income from grants of £8m i.e. total potential funding 
available of £32m. Whilst officers will continue to seek additional sources of funding and 
to maximise capital receipts from the land sales, options will be developed to deliver 
elements of the Regeneration Plan within the total resources generated from the Plan 
and there is no expectation for further significant Council funding, notwithstanding the 
potential requirement for an element of costs already incurred to provide match funding 
to leverage in grants. 

 6.3 Once the total funding available from capital receipts and grants has been determined, 
cost estimates will be finalised and options developed to deliver a self-financing 
Regeneration Plan. Financial modelling will also be undertaken to explore the potential 
impact of key financial risks and potential changes to any key assumptions, such as land 
values. Cash flow forecasting will also help inform the treasury management impacts 
from any short-term financing deficits. A further report will then be submitted to the 
Executive setting out those options and scheme details for approval and including in the 
Capital Programme as part of the Council’s capital strategy process. 

Crystal Palace Subway 
 
6.4 The estimated cost of the restoration is £3.141m, to potentially be funded as follows: 
 

Strategic Investment Pot  £2.340m 
Historic England grant  £0.500m 
TfL (highway works)  £0.296m 
Friends Group   £0.005m 
Total     £3.141m 

 
The Strategic Investment Pot funding is secured as reported to the Executive on 16 
October 2019 (report no. DRR19/058), with an advance of 25% expected in the near 
future. 

 
6.5 The funding application to TfL to complete the highways stability works is being 

progressed. The Historic England grant is expected to be awarded but confirmation is 
subject to the tendering and procurement process set out above. This process does 
create risk to the Council from the need to spend money in order to progress the scheme 
and the grant application which potentially will not be confirmed until after those 
commitments have been made.  

 

Page 94



  

9 

6.6 In order to progress the scheme, an addition to the Capital Programme of £3.141m is 
required on the basis that this will be fully funded by grants and contributions. At this 
stage, this will enable the Council to progress the initial stages of the project to facilitate 
the works to be grant funded by the Strategic Investment Pot and Historic England only. 
This is expected to cost £0.250m.  

 
6.7 No further costs will be committed until the outcome of the grant applications from 

Historic England and TfL have been confirmed. At that stage, a further report will be 
submitted setting out final scheme costs and sources of funding, and confirming the total 
capital programme provision.  

  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1 The council has various legal powers available to hold and develop its landholdings and 
buildings including parks. 

7.2 The report provides members with an update of the regeneration of Crystal Palace Park 
Project. It also seeks an endorsement of a decision to spend monies to progress the 
restoration of the Crystal Palace Subway and to include the cost of stage one of this 
project in the Councils capital programme. 

7.3 The report notes the point reached with regard to planning and sets out various options 
and scenarios which will need to be properly appraised and developed as the project 
evolves. Officers will l need to obtain legal advice as appropriate including compliance 
with  procurement rules, Contract Procedure  Rules, grant conditions and any land and 
highways  related issues . 

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel implications; procurement implications. 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Crystal Palace Park: Regeneration Plan, July 2017, 
DRR17/029 
Strategic investment Pot, October 2019, DRR19/058  

 

Page 95



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
DRR20/008  

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   
Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 

For decision scrutiny by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing Policy, 
Development and scrutiny Committee on 21st January 2020 

Date:  21st January 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent  
 

Executive  
 

Non-key  
 

Title: HOUSING STRATEGY 2019-2029 

Contact Officer: Tracey Wilson, Head of Compliance & Strategy, Planning & Regeneration 
Tel: 020 8313 4515   E-mail:  Tracey.Wilson@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Sara Bowrey, Director Housing Planning and Regeneration 
Tel 0208 313 4013 Email: sara.bowrey@bromley.gov.uk  

Ward: (All Wards); 

 
1. Reason for report 

The Council has developed a new draft housing strategy (a summary of which is contained in 
Appendix 2 of this report) to take account of major changes in the housing sector and wider 
demographic and economic changes. The strategy addresses the key challenges of increased 
housing demand, rising costs pressures in relation to homelessness and provision of temporary 
accommodation, growth and regeneration in the borough. Following Executive approval, the 
Council has undertaken public consultation on the aims of the draft strategy with key 
stakeholders including housing associations, developers, tenants and residents. The Executive 
is now being asked to review responses to the consultation and approve a final version of the 
Housing Strategy which can be found on Bromley’s website. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

The RR&H PDS are asked to: 

i) Note the findings from the housing strategy consultation and thereafter an action plan will be 
prepared to deliver agreed outcomes.  

The Executive are asked to: 

i) Approve, subject to final formatting, the final draft of the housing strategy and findings from 
the housing strategy consultation  

ii)  Delegate authority to the Director Housing, Planning & Regeneration to finalise the action 
plan to implement and deliver the strategy

Page 97

Agenda Item 10



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: The initiatives and priorities set out within the housing strategy seek to 

ensure that vulnerable adults and young people are supported to remain in their own homes 
wherever possible or to secure alternative suitable and sustainable accommodation solutions.  

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: New Policy:  The Housing Strategy supports the existing priorities to address 
housing need and homelessness. It does however propose a number of new innovative 
approaches to achieving affordable housing supply 

 

2. BBB Priority: Quality Environment Supporting Independence Regeneration:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Not Applicable:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Operational Housing 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £7.9m 
 

5. Source of funding: Council’s General Fund 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  N/A  
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Non-Statutory - Government Guidance: The Housing Strategy supports the 
delivery of a number of statutory requirements in relation to housing duties 

 

2. Call-in: Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:  N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  There are approximately 
331,000 residents living in an estimated 141,000 households. This figure is likely to increase by 
more than 6% during the period of the new housing strategy. During the past year Bromley 
received approaches from around 3,000 households at risk of homelessness. There are 
currently approximately 1600 households living in temporary accommodation of which around 
900 are in forms of costly and insecure nightly paid accommodation. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

Page 98



  

3 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments?  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        
 

Page 99



  

4 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 It has been a number of years since Bromley has had an overarching Housing Strategy. With 
the adoption of the Bromley Local Plan and the publication of the Councils Homelessness 
Strategy it is timely to also produce a new housing strategy to sit alongside the suite of 
corporate strategies which set out the Council’s aspirations and plans for Bromley over the 
coming years.  

3.2  Bromley faces a number of significant challenges in relation to housing, including increased 
housing need, rising homelessness and use of temporary accommodation - pressures that are 
set to continue for a number of years. 

3.3 The housing transformation programme provides an opportunity to address these challenges 
and significantly reduce the current cost pressures in relation to homelessness and provision of 
temporary accommodation. The housing strategy sets out what the Council plans to do over the 
next ten years to address housing pressures in the borough, and provide good quality, safe 
housing for its residents. 

3.4 The new draft housing strategy has therefore been developed with the following four strategic 
objectives: 

 More homes – increasing the number of homes in Bromley 

 Better quality, more affordable homes  

 Preventing and tackling homelessness 

 Supporting vulnerable people  
 

3.5 Investing in housing will, in the longer term, reduce the financial demands on the public purse. 
Having a secure home in a decent condition is pivotal to an individual’s health, safety, 
educational attainment, employability and mental wellbeing.  Without it, all these are put at 
severe risk.  Residential development also contributes towards the regeneration and prosperity 
of an area, providing Council Tax income, support for local businesses and contributions 
towards community facilities. Good housing design enhances the local environment for 
everyone. 

 
3.6 The draft housing strategy was developed using a range of sources to compile a 

comprehensive evidence base to inform the priorities and actions proposed. Issues and 
potential solutions were then explored with a range of stakeholders including local residents, 
business organisations, housing associations, private landlords and representatives from the 
voluntary and community sector, as well as council officers from every department and at all 
levels, from the Chief Executive to frontline staff.   

 
3.7  Public consultation took place between the 27th August 2019 and 21st October 2019.  

3.8  The Executive is being asked to consider and approve a final version of the Strategy which 
takes into account the outcomes of the consultation exercise. The strategy document contains 
the recommended actions that are required in order to achieve each objective. 

3.9 Once adopted, an action plan will be developed to drive the delivery of the priorities set out in 
the Housing Strategy. This will be reviewed annually to provide the opportunity to respond to 
any emerging trends including changes in the housing market and levels of housing need. 

 
3.10 Lead officers will report progress against their actions on a quarterly basis and this report will be 

scrutinised by the Housing Strategy Implementation Board.  The Board will then report each 
quarter to the Chief Executive and the Corporate Leadership Team on an exception basis. 

 

Page 100



  

5 

3.11 The Director of Housing, Planning & Regeneration will also report progress to the Portfolio 
Holder for Renewal, Recreation & Housing on a quarterly basis.   

 
3.12 A short report will be published annually, to inform the public about progress.  
 
3.13 Overall there were 75 responses to the consultation exercise. 76% responses received were 

from residents. The remaining 24% were professionals that included private landlords, 
statutory/non statutory agencies, charities and council staff.  

 
4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

4.1 The initiatives and priorities set out within the housing strategy will seek to ensure that 
vulnerable adults and young people are supported to remain in their own homes wherever 
possible to secure alternative suitable and sustainable accommodation solutions.  

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1    Housing objectives are set out within the relevant Departmental business plans:  
 
5.2 The new housing strategy will set the strategic framework ensuring objectives are compliant 

with the statutory framework within which the Council’s Housing function must operate and 
incorporates both national targets and priorities identified from the findings of review, audits and 
stakeholder consultation 

 
5.3 The spatial expression of the housing strategy is provided by the Local Plan. The Affordable 

Housing Supplementary Planning Document (SDP) sets out the Council’s current approach to 
securing affordable housing. The SDP will be updated as required during the life of the strategy 
to ensure that the approach reflects planning policy, market decisions and demand. 
 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. The pressures faced in 
relation to increasing homelessness and temporary accommodation have been widely reported. 
Any financial implications arising from the priorities contained within the Housing Strategy will be 
reported to Members alongside the established budget monitoring and performance monitoring 
reports.  

7. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1   Pursuant to section 8 of the Housing Act 1985 there is a duty on local housing authorities to 
consider housing conditions and the needs of the district with respect of the provision of further 
housing accommodation. 

7.2 Pursuant to the Equality Act 2010, the Council has a duty to have ‘due regard’ to eliminating 
unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or 
under the Act; advancing equality of opportunity between persons with a protected 
characteristics and those without; and foster good relations between persons with protected 
characteristics and those without. 

Non-Applicable Sections: Procurement 
Personnel  

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Appendix 1: Draft Housing Strategy Consultation Summary  
Appendix 2: Draft Housing Strategy Summary 

 

Page 101



This page is left intentionally blank



 

1 
 

Appendix 1: Consultation Feedback Summary: 
 
 
 

Introduction 
The purpose of this report is to provide a summary of the comments and feedback received 
during the consultation period. The final stage public consultation commenced on the 27th 
August 2019 and closed on 21st October 2019. All comments have been analysed and will 
be used to inform the strategy implementation action plan.  

 
 
 

Summary 
75 consultees responded to the online survey and 77% of consultees advised that they are 
residents of Bromley Borough, the remaining responses were from Housing Associations, 
Private Landlords, Letting Agents, Healthcare, Education, members of staff at Bromley 
Council and Councillors of Bromley Council. 85% of consultees confirmed that they 
understood what the strategy is trying to achieve, whilst 68% supported the four proposed 
priorities (below) 

 
 

 More homes – increasing the number of homes in Bromley 

 Better quality, more affordable homes  

 Preventing and tackling homelessness 

 Supporting vulnerable people 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Resident of
the

borough

Member of
staff

Housing
Association

Other Private
Landlord

Letting
agent

Healthcare Education Councillor
of Bromley

Council

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
o

n
su

lt
e

e
s 

 

Respondents 

Page 103



 

2 
 

In terms of the four key priorities that have been proposed, consultees felt that preventing 
and tackling homelessness was the most important priority as this would then help to 
indirectly address the other priorities that have been identified. 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
Location of homes 
95% of people who completed the survey felt that more homes should be built. Few favoured 
using green belt land, but the majority of people felt that infill sites (the use of vacant or 
underutilised sites within existing developments), empty properties and brownfield land 
should be used to provide more homes in the first instance. 

 

 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

More Homes - increasing
the number

Better Quality/More
Affordable homes

Preventing & Tackling
Homelessness

Supporting Vulnerable
People

O
d

e
r 

o
f 

im
p

o
rt

an
ce

 (
%

) 

Housing Strategy - Key Priorities 

Green belt land 
6% 

Brownfield land 
25% 

Infill sites / 
Empty 

properties 
69% 

Building Development Type - Preferred option (%) 

Page 104



 

3 
 

Type of homes 
A number of recommendations were made including; supported housing, social housing, 
private housing, student accommodation, lifetime/adapted housing. Some of the 
suggestions put forward mentioned that there was a need for affordable one bedroom 
properties to accommodate downsizing opportunities for those that are under occupying. It 
was felt that this would also help to address sofa surfing and to assist adult children who are 
unable to move out of their family homes due to affordability. The proportion of young 
people in Britain aged 20 to 34 who live with their parents has risen from 19.48% in 1997 
equating to 2.4 million people, to 25.91% in 2017 equating to 3.4 million people. 

A number of responses recommended that Bromley Council should own any new build 
properties; as opposed to housing associations and that any new build properties should be 
dispersed throughout the borough so they would not be concentrated within the same 
areas.   

It was generally felt that more houses not high-rise flats should be built and these should 
also be lifetime homes. Concerns were highlighted about the high rental levels and the need 
to ensure there is relevant affordable housing, including; social, affordable rents and private 
rented properties particularly in more deprived areas.  

 

Considerations 
Consultees felt that the needs of certain groups of people, for example; people with 
disabilities or the elderly should be assessed when considering whether or not to build and 
where to develop. The infrastructure that was highlighted as necessary to be considered 
and incorporated into any housing development plans included the location of: hospitals, 
drug & alcohol services, face-to-face advice centres, GP’s, Community centres, specialist 
mental health services, educational facilities, water, waste, police and fire services. 

The transport links; roads, the Bakerloo line proposals and trams were highlighted as 
necessary for additional housing to be considered in specific areas. If enhanced they could 
also potentially increase employment in the borough which also increases the likelihood for 
residents to be able to buy a property.  

The results highlighted a need to better understand the complex needs of residents in order 
to provide appropriate housing suitable for specific needs. It was reported that there needs 
to be increased opportunities for the charitable sector to be involved in planning processes 
as well as ensuring Members are provided with all of the information including pressures 
and challenges for the Council in order to inform planning applications.  

Page 105



 

4 
 

 

 
 
 

Recommendations from the respondents of the consultation 
Several suggestions were made about Section 106 contributions and how this should be 
utilised; 
It should be used in more accessible areas, rather than create exclusive social housing 
clusters which could cause culture division.   
 
Setting Section 106 contributions aside for homeless persons accommodation 
 
It was proposed that downsizing in housing association accommodation for those that are 
under occupying their property should be imposed, providing support and assistance to 
help tenants with the process and cost 
 
To implement a skills commissioning plan/ MCA / workforce development strategy 
incorporating the London Living wage as well as building contracts that produce good 
quality homes.  

 
There were also recommendations for more partnership working to increase development 
of properties, and the opportunity for affordable lettings with all types of landlords. This 
follows the seven principles set by Housing First England.  

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

N
u

m
b

e
r 

(%
) 

Considerations 

Page 106

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/economic-development-strategy-2018_1.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/business-and-economy/london-living-wage
https://hfe.homeless.org.uk/resource/principles-housing-first


 

5 
 

The CIH report Building Bridges September 2017 was referred to and the general 
responses mirror these recommendations.   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107

http://www.cih.org/publication-free/display/vpathDCR/templatedata/cih/publication-free/data/Building_Bridges_Full_Report


 

6 
 

Conclusion 
In summary, the people that completed the survey agreed that additional housing is required 
in Bromley, but the wider picture needs to be considered; 

 More homes are required –concern was raised about the number of people 
located in temporary housing placed outside of borough  

 Types of homes – analysis of what type and size of accommodation is required 
for older persons, supported housing for people with a range of issues, such as 
autism, mental health issues, disabled adapted accommodation etc  

 Innovation – make use of emerging technologies – modular homes 

 Affordability – ability for the ‘next generation’ to be able to afford to live and work 
in Bromley  

 Planning Processes – transparency, ease of contact to ask questions at an early 
stage  

 Community – any developments should consider impact on local residents, 
infrastructure for example; health, education, transport, parking etc. 

The results of the consultation process were positive, confirming that that the proposed 
priorities are correct. Careful consideration needs to be given to what type of housing is 
developed, where it is located and how it fits the needs of the immediate as well as the wider 
community.  

Many young people who aspire to live independently and work in Bromley are unable to do 
so because of the cost of renting and buying. 

The needs of older persons were also mentioned. The results from the housing needs survey 
carried out last year found that the majority of older people would like to remain in their 
homes for as long as possible and this will only be achievable with ‘lifetime homes’.  Lifetime 
Homes are ordinary homes that incorporate 16 design criteria such as a car parking 
width/accessibility, entrances, doorways, halls, should allow access for pushchairs, 
wheelchairs, entrance level WC and drainage etc. 

Investing in housing will in the longer term, reduce the financial demands on the public purse. 
Good quality, affordable housing is required and for specific supported housing, it must be 
well designed, accessible and safe taking into account the needs of the people that may live 
there. 

More social housing that is affordable is required and consultees felt that Bromley Council 
should own and manage any properties that are developed. 

It was widely agreed that more housing is required but consultees feel that the greenbelt land 
in Bromley is a massive attribute for a London Borough and they do not want the overall 
picture of Bromley to disappear.  

A comment made in the survey stated: ‘focus on building homes, not units’. This 
encompasses what the Housing Strategy needs to accomplish. Consideration needs to be 
given to what will most positively impact the community of Bromley as a whole, taking into 
account its residents and their needs. 

Page 108

http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/
http://www.lifetimehomes.org.uk/


 

Housing Strategy 2019 to 2029 
Draft for consultation 

 
 

 

Housing Strategy 2019-29 Draft for consultation www.bromley.gov.uk/housing 

 
1 

 

Setting the scene 

● Bromley is experiencing severe housing pressures.  

● Although the borough has managed to deliver slightly above its current target for new homes 

in recent years, demand for housing dramatically outstrips supply due to: 

○ high house prices 

○ increasing rents  

● Homelessness applications are increasing, and the need for affordable homes, particularly 

those at a social rent, is growing all the time.  

 
About Bromley and our residents 

● 59 square miles - largest London borough 

● 8th most populated borough in London 

● 331,000 (approx) residents living in an estimated 141,000 households -  

○ 9% increase in population since 2001 

○ 6% predicted growth by 2027 

○ Estimated to increase to 393,000 in next 20 years 

● Ageing population -  

○ 2017 - 17% aged 65+ 

○ 2022 - 18% aged 65+ 

○ 2027 - 19% aged 65+ 

● 78% of 16-64 year olds in employment 

● 2nd lowest out of work benefit claimant count in London 

Housing in Bromley 

Ownership  

● 14% socially rented  

○ London average - 23% 

○ Lower than anywhere else in London  

○ 80% owned by Clarion 

● 73% privately owned  

○ London average - 50%  

● 14% private rented sector  

○ London average - 27%  

Page 109



 

 

Housing Strategy 2019-29 Draft for consultation 2 of 4 

 

Sections of the population 

● Ageing population -  

○ 3,500 sheltered or retirement housing units 

○ 6 extra care schemes 

● 5 traveller sites -  

○ 2 council-run  

○ 3 privately-run  

● Largest settled traveller populations in the UK 

Housing Overview 2018/19 

● 3,457 households on the Housing Register 

○ up from 3,332 in May 2018 

● 2,940 households approached the Council as Homeless the Council 

○ 302 were deemed homeless and accepted onto the Housing Register 

Building and development  

● Bromley Local Plan (2019) -  

○ average of 700 new homes per year until 2030 

● Strategic Housing Market Assessment (2014) -  

○ calculated potential need for approx. 1,320 new homes per year  

● Draft London Plan (out for consultation) 

○ sets new target at 1,424 new homes per year 

Priorities for housing 

    

More homes 
increasing the number 
of homes in Bromley 

Better quality, more 
affordable homes  

Preventing 
and tackling 

homelessness 

Supporting 
vulnerable people 

 

Page 110



 

 

Housing Strategy 2019-29 Draft for consultation 3 of 4 

 

More homes increasing the number of homes in Bromley  

We will: 

● Support the building of 10,605+ new homes by 2030 

● Develop 1,000 new homes on council-owned land or acquired sites by 2022 

● Ensure developments supported with infrastructure - roads, transport, education, health 

& community facilities 

● Review opportunities in the renewal areas:  

○ Crystal Palace, Penge and Anerley, Bromley Common, The Cray Valley, Orpington, 

Mottingham and Ravensbourne, Plaistow and Sundridge 

● Achieve affordable housing targets set out in Local Plan 

● Use s106* housing contributions effectively to maximise delivery of affordable housing 

Better quality, more affordable homes 

We will: 

● Revise the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (2008)  

● Agree a target of additional affordable homes to be built by 2030*  

● Review the exceptional circumstances that allow the affordable housing targets in the 

Local Plan to be waived  

● Ensure 80%+ of homes in Bromley-led developments are for affordable rent and offered 

to households on the Housing Register 

● Support housing associations to develop more affordable housing  

● Improve standards and security of tenure in the affordable and private rented sector 

● Increase the number of private landlords signed up to accept tenants from our waiting list 

Preventing and tackling homelessness 

We will: 

● Reduce: 

○ number of households in temporary accommodation 

○ proportion of households in nightly paid temporary accommodation  

○ number of homeless applications through early intervention and support 

○ number of parental evictions through proactive support to families 

● Deliver an awareness raising campaign to increase access to early intervention and private 

sector accommodation 

Page 111



 

 

Housing Strategy 2019-29 Draft for consultation 4 of 4 

 

● Increase supply of self-contained temporary accommodation, with a view to eliminating 

the use of units with shared facilities 

Supporting vulnerable people 

We will: 

● Use multi-disciplinary approach to commissioning services 

● Increase the amount of accommodation available to people with specialist needs - such 

as mental health issues, physical and learning disabilities 

● Encourage developers to include specialist homes for older people in their schemes 

● Develop information-sharing protocols with other local authorities so that households 

moving there can be provided with appropriate support straight away 

● House every child leaving care within the borough -  

○ unless they have suitable support elsewhere  

Delivering this strategy 

20 key measures will monitor our progress in delivering the targets and actions 

● Targets will be reviewed and set annually 

Equalities impact assessment to be published  

● Action plan to be developed 

Regular reporting systems 

● Including a short annual public report 

 

Want to know more? 

Visit www.bromley.gov.uk/housing 

Email housing.compliance@bromley.gov.uk 

 

Page 112



  

1 

Report No. 
DRR20-001 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: Executive  
 
For Pre-Decision Scrutiny by the Renewal,  Recreation and 
Housing PDS Committee on 21st January 2020 

Date:  12 February 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  Non-Key 
 

Title: TENANCY SUPPORT SERVICES FOR HOMELESS PEOPLE 
 

Contact Officer: Lynnette Chamielec, Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 0208 313 4009 E-mail:  Lynnette.Chamielec@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Sara Bowrey: Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration 

Ward: (All Wards); 

 
1. Reason for report 

  
1.1 The Council currently engages two contracts to supply accommodation based and floating 

support services for vulnerable homeless people:  

 The first contract is provided by Evolve. This provides accommodation based support.  

 The second contract is provided by Hestia. This provides floating support and specialist 
accommodation based support for ex-offenders. 

1.2 Both contracts are due to expire on the 30th of September 2020. All extension options available 
in the contracts have been exhausted. This report is requesting authorisation to extend these 
contracts via an exemption to competitive tendering for a period of up to 6 months in order to 
allow for the services to be amalgamated and re-tendered as one contract.   

1.3 The value of the Evolve contract is £198k per annum; £99k for 6 months.  The value of the 
Hestia contract is £195k per annum; £97.5k for 6 months. 

 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 The Renewal, Recreation and Housing PDS Committee are asked to note and comment 
on the contents and recommendations contained within this report. 

Page 113

Agenda Item 11



  

2 

 
2.2 Executive is recommended to authorise a six month extension to 31 March 2021 for 
both contracts, via exemption from competitive tendering, to enable the services to be 
amalgamated and put out to tender.  The combined estimated value of the extension is 
£196.5k. 

Page 114



  

3 

 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Supporting Independence:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Estimated Cost up to £197k:  
 

2. Ongoing costs: Not Applicable:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Housing Supporting People 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £1,004k 
 

5. Source of funding: Existing revenue budget 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): N/A    
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A    
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  
 

2. Call-in: Applicable:   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 
 
  There are currently in the region of 1600 households in temporary accommodation. 
 
        The Evolve contract provides accommodation and support to 41 single person households for 

(on average) a period of up to 2 years as part of a supported housing pathway and an 
alternative to nightly paid temporary accommodation enabling the Council to fulfill its statutory 
rehousing obligations.  Evolve provide access to 2 x emergency out of hours units which allows 
immediate access to safe and managed emergency accommodation for households in crisis 
thus avoiding use of hotel or bed and breakfast accommodation. 

 
        The Hestia contract provides accommodation and support to 9 ex-offenders and floating support 

for (up to) 100 tenants who have been identified as vulnerable and requiring support to maintain 
existing social tenancies, reducing the pressure on housing services and helping to ensure that 
the number of presentations from households losing their tenancies remains low.   

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Yes  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:   
 

Page 115



  

4 

Cllr Morgan, Ward Member for Plaistow and Sundridge and Portfolio Holder for Renewal, 
Recreation and Housing highlighted concerns regarding issues of anti-social behaviour which 
have occurred and which have or are perceived to have been linked to residents at Charles 
Darwin and Lewis King House and the impact that this has had on local residents and retailers. 
He would welcome any changes to the service that would enhance the management of the 
accommodation and allow for any issues to be logged and responded to promptly. He also 
advised that it would be appreciated, if changes are proposed, that prior notice and consultation 
with the ward councillors be undertaken.  These views were supported by Cllr Allatt, Ward 
Member for Plaistow and Sundridge.  
 

 

Page 116



  

5 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The Homelessness Act places a legal duty on Councils so that anyone who is homeless or at 
risk of homelessness will have access to meaningful help as long as they are eligible for 
assistance. For those to whom the Council owes a statutory rehousing duty, the legislation 
also sets out clear criteria on the suitability of accommodation and support that must be 
provided to enable households to sustain that accommodation. The two contracts in question 
provide in borough accommodation based and floating support to vulnerable households. 
Evolve are based in Sundridge Park and the accommodation aspect of the Hestia contract is 
based in Crystal Palace. 

 
3.2 The Evolve Scheme has been in place since 1st October 2014 and provides supported housing 

for 41 homeless people in Charles Darwin House and Lewis King House.  Please note that the 
initial contract was awarded to the South London YMCA. On the 22nd of July 2015 a special 
resolution was passed and the company adopted the name Evolve Housing and Support. The 
accommodation is owned by the Riverside Housing Group who are a Registered Provider 
(RP). The service users referred to the service are vulnerable, single homeless people who 
the Council has a duty to re-house. The scheme also provides two emergency rooms which 
enable the Council to place households who approach in a crisis out of hours. This is a direct 
alternative to hotel or bed and breakfast accommodation. Support staff provide a permanent 
on site presence.  
 

3.3 The accommodation provided by Hestia has been in place since 1st October 2016 and offers 
support and accommodation for up to 9 ex-offenders. Support staff are based at the scheme 
during the day with a concierge service overnight. The owner of the property in which the 
scheme is located is The Home Group who are a registered provider (RP). This 
accommodation is used as a direct alternative to nightly paid temporary accommodation as 
part of a rehousing pathway for ex-offenders. 
 

3.4 The floating support element that is provided by Hestia is designed to avoid tenants in general 
needs social housing losing their existing tenancies. This has a positive impact on reducing 
the pressure on housing services and ensuring that the number of presentations from 
households losing their social housing tenancies remains low. The service is not a frontline 
homelessness service, but a short term service designed to intervene prior to crisis in order to 
resolve problems and prevent escalation. Under the terms of the contract Hestia are required 
to support up to 100 tenants at any one time. 

  
3.5 Both contracts are due to expire at the same time. Individually they are relatively small and 

may not attract competitive market interest if re-tendered in the current format. This report 
seeks to consider all the available options in order to continue to provide a high quality service 
for Bromley residents whilst also achieving a cost effective solution for the Council going 
forwards. 

 

4. SUMMARY BUSINESS CASE 

4.1 The Housing Tenancy Support Service contracts enable the Council to fulfil its statutory 
obligations to meet the needs of eligible vulnerable adults with regards to their housing. Both 
contracts are relatively low value and initial market observations concluded that combining the 
services when the time came to re-tender would generate more competition from the market 
and achieve greater efficiencies of scale and in turn potential financial savings.  

4.2 There are currently approximately 1,600 households in temporary accommodation of which 
approximately 960 households are in insecure forms of costly nightly paid accommodation. 
Around 35% of households accepted as homeless are single vulnerable adults. These services 

Page 117



  

6 

provide an alternative option to nightly paid accommodation and contribute towards reducing the 
risk of those in settled accommodation from accruing significant level of arrears, abandonments 
or relapse. The service is fully utilised with a waiting list of applicants requiring these services. 

4.3 Given the current pressures in relation to homelessness and temporary accommodation and 
limited availability of local supply, it is critical that the Council is able to ensure access to local, 
supported accommodation in order to ensure that homeless households can be provided with 
the appropriate level of support to sustain accommodation and reduce the numbers of repeat 
homelessness. 

4.4 Through the approval of Members officers have been given permission, via the transformation 
work streams, to explore new and innovative ways to increase access to accommodation. This 
work is well underway and has included reviewing all land owned by the Council in order to 
consider its potential for housing and other community uses. Officers have also been looking at 
both traditional and more innovative build models in order to expedite accommodation once a 
suitable site has been identified. Consultation is also being undertaken to explore all of the 
routes to market available to the Council in further increasing development and accommodation 
opportunities and this will be passed to Members for scrutiny in due course. 

4.5 Whilst the Council considers how best to utilise its land and assets careful consideration must 
be given to the way that we facilitate this period of transition between the utilisation of 
accommodation provided by third parties and to potentially using accommodation that is under 
Council control. Failure to carefully map through service demand, contract start and end dates 
and the on boarding of new stock will result in increased pressure on housing services and an 
inability to meet our statutory responsibilities.  

 
4.6 Both contracts are due to expire at the same time. Individually they are relatively small and may 

not attract competitive market interest if re-tendered in the current format. 
 
4.7 The properties out of which the accommodation services are provided are not under the direct 

control of the Council and are managed by two separate Registered Providers. This has 
potential repercussions on market interest for an amalgamated contract as it would require any 
new provider to agree and enter into arrangements with two different providers across two 
separate sites in order to deliver the service.  

 
4.8 The current schemes are well established. Maintaining the services in these locations on an 

interim basis will ensure that disruption to services is kept at a minimum.  
 
5. SERVICE PROFILE / DATA ANALYSIS 

5.1 There are currently approximately 200 single vulnerable adults placed into costly forms of 
nightly paid accommodation. 

 
5.2 Both services currently operate at full capacity and provide much needed supported housing as 

an alternative to nightly paid accommodation, providing those more vulnerable people with a 
comprehensive support package to enable them to sustain their placement before moving on to 
independent accommodation.  

 
5.3 In the event that the Council was unable to retain this provision we would have no option but to 

secure two further emergency units with 24 hour cover and alternative placements for 50 
households. Due to a lack of available accommodation, given the number of households, the 
most likely move on option would be nightly paid temporary accommodation. At present this is 
the most costly form of accommodation at an average annual net cost of £6,500 per household 
per annum. This equates to £325k per annum for all 50 households (41 at Evolve and 9 at 
Hestia).  

Page 118



  

7 

5.4 The cost of providing 5 hours of floating support per week per client is in the region of £5,200 
per annum. This equates to £260k per annum for all 50 households. 

5.5 The services therefore represent value for money to the Council considering the alternative of 
accommodating people in costly forms of in nightly paid accommodation. 

5.6 Both services are monitored and reviewed via the Council’s Contract Compliance and 
Monitoring service annually. Contracts are scored in accordance with an A-D rating, A being 
high. Neither service was awarded any D ratings, with the majority of areas reviewed for both 
contracts being awarded a B grading or above. The conclusions of the most recent monitoring 
report were as follows: 

 Evolve: Overall Evolve are doing a good job and are adhering to the development and 
delivery of the service. They scored reasonably well on the QAF and they are ensuring 
that the service is carried out in compliance with all relevant legislation. 

 

 Hestia: (the Manager) and his team are doing a good job and are adhering to the 
development and delivery of the service. They scored well on the QAF and they are 
ensuring that the service is carried out in compliance with all relevant legislation. 

 

6. OPTIONS APPRAISAL 

6.1 The options are as follows: 

Option 1: Terminate the contracts. 

This would result in the inability to maintain the service and would result in increased cost to 
the Council as alternative placements would be required alongside the need to procure 
appropriate support for those households. 
 

Option 2: Put the services out to tender in their current formats. 

Due to the size and value of the contracts, it is extremely unlikely that better pricing can be 
achieved through retendering at this point. Initial market testing has indicated that  there is little 
interest in pursuing contracts of this size as the economies of scale needed in order for the 
service to be financially viable are marginal if achievable. 

Option 3: Award a new contract, via an exemption to competitive tendering, for up to 6 
months in order to go out to tender for an amalgamated service.  

Initially it is anticipated that the services would be provided at the existing locations. However, 
this would be kept under review as part of the transformation work being undertaken so that, in 
the future we could consider options to relocate the combined service into one centralised hub, 
owned and managed by or on behalf of the Council thus securing greater control of the 
accommodation and achieving greater operational efficiencies.  

6.2 Preferred Option: Option 3 as outlined above. This will ensure there is no break in the service 
and the Council sees the full benefit from the transformation agenda whilst allowing the 
successful award and mobilisation of the new contract. 

7.     MARKET CONSIDERATIONS 

7.1 There is a relatively limited market for this service considering the specialist nature of support 
to be provided. 

Page 119



  

8 

7.2 When reviewing similar contracts for the provision of support services, stakeholders suggested 
that larger contracts would attract a greater degree of interest from providers and allow for the 
delivery of a higher quality of service. 

7.3 Soft market testing is being undertaken to establish market interest. 

8.     STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 

8.1 The current service providers have all been contacted and have all indicated that they are 
happy to proceed with a temporary contract extension pending re-tender. 

9. PROCUREMENT AND PROJECT TIMESCALES AND GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

9.1 Estimated Contract Value  
Hestia – £195k per annum; £97.5k over 6 months 

 Evolve – £198k per annum; £99k over 6 months 
 
9.2 Other Associated Costs – None 
 
9.3 Proposed Contract Period – Extend for up to a further 6 months. 
 
9.4 There is no procurement or tendering involved in the exemption of this contract.  The 

exemption period will commence on 1st October 2020. 
 
10. SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS 

10.1 This decision has been judged to have no or a very small impact on local people and 
communities. 

11. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 

11.1 The housing objectives are set out in the relevant business plans and Homelessness Strategy. 
These objectives are compliant with the statutory framework within which the Council’s 
housing function must operate 

11.2 The legislation pertaining to homelessness requires appropriate support to be provided to 
households at risk of homelessness and suitable accommodation and support to those 
households to whom the Council owes a statutory rehousing duty. These services play a key 
part within the overall provision of homeless prevention and accommodation services 

12. PROCUREMENT CONSIDERATIONS 

12.1 This report seeks to award a contract to Evolve for a duration of 6 months at a value of £99k. A 
mini-competition process was completed in 2014 for the current contract, awarding a contract 
for a period of three years with a two year extension period which was taken, ending in 
October 2019. A further 1 year exemption was previously approved, due to end in October 
2020. 

12.2 This report seeks to award a contract to Hestia for a duration of 6 months at a value of £97.5k. 
The current contract commenced in November 2016 for a period of three years, with an option 
to extend for 1 year ending September 2020. 

12.3 The Council’s specific requirements for authorising an exemption are covered in CPR 13 with 
the need to obtain the Approval of the Portfolio Holder following Agreement by the Chief 
Officer, the Assistant Director Governance & Contracts, the Director of Corporate Services and 
the Director of Finance for a contract of this value. 

Page 120



  

9 

 

13. IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS  

13.1 Both organisations operate in compliance with data sharing and GDPR.  

14. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

14.1 The total value of the proposed six month exemptions is £197k, which will bring the total whole 
life value of the contracts to £2,166k as set out in the table below: 

 

 

Evolve Hestia Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Existing contracts

2014/15 (6 months) 99 99

2015/16 198 198

2016/17 198 98 296

2017/18 198 195 393

2018/19 198 195 393

2019/20 198 195 393

2020/21 (6 months) 99 98 197

1,188 781 1,969

Proposed extension

2020/21 (6 months) 99 98 197

1,287 879 2,166   

14.2 These costs of these contracts will be contained within the existing Supporting People budget, 
which is currently £1,004k per annum. 

15. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

15.1 The service provided under both contracts are “light touch” services under the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 (Regulations) .  The cumulative value of each contract is in excess of the 
relevant threshold and subject to the application of the Regulations and competitive tendering 
requirements under the   Council’s Contract Procedure Rule 8.2. 

 
15.2 The report seeks an exemption from competitive tendering requirements as set out in the 

Council’s Contract Procedure Rules. Further legal implications are set out in part two of the 
report. 

 
 

  Non-Applicable 
Sections: 

HR, Personnel 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact Officer) 

 

 

 

  

Page 121



This page is left intentionally blank



  

1 

Report No. 
DRR20/019a 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART 1 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE   
 
For pre decision scrutiny by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing 
Policy, Development and scrutiny Committee on 11 February 2020 

Date:  12 February 2020          

Decision Type: Non Urgent  
 

Executive Key  

Title: CONTRACT AWARD: PROVISION OF HOUSING SUPPLY IN 
ANERLEY AND CHISLEHURST 

Contact Officer: Alicia Munday, Head of Regeneration 
Tel: 020 8313 4559    E-mail:  Alicia.Munday@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Lydia Lee, Assistant Director, Culture & Regeneration 
 

Ward: Crystal Palace, Chislehurst 

 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 This report, together with the accompanying Part 2 report, sets out recommendations for the 
award of contract, following a tender process through a compliant framework (LHC NH2), for the 
design and build of off-site housing construction for the provision of temporary accommodation 
across two sites: Bushell Way, Chislehurst; and Anerley Town Hall Overflow Car Park.    

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 The Renewal, Recreation and Housing PDS Committee are asked to note and comment 
on the recommendations of the Part 1 and Part 2 reports, prior to Executive decision. 

2.2 Executive are recommended to:  

i) Approve Contract Award, as detailed in the accompanying Part 2 report, for the Design 
and Build (subject to Planning Permission) of the two schemes.  

 
.  
 

Page 123

Agenda Item 12



  

2 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:  Further Details 
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council Supporting Independence:  
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Detailed in Part 2 report 
 

2. Ongoing costs:  Detailed in Part 2 report 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Capital Programme £8.4m 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: N/A 
 

5. Source of funding: Housing Investment Fund earmarked reserve 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):  
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:         
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement:  
 

2. Call-in: Applicable:   
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments?  
 

Summary of Ward Councillor’s comments:  A meeting with Ward Councillors has been held in 
relation to these recommendations.  Ward Members have requested that public engagement is 
conducted.  It was confirmed with Ward Members that this is the start of the process, and 
should these recommendations be approved, this would enable a provider to be selected to 
propose more detailed plans which would then commence the public engagement process.   
 
Statutory Public Consultation will take place if a planning submission is made.  
 

 

Page 124



  

3 

3.  BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In May 2019 (Report No. DRR19/025) Executive approved recommendations 

to bring forward the development of two Council owned sites (Bushell Way, 
Chislehurst and Anerley Overflow Car Park) for housing developments.  
Appendix 1 provides detail on site locations.  

 
3.2 It was agreed that Officers would utilise an off-site housing construction 

framework, managed by LHC, to procure a housing development on each site 
to increase capacity of temporary accommodation in the Borough and 
alleviate demand pressures. 

  
3.3 The earlier report set out the rationale for utilising the LHC framework and off-

site housing construction.  The use of the framework has offered the 
opportunity to engage with pre-qualified  manufacturers; reduce procurement 
timescales; as well as, obtain value for money through scale of business that 
is countrywide and beyond any scale the Council is likely to achieve alone. 
 

3.4 The tender documentation included a scope of works, and requested that 
tenderers  demonstrate their commitment to the following principles, as 
agreed by the Executive in May 2019: 

 Developments in line with the Local Plan and that are sympathetic to 
the local surroundings; 

 Housing that meets the London Housing Standards, or as close to; 

 Housing that is efficient and sustainable; 

 A range of 1 and 2 bedroom apartments. 
 

3.4 Playle & Partners  were appointed to act as Quantity Surveyors and Clerk of 
Works on behalf of the Council for these schemes, and have supported the 
production of the tender documentation in conjunction with Amey. 
 

4. TENDER PROCESS 
 
4.1 The tender was undertaken using the LHC framework as this contains a 

number of different workstreams within the framework. Officers decided to 
utilise workstream 4, Band 1 of the NH2 Framework which allows for projects 
where a majority of site will be less than 25 dwellings.  Officers rational for 
utilising this band of workstream 4 is due to concerns that Planning would be 
unlikely to be granted above this number of dwellings on either site. 

 
4.2 The mini-competition was undertaken utilising the process as outlined in the 

NH2 Framework.  All bids were evaluated on a 40% Quality and 60% Price 
basis. 

 
  

Page 125



  

4 

Criteria  

Financial Resources and Contract Affordability 10% 

Q
u

a
lit

y
 

4
0

%
 

Quality and Operational Compliance 25% 

Technical Ability to Deliver the Project 25% 

Health and Safety 20% 

Social Value 10% 

Sustainability, Equal Opportunities & Partnership Working 10% 

Preliminary Costs 40% 

P
ri
c
e

 

6
0

%
 

Pricing Scenario Model Based on 2 Bed, 4 Person, 2 Storey Dwelling 40% 

Pricing Scenario Model Based on 1 Bed, 2 Person, 2 Storey Dwelling 20% 

 
 
4.3 Council Officers were aware that the optimum number of dwellings would only 

be determined at the Planning stage, and introduced further financial 
weightings into the Finance evaluation, to mitigate this risk and enable a fair 
comparison of the sites.  

 
4.4 Site 1 – Bushell Way, Chislehurst 
 This site was formally occupied by the Banbury House Care Home.  The site 

is in a residential area, providing an excellent location for additional housing, 
whilst maintaining the Council’s land ownership. 

 
 Site 2 –Anerley Town Hall, Overflow Car Park 

This site is an overflow car park for Anerley Town Hall.  The car park is not 
‘Pay and Display’ and so there will be no loss of income.  The car park is 
underutilised, with adequate parking provision provided for within the main car 
park 
 

4.5 Tender Outcome: 
Utilising the LHC NH2 Framework, the Council received Expressions of 
Interest from 6 of the 7 providers within Workstream 4, Band 1. 

 
4.6 Tenderers were invited to visit both sites, prior to submitting their bids.  The 

purpose of the visits was to give tenderers an opportunity to see the locations 
as well as surrounding areas. 

 
4.7 The outcome of the tender process is detailed in the accompanying Part 2 

report. 
 

Page 126



  

5 

 
5. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
5.1 At the request of Ward Councillors, officers have met with local residents of 

Bushell Way, Chislehurst.  A FAQ document has been collated and circulated 
to residents via Ward Councillors.  This has not been requested by the 
Anerley Ward members.  

 
5.2 Residents will be fully consulted in line with Planning Policy during the 

planning process.   
 
6. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE CHILDREN AND ADULTS 
 
6.1 The proposed recommendations support vulnerable people through the 

provision of housing supply. 
 
7. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 
7.1 The Council has published a Homelessness Strategy which sets out the 

approved strategic policy in terms of homelessness.  This includes the 
provision of affordable housing and reducing the reliance on nightly paid 
accommodation.   

 
8. PROCUREMENT RULES 
 
8.1 See Part 2 report 
 
9. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 See Part 2 Report 
 
10.  LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
10.1 The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 (as amended) sets out the Council’s statutory 

homelessness duties, including the duty to provide temporary accommodation 
for certain classes of people and in certain circumstances. 

 
10.2 The Council can rely on Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 to provide temporary 

accommodation together  with the general power of competence in section 1 
Localism Act 2011.  

 
10.3 The Council must make decisions in accordance with the law and also in 

accordance with its fiduciary duty to its tax payers in using Council resources.  
The report explains the benefits including the financial benefits that must be 
properly weighed up and considered before taking the decisions set out in the 
recommendations.  

 
10.4 The report refers to decisions made by the Executive in May 2019 which 

included approval of the site development and procurement strategy together 
with the appropriation of land for housing purposes. However the land in the 

Page 127



  

6 

registered titles for both sites is subject to restrictive covenants.  Once 
planning permission has been obtained it may be necessary to appropriate 
the land for planning purposes to engage the provisions of section 203 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016, in order to override easements or other rights 
to which the land is subject, if the Council has been unable to agree 
compensation payable for the diminution of any such rights enjoyed by 
neighbouring properties, including the right to light. 

 
10.5 Under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (Regulations) the procurement of 

these works, supply and services is a public contract within the meaning of 
the Regulations. As the value exceeds the relevant threshold under the 
Regulations the Council would have needed to carry out a fully compliant EU 
Procurement exercise. The Regulations however  accept compliance where 
the Council call-off from an EU compliant framework which is expressed as 
being available to the Council and is used within the rules set up by the 
framework. The Council have procured from the LHC NH2 Framework for the 
design and build of the houses identified in the report and related Part 2 
report. The section in these reports on Procurement Rules provides further 
detail of the procurement exercise   undertaken under the framework.  

 
10.6 As these two schemes are for a 2 Stage Open book tendering procurement 

via the LHC Framework for modular homes, the recommendations are 
seeking authority to enter into Pre-Commencement  Works contracts and 
subject to Planning permission being granted the Contract Award includes the 
progression to the second stage Works contract.  It is noted that if Planning 
Permission is not granted, there is a break clause that allows Officers to 
terminate the contract.   

 
10.7 The relevant authorisation process in relation to Contract award under the 

Council’s Contract Procedure Rules for values over £1M is by way of 
Executive authorisation in agreement with the Portfolio holder, Chief Officer, 
Assistant Director Governance & Contracts, Director of Corporate Services 
and Director of Finance.   

 
10.8 The report also identifies the need to carry out the  procurement for the 

management of the houses and in due course a further report will be required 
seeking authority to commence that procurement exercise under the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules 

 
 
 
 

Non-Applicable 
Sections: 

 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Increasing Housing Supply to Meet Housing Need 

Page 128



  

7 

Appendix 1 

Site 1 - Bushell Way, Chislehurst 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 129



  

8 

 
Site 2-Anerley Town Hall, Overflow Car Park, Anerley 

 

P
age 130



 

1 
 

Report No. 
ACH20-006 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

Part 1 - Public 
 

Agenda 
Item No.    

   

Decision Maker: Executive 
 
With pre-decision scrutiny from Adult Care & Health Policy 
Development and Scrutiny Committee on 22 January 2020 

Date:  12 February 2020 

Decision Type: Non-Urgent Executive Key 

Title: Contract Award: Domiciliary Care for Discharge to Assess 
 

Contact Officer: Deborah Cole, Integrated Strategic Commissioner 
Tel:  020 83134282   E-mail:  deborah.cole2@bromley.gov.uk 

Chief Officer: Kim Carey, Interim Director, Adult Social Care. 

Ward: Not Applicable 

1. REASON FOR REPORT 

1.1   The Discharge to Assess (D2A) service commenced in October 2017 on a pilot basis 
funded through the Better Care Fund.  The Domiciliary Care delivery element of the 
service was procured by the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on an 
interim basis on behalf of the London Borough of Bromley (LBB). 

1.2 In July 2019 (Report No. CS18146), Executive agreed continuation of the pilot and to 
proceed to procurement for the Domiciliary Care element of the service for a one year 
contract to commence from  August 2020, following which the requirement would be 
included within the broader procurement process for all Domiciliary Care provision 
from August 2021. 

1.3 In September 2019, it became apparent that the procurement timetable had to be 
brought forward due to ongoing quality and value for money issues with the CCG 
interim contract.  Following consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and 
Health Services and the Leader, with an update given to Adult Care and Health Policy 
and Development Scrutiny Committee in November 2019, a tender process for a LBB 
framework contract for D2A Domiciliary Care commenced in November 2019. 

1.4 This report details the outcome of the tender process and seeks award of contract to 
multiple providers on a call off framework to meet this requirement from March 2020 to 
August 2021. 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Page 131

Agenda Item 13



 

2 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 Adult Care and Health Policy Development and Scrutiny Committee are asked to 
note and comment on this report. 

2.2 Executive is recommended to: 

 i)      Award a Domiciliary Care for Discharge to Assess Framework contract to 
the providers detailed in Part 2 report paragraph 5.1 for an eighteen month 
period, commencing 1st March 2020 until 27th August 2021.  The framework 
contract will operate on a call off basis with an estimated contract value of 
£810k per annum and whole life value of £1.215m.        

 

 

 

  

Page 132



 

3 
 

      
 
Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy.   
 

2. BBB Priority: Supporting Independence.  
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: Estimated cost £810k per annum (estimated) 
 

2. Ongoing costs: recurring Cost.  £405k (estimated) for 2021/22 until August 2021 
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: D2A Domiciliary Care 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £600k in 2019/20(Para 12.5 budget overspend) 
 

5. Source of funding: 2019/20 revenue budget 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Staff 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): N/A   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   
 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Statutory Requirement 
 

2. Call-in: Applicable 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): 754 D2A episodes of 
care relating to 621 service users.  

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments?  N/A.  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:  N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 133



 

4 
 

 
 
 
3. COMMENTARY 
 
3.1 The Discharge to Assess (D2A) service commenced in October 2017 on a pilot basis 

funded through the Better Care Fund.  The Domiciliary Care delivery element of the 
service was procured by the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) on an 
interim basis on behalf of the London Borough of Bromley (LBB).  The contract was 
with a single care provider, BeeAktive, and operates on a call off basis. 

3.2 In July 2019 (Report No. CS18146), Executive agreed continuation of the pilot and to 
proceed to procurement for the Domiciliary Care element of the service for a one year 
contract to commence from August 2020, following which the requirement would be 
included within the broader procurement process for all Domiciliary Care provision 
from August 2021. 

3.3 In September 2019, it became apparent that the procurement timetable had to be 
brought forward due to ongoing quality and value for money issues with the CCG 
interim contract requiring early termination of the contract and alternative providers put 
in place.  Following consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Health 
Services and the Leader, with an update given to Adult Care and Health Policy and 
Development Scrutiny Committee in November 2019, a tender process for a LBB 
framework contract for D2A Domiciliary Care commenced in November 2019. 

3.4 See Part 2 report for detail. 

3.5 In bringing forward the procurement for this requirement, a Framework contract 
approach (similar to the current Domiciliary Care arrangements) was adopted.  This 
has the advantage of both developing the market in advance of the broader 
Domiciliary Care tender expected to commence in 2020, and  provides breadth and 
choice of provision in the interim period. 

4. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE AND SUMMARY OF THE BUSINESS CASE 

i)       The Discharge to Assess (D2A) service, provides short-term care and 
         reablement/rehabilitation in people’s homes. The aim of the service is to facilitate a  
         speedy return home from hospital and allow a full assessment of needs to take place  
         in the home environment. It supports service users to achieve the maximum capacity  
         to live independently through a short term intervention 
 
ii)       The Care Act requires local authorities and partners to ensure ‘people do not remain 
          in hospital when they no longer require care that can only be provided in an acute  
          trust’. Where people who are ready to be discharged, awaiting further care and  
          support in the community, remain in hospital, this is referred to as Delayed Transfer of  
          Care (DToC). The integration and better care fund planning guidance 2017-2019  
          includes a specific grant condition for local authorities to manage transfer of care.  
         The condition states that all areas should implement the “High Impact Change Model”  
          to support system-wide improvements in transfers of care. Discharge to Assess is a  
          significant part of the High Impact Changes required.  
 
iii) The D2A service has had a number of positive impacts on individuals and has been 

shown to make a marked improvement on the Delayed Transfer of Care (DTOC) 

Page 134



 

5 
 

figures for Bromley. In terms of total delays across health and social care, Bromley 
now has the lowest number of DToC, and therefore the highest performance 
amongst comparator local authorities, significantly outstripping the average 
performance across London and England as a whole.  Consequently the impact upon 
service users has been positive with hundreds of Bromley’s most vulnerable 
residents being able to leave hospital without delay and return to a community setting  

    
   iv) The D2A tender has been undertaken as a Framework on a call-off basis. The 

successful providers are expected to offer support that can be delivered quickly and 
focus on reablement. To ensure service sustainability there will be wider number of 
providers involved in the delivery of the service. 

           
 

5 CONTRACT AWARD RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 Recommended Providers for Framework Contract: 
  

See part 2. 
 

5.2 Estimated Contract Value: £810k per annum; £1.215m whole life value 
 
5.2 Other Associated Costs – None 
 
5.3 Proposed Contract Period – 1.5 Year from 1 March 2020 until 27 August 2021 
 
5.4 Market engagement was undertaken on the 7th October 2019.       
  

5.5 The tender was undertaken electronically using the ProContract system with bidders 
being required to submit both Stage 1 (SQ) and Stage 2 responses together.     

 
5.6 The tender scoring was undertaken using the Council’s standard 60:40 price / quality 

split and the results were fed into the Chartered Institute of Public Finance & 
Accountability (CIPFA) model to establish the successful bids.  The quality marks for 
each provider are detailed in Appendix One. 

 
5.7 The contract specification set out the requirements upon providers and the intended 

outcomes for users of the service.  Contract performance and service user outcomes 
will be robustly measured by the Contract Compliance Team in conjunction with 
Commissioners.   

 
5.8 The specification explained how the provision of the Discharge to Assess service will 

be delivered and outcomes to be achieved. 
 

6 MARKET CONSIDERATIONS 
 
6.1 Engagement with domiciliary care providers took place on the 7th October 2019, in 

order to generate interest and discuss our expectations on how we would like the 
service to be delivered.      

 
6.2 The event was advertised in various media and was very well attended with 

approximately 18 care providers. The event contained a mix of presentations by key 
staff from the Council so that providers would understand Bromley’s direction of 
travel and the tender opportunity.  The event also gave care providers the opportunity 

Page 135



 

6 
 

to ask question concerning the proposed service delivery and outcomes to be 
achieved. Overall feedback from providers was positive.   

 

7. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
7.1 Two service user satisfaction surveys were completed with people who received 

support through the D2A process.  

 One survey was aimed at those who had just left hospital and was designed to 
pick up on the discharge process and the package of care they were receiving 
under D2A 

 The second survey took place after the social care assessment, looking at the 
package of care supplied under D2A but also the assessment process and 
service user involvement in the process. 

 Many respondents shared the sentiment that they were glad to be home and 
settling back into a routine.  

 When asked about the discharged process only a few participants faced 
delays (involving hospital transport). 88% of respondents left hospital with 
medication, none of them however reported a delayed discharge due to 
medication. 

 Service users were satisfied with the level of involvement in their care. Most of 
the participants said that they felt involved with their care, both directly 
themselves and indirectly through their family members. 

      
8.  SUSTAINABILITY AND IMPACT ASSESSMENTS 
 
8.1      An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed in relation to the wider 

Domiciliary Care Tender (which incorporates D2A). 
  
8.2     The service model will ensure that the Council provides its duties in meeting the  
          statutory requirements as set out in the Care Act 2014. It will aim to improve on the  
          current offer by delivering a range of providers that have been subjected to a robust  
          assessment of their financial and business sustainability; complemented by good 

CQC ratings. 
        

 9. POLICY CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1    The Care Act 2014 promotes assurance that ‘people do not remain in hospital when 
          they no longer require care that can only be provided in an acute trust’ 
 
9.2     Integration and Better Care Fund Planning Guidance 2017-2019 requires health and   
          Social care partners to work together to 

 Invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services; 

 Support implementation of the High Impact Change Model for Managing 
Transfers of Care 

 High Impact Change for – Discharge to Assess, which is described as ‘Providing 
short-term care and reablement in people’s homes.   

 
10. IT AND GDPR CONSIDERATIONS 

 

10.1 The tender has been evaluated and undertaken in accordance with current GDPR 
considerations.  There are no internal IT considerations as the service is contracted 
with external organisations.   

Page 136



 

7 
 

 
11.  PROCUREMENT RULES 
 
11.1   This report seeks to appoint a number of providers to a framework for the provision of     
          Domiciliary Care services as part of Discharge to Assess provision. The framework  
          will have duration of 1.5 year from 1st March 2020 until 27 August 2021. The total 

value of the framework during this period is anticipated to be £1.215m 
 
11.2   An open process was undertaken for this above-threshold, light touch service. This 
          process has been carried out in line with the requirements of the Public Contracts  
          Regulations 2015. 
 
11.3  The Council’s requirements for authorising an award of contract are covered in CPR  
         16. For a contract of this value, the Approval of the Executive following Agreement by  
         the Chief Officer, the Assistant Director Governance & Contracts, the Director of  
         Corporate Services, the Director of Finance and the Portfolio Holder must be obtained.  
         In accordance with CPR 2.1.2, Officers must take all necessary professional advice. 
 
11.4  Following the decision, an OJEU Award Notice will be issued and, as the contract  
         value is over £25k, an award notice will need to be published on Contracts Finder. A  
         mandatory standstill period will need to be observed. 
 
11.5  The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract  
         Procedure Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their  
         content. 
 
12. FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
12.1 See part 2 report.  
  

13.  PERSONNEL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

13.1 There are no internal staffing implications resulting from this tender as it is fully 
contracted with external organisations.   

 

 

14. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
14.1   The Discharge to Assess service assists the Council in discharging its obligations  
          under The Care Act 2014 and delivering according to Integration and Better Care  
          Fund Planning Guidance 2017-2019. 
 
14.2   This report seeks to appoint a number of providers to a framework for the provision of  
          Domiciliary Care services as part of Discharge to Assess provision as detailed in  
          Section 5. The framework will have duration of 1 year starting 1st March 2020, with  
          an option to extend the framework for one further year. The total value of the  
          framework during this period is anticipated to be £1.215m. 
 
14.3   A tender process has been carried out in accordance with the Public Contract  
         Regulations 2015 and the Councils own Contract Procedure Rules as detailed in 
         Section 11. The Councils contract award requirements are also to be complied with  
         CPR 16 as already detailed in this report.  
 

Page 137



 

8 
 

14.4  The Council can award the contracts as detailed and in compliance with the Councils           
          Contract Procedure Rules.  
 
 

Non-Applicable 
Sections: 

 

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

Bromley’s Discharge to Assess Scheme – Outcome of 
the Pilot, Executive 10th July 2019 

 
 
 
 

Page 138



  

1 

Report No. 
CSD 20030 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE - PUBLIC 
 
 

 

   

Decision Maker: EXECUTIVE 
 
 

Date:  
12 February 2020 

Decision Type:  Non-Urgent 
 

Executive  
 

Key  
 

Title: LONDON BOROUGHS LEGAL ALLIANCE FRAMEWORK 
AGREEMENT FOR BARRISTERS 

Contact Officer: Shupriya Iqbal,Head of Legal Services  
Tel: 0208 461 7161   E-mail:  Shupriya.iqbal@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Mark Bowen , Director of Corporate Services 

Ward: Wards 

 
 
1. Reason for report 

1.1 Seek authority to join the London Boroughs Legal Alliance (LBLA)  Framework Agreement for 
Barrister. 

 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  Agree to join the new LBLA Framework  Agreement for barristers for a period of 3 years 
with the option to extend for a further year.   

2.2   In the event the LBLA framework is extended by a further year, delegate authority to the 
Director of Corporate Services to extend to extend  access to the LBLA framework for a 
further year after the  initial 3 year term.

Page 139

Agenda Item 14



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: Not applicable  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Not Applicable  
 

2. BBB Priority: Not Applicable:  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: £6,382 membership fee per annum. £19, 146 over the initial three year period; 
£25,528 if the option to extend for a further 12 months is taken up. 

 

2. Ongoing costs: £200k to £300k per annum. Up to £900k over the three year term of the 
contract; rising to £1.2 million if the option to extend is taken. 

 

3. Budget head/performance centre: Legal Services 
 

4. Total current budget for this head: £1.9 million      
 

5. Source of funding: Existing legal budgets 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional): 0   
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:         
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement: Public Contracts Regulations  2015:  
 

2. Call-in: Applicable Not Applicable:  Further Details  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications:        
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): All Council departments 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable  
 

2. Summary of Ward Councillors comments:        
 
  

Page 140



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The LBLA is an alliance of  over 20 London Boroughs including the London Fire Brigade. The 
Council  became a member of the LBLA  in March 2019 with access to the Solicitors  and 
Barristers framework Agreements.  The Barristers Framework has recently been re-tendered 
and the new Agreement commences  from  1 January 2020 and ends after a term of 3 years 
with the option to extend for a further 12 months.  

3.2 The LBLA Barristers Framework was competitively tendered in full compliance with Public 
Contracts  Regulations 2015.  The framework appointed a panel of approved chambers and 
approved barristers who undertake work on the basis of agreed framework  prices.  Kennedy 
Cater Ltd manage the framework  and monitor invoices and spend by each Authority with 
chambers on the panel. Kennedy Cater provide regular spend monitoring reports to each 
Authority to make it easier to track spend. They also spot check invoices to ensure charges are 
in accordance with framework rates and provide a report where there is a variance. 

3.3 The framework consists of in 6 specialist lots with specialist chambers appointed for each of the 
lots. The lots are: 

 Lot 1: Adult Social Services 

 Lot 2: Children Service 

 Lot 3: Governance and Public Law 

 Lot 4: Criminal litigation and Prosecution 

Lot 5: Housing 

Lot 6: Planning 

Lot 7: Property 

Lot 8: Civil Litigation. 

3.4 Barristers are instructed by Legal Services to undertake advocacy in court and give advice on 
complex matters when required.  All instructions to barristers is monitored and approved by the 
team leader for each team and the Head of Legal Services. Legal Services are demand led 
service and spend on barristers  is also led  by the volume of work Legal Service are instructed 
on.  By joining the framework there will be no obligation to any minimum spend or to 
commission through the framework at all. It is possible to commission barristers  from outside 
the framework where necessary. Using a framework however allows a procurement compliant 
route and the advantage of commercially tendered rates. 

3.5 Benefits of LBLA  membership include administration and management  of the framework with 
expenditure data provided to members, a comprehensive training  programme delivered free by 
solicitors and barristers  on the framework for our staff and facilitated special  interest group 
meetings. 

 

4. SERVICE PROFILE / DATA ANALYSIS 

Not applicable. 

 

Page 141



  

4 

5. CUSTOMER PROFILE 

5.1  Legal services commission barristers on children and adults matters, planning matters, 
prosecution matters, employment matters, SEN education matters, housing matters, litigation 
matters and other miscellaneous matters as required to provide representation for the Council at 
court or seek specialist legal advice.  

6. MARKET CONSIDERATIONS 

6.1 There are other frameworks available.  However the LBLA framework is targeted at London 
local authorities and services tailored to London Boroughs.  

     

6.2. Alternatively, the Council could run its own procurement to set up a framework agreement.  This 
will be too time consuming and will require resources to manage the framework. This option is 
not recommended. 

 
6.3 The preferred option is to join the LBLA Barristers framework. 
 
7. STAKEHOLDER CONSULTATION 

Not applicable. 

8. SUSTAINABILITY / IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

8.1 This decision has been judged to have no or a very small impact on local people and 
communities. 

9. OUTLINE PROCUREMENT STRATEGY AND CONTRACTING PROPOSALS 

9.1 Estimated Contract Value –spend is demand led.  Estimated spend per annum under the 
barristers framework is between £200-300k per annum. Over 4 year the projected value is £1.2 
million. The cost is usually met through the legal budget for business as usual matters. For 
complex matters where the expenditure on a case is going to be significant such as a coroners 
enquiry or a case listed in court over multiple days legal seek assistance from client 
departments or the contingency to meet these extra costs. There is no commitment to procure 
barristers through the framework or commitment to any minimum spends. 

 

9.2 Other Associated Costs – LBLA Membership fee of £6,382 plus VAT per annum. 

9.3 Proposed Contract Period- January 2020 to December 2023 with the option to extend for a 
further 12 months.  

10. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

No direct impact. 

11. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

Not applicable. 

12. COMMISSIONING AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

12.1 This report seeks authority to make use of the LBLA Framework. As stated above, the 
framework commenced 1 January 2020 and ends after a term of 3 years with the option to 

Page 142



  

5 

extend for a further 12 months. The estimated cumulative spend of individual call off contracts is 
up to £300k p.a., or an estimated £1.2m over the entire life of the contract. 

 
12.2 This is a ‘specific service’ covered by Schedule 3 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  
 
12.3 In accordance with Clause 3.5 of the Contract Procedure Rules, the Head of Procurement has 

been consulted regarding the use of the Framework. The Council is able to make use of the 
Framework and has been properly included on the Contract Notice. Individual call off contracts 
can be awarded via further competition or direct award. For any call off contracts awarded over 
£25k, a Contracts Finder notice will need to be published. 

 
12.4 The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules require the following for authorising an award via a 

framework for a contract of this value; the Approval of the Executive following Agreement by the 
Portfolio Holder, Chief Officer, the Assistant Director Governance & Contracts, the Director of 
Corporate Services and the Director of Finance must be obtained. In accordance with CPR 
2.1.2, Officers must take all necessary professional advice. 

 
12.5 The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure 

Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content. 
 
13. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

13.1 The current budget for Counsel fees is £220k across Legal Services budgets on the subjective 
code of 1766.  Over the three year period of the contract it is anticipated that up to £900k will be 
spent through the framework, rising to a possible £1.2m if the option to extend for a further 12 
months is taken up.   

 
13.2 The framework is expected to enable the Council to benefit from competitive prices and 

standard agreed rates, however, as a demand led service it is not expected to generate savings 
against budget but will assist in achieving best value from within existing resources.  

 
13.3 The membership fees of £6,382 per annum, totalling £19,146 for the three year period of the 

contract, or £25,528 if the option to extend for a further 12 months is taken up.  This cost will be 
met from existing budget within the Legal Operational Services cost centre on 420030.    

 
13.4 There is no previous expenditure across the Council with London Boroughs Legal Alliance 

(LBLA) so the cumulative spend at the end of the initial period of the contract will be £19,146, or 
£25,528 if the option to extend for a further 12 months is taken up.  However there has been 
£10,380 spent with Kennedy Cater Ltd previously so the cumulative spend with them would 
increase to £27,796 or £34,178 over the potential three and four year period. 
    

14. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

Not applicable. 

15. LEGAL CONSIDERATIONS 

15.1 The Framework Agreement has been set up in full compliance with EU public Procurement 
rules. The Council is permitted to use the framework. If the decision to join is agreed the Council 
will need to sign an Access Agreement to enable it to use the framework. 

 
 

 

Page 143



  

6 

Non-Applicable Sections:  

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 144



  

1 

Report 
No. 
DRR 
19/062 

London Borough of Bromley 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

 

   

Decision 
Maker: 

 EXECUTIVE 
 

Date:  Wednesday 12 February 2020 

Decision 
Type: 

Non-Urgent 
 

Executive Non-Key 
 

Title: AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO NEGOTIATIONS TO DISPOSE  
OF FORMER ADVENTURE KINGDOM BUILDING, BROMLEY 
CIVIC CENTRE  TO CREATE A NEW NHS HEALTH AND WELL 
BEING CENTRE FOR BROMLEY 

Contact 
Officer: 

Michael Watkins, Assistant Director – Strategic Property:  
Michael.Watkins@bromley.gov.uk 
 

Chief Officer: Sara Bowrey Director Housing, Planning and Regeneration 

Ward: Bromley Town 

 
1. Reason for report 

The Bromley CCG have formally requested that the Council considers disposing of the former 
Adventure Kingdom building to them, at market value, so that it can be redeveloped by the CCG 
for a new Bromley Town Centre Health and Well Being Centre. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 

2. RECOMMENDATION(S) 

2.1 The Executive is recommended to agree to in principle to dispose of the site at 
market value to Bromley CCG and authorises the Assistant Director – Strategic 
Property to negotiate terms of sale with the CCG subject to a report being made to 
the Executive for final decision.   

 

 

Page 145

Agenda Item 15



  

2 

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children 
 
1. Summary of Impact: There is an impact on vulnerable Adults and Children to this consent, as 

ultimately those groups will use the proposed Health and Wellbeing Centre, which would be 
located closer to other Council services. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Corporate Policy 
 

1. Policy Status: Existing Policy:   
 

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Financial 
 

1. Cost of proposal: N/A  
 

2. Ongoing costs: N/A:  
 

3. Budget head/performance centre: N/A 

4. Total current budget for this head: £N/A 
5. Source of funding: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Personnel 
 

1. Number of staff (current and additional):   N/A 
 

2. If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours:   N/A 
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal 
 

1. Legal Requirement:     
 

2. Call-in: Call-in is applicable.   
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procurement 
 

1. Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A  
________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Customer Impact 
 

1. Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected):  A co-located Health and Well- 
being Centre at the Civic Offices would improve synergies for residents who wish to use the 
services of the Council and the CCG. 

________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Ward Councillor Views 
 

1. Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? 

Page 146



  

3 

3. COMMENTARY 

3.1 The Bromley CCG have formally requested that the Council considers disposing of the 
former Adventure Kingdom building to them, at market value, so that it can be redeveloped 
by the CCG for a new Bromley Town Centre Health and Well Being Centre. 

3.2 The vision which underpins the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre is aligned fully with a 
number of NHS national policies and strategies including;- 

• Five Year Forward View; 

• Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health; 

• Transforming Community Services; 

• The NHS Outcomes Framework; 

• Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programmes. 

3.3 In addition to facilitating the Strategic Goals of local Commissioners and the health 
economy wide clinical case for change, the centre aligns particularly with national health 
policy goals around strengthening primary care, reducing over reliance on hospital care 
and improving the care of patients with long term conditions, enabling them to remain in 
the community.   

3.4 The CCG requirement is for a 2130SqM facility which has been based upon the output 
from a dynamic activity modelling exercise undertaken by the CCG. This has incorporated 
demand projections provided by the CCG and agreed with its various stake-holders 
throughput and utilisation assumptions. 

3.5 Attached at Appendix 1 is the Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing 
Centre which is provided for information.  It should be noted that the plan contained within 
this document includes the Great Hall – which is not in scope.  The CCG requirement can 
be met on the Adventure Kingdom site as detailed at 3.8.  

3.6 The CCG have been seeking suitable sites within Bromley Town Centre for some years 
and have commissioned various site searches to find suitable and deliverable space to 
meet their funding window of commitment from Central Government.  More recently the 
CCG has engaged with Officers to ascertain if there were any Council assets which would 
fit their needs.  Consequently the Adventure Kingdom site was identified as being a 
standalone site which is not required for Council usage and could be developed out as a 
Health and Wellbeing Centre.   

3.7 The CCG has been awarded two separate tranches of capital funding for the development 
of the Bromley Centre, subject to final business case approval. The total funding 
earmarked for the scheme is circa £11m, made up of £3m from the NHS ETTF fund and 
£8m from NHS wave 4 capital funding.  Officers are therefore of the opinion that the CCG 
has adequate funding in place for such a purchase. 

 

 

 

 

Page 147



  

4 

 

3.8 A Plan of the Former Adventure Kingdom site is detailed below: 

 

 

3.9 The current occupier of the building is the Bromley Borough Foodbank who have been let 
the building for a short term period with the existing lease due to expire on 6 June 2020.  
The Foodbank were made aware that their lease would be temporary in nature and this 
was acknowledged by them at the commencement of the lease. The Foodbank is keen 
however, to have as much notice as possible of the need to vacate (the lease has a 
landlord’s rolling 6 month break option), so they can look elsewhere and plan accordingly.  
It should be noted that there is not any obligation on the Council to provide alternative 
accommodation for the Foodbank.  However, Officers will assist to see if the Council has 
any suitable vacant accommodation at the point when vacant possession is required. 
Should the Executive agree to the disposal in due course of this building, then it is possible 
that the CCG may consider letting the Foodbank remain whilst Planning Permission is 
sought for their scheme.   

3.10 The Adventure Kingdom building abuts the Great Hall and in order to create the area 
required for a new Health and Well Being Centre a small area of the Great Hall will need to 
be included in the disposal.  This area is detailed on the above plan as the hatched area. 

Page 148



  

5 

Site separation works would need to be undertaken to separate the two buildings and re-
provide facilities such as kitchens and WC’s to the Great Hall.   

3.11 Any decision  must be consistent with the emerging Civic Centre Accommodation Strategy 
which will be reported to Members in June 2020. 

3.12 This will include timescales for the phasing of the demolition of the Adventure Kingdom 
site so as to allow redevelopment of the retained Council Offices. 

3.13  The CCG capital proposal for funding supports the purchase of the site at market value as 
part of the overall capital allocation and budget.  The CCG recognises the Council`s 
statutory obligation to secure the best consideration reasonably obtainable   Under section 
123 of the Local Government act 1972 and the purchase will be at market value. 

3.14 .  In order for the CCG to commence negotiations and undertake further due diligence and 
prepare a final business case which will be predicated on an agreed purchase value, the 
recommendation to in principle dispose of the site is required. As the site will not be 
marketed the Council will need an independent valuation to determine market value.  

3.15 The CCG fully recognise that the Council would not be able to make any final commitment 
at this stage until all the necessary due diligence work by the parties involved are 
completed and assessed.  Once negotiations as to purchase value have been concluded 
these would then be reported to the Executive prior to making any final decision to dispose 
of this asset.  

4. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN  

   4.1 There is an impact on vulnerable Adults and Children to this consent, as ultimately those 
groups will use the proposed Health and Wellbeing Centre, which would be located closer to 
other Council services. 

5. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 A Council that manages its assets well. 

6. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

6.1   The disposal of the Adventure Kingdom site will generate a Capital Receipt.  The impact of 
this will be report to the Executive prior to making any final decision to dispose of this 
asset. The site is currently let to Bromley Borough Foodbank at a peppercorn rent and 
premise running costs are included within the Civic Centre overall building costs. 

6.2 The disposal of the Adventure Kingdom site will generate a Capital Receipt.  The impact of 
this will be reported to the Executive prior to making any final decision to dispose of this 
asset. 

6.3 If the Council subsequently agrees to dispose of the site to the CCG, the market value of 
the site will be independently assessed to ensure that the Council complies with its Section 
123 obligations. 

7. PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS 

N/A 

 

 

Page 149



  

6 

8. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

8.1   Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 applies to any disposal of Council owned 
land. Legally, councils have the power to dispose of land ‘in any manner they see fit’ for the 
‘best price consideration reasonably obtainable’.  

8.2 The recommendation is to sell at market value which as there will not be a competitive 
process will need to be determined by .an independent valuation 

9. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

9.1 Should any specialist valuation works be required then it is proposed appointing Cushman 
and Wakefield via the Council’s TFM Contract using the Schedule of Rates for Professional 
Fees contained within that contract. 

 

Non-Applicable Sections: Personnel  

Background Documents: 
(Access via Contact 
Officer) 

 

 

Page 150



 

 

Tenants Requirements for the  

Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre 

April 2019 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 151



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  2 
 

Contents 

 

Document control .................................................................................................................................... 3 

1 Introduction .......................................................................................................... 4 

2 Services Description .............................................................................................. 6 

2.1 Range of Services ......................................................................................................................... 6 

2.2 Operational details ...................................................................................................................... 7 

2.3 Primary Medical Care .................................................................................................................. 8 

2.4 Community Health and Secondary Care .................................................................................... 10 

3 General Design Principles.................................................................................... 11 

3.1 A Healing Environment .............................................................................................................. 11 

3.2 Patient Privacy and Dignity ........................................................................................................ 11 

3.3 Facilities for People with Disabilities ......................................................................................... 11 

4 Facilities Requirements ....................................................................................... 13 

4.1 Clinical Facilities ......................................................................................................................... 13 

4.2 Non-Clinical Facilities ................................................................................................................. 16 

5 Functional Relationships ..................................................................................... 20 

6 Area Requirements ............................................................................................. 21 

7 Additional Design Considerations ....................................................................... 23 

8 Whole Site Policies .............................................................................................. 25 

8.1 Security and Safety of Staff, Patients and Visitors ..................................................................... 25 

8.2 Fire Precautions ......................................................................................................................... 26 

8.3 Major Incidents.......................................................................................................................... 27 

8.4 Incident Reporting ..................................................................................................................... 27 

8.5 Complaints Procedure ............................................................................................................... 27 

9 Building and Engineering Design Principles ........................................................ 28 

Appendices .................................................................................................................. 41 

Appendix A – Activity Projections ............................................................................................................ 42 

Appendix B – Site Location ...................................................................................................................... 44 

Appendix C – Equipment Grouping ......................................................................................................... 45 

Appendix D – ICT Infrastructure .............................................................................................................. 48 

Appendix E – Infection Control & Prevention .......................................................................................... 66 
 

Page 152



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  3 
 

Document control 

Report for Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre 

File ref M:\London\Clients\Integre Consulting\Bromley H&WBC\4 Reports and Output\Tenants 
Requirements Bromley H&WBC V4 March 2019.docx 

Prepared by Matt Dearing 

Date December 2017 

Checked by Stan Coats 

Date  January 2018 

Updated by Stan Coats/Laurie Pennington 

Date  July 2019 

 

This document is private and confidential and remains the property of Archus Ltd and 

should not be further distributed without our express permission 

  

Page 153



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  4 
 

1 Introduction 

This document sets out the User Brief for the Design Team for the proposed Bromley Health and Wellbeing 

Centre.  

Vision 

The vision which underpins the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre. This is aligned fully with a number of 

national policies and strategies including;- 

• Five Year Forward View; 

• Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our strategy for public health; 

• Transforming Community Services; 

• The NHS Outcomes Framework; 

• Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) programmes. 

 
In addition to facilitating the Strategic Goals of local Commissioners and the health economy wide clinical 

case for change, the centre aligns particularly with national health policy goals around strengthening primary 

care, reducing over reliance on hospital care and improving the care of patients with long term conditions, 

enabling them to remain in the community. 

 

Figure 1 - &WBC High Level Adjacency Diagram 

 

Page 154



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  5 
 

In this context, the Centre will deliver the following for the local population:- 

• Services to meet specific needs of the local population; 

• A health infrastructure to support people living longer, healthier lives; 

• Improved access to services in the community and closer to home; 

• Better quality and more accessible Primary Care premises; 

• Collaborative working to develop partnerships; 

• Improved quality and fit for purpose care pathways; 

• Maximised value of available resources; 

• High quality integrated care; 

• Improved health outcomes for the local population; 

• Earlier identification and better management of long term conditions; 

• Improved patient choice and independence around health and wellbeing. 

 
The Centre will provide accommodation for services including or likely to include those shown below. 

Further details of the clinical services to be provided in the Centre are set out in Section 2. 

Table 1 - Services anticipated to be accommodated 

Service Example 

Primary Care Relocation of local Dysart Medical Practice, Primary Care Access Hub 

Secondary Care Outpatients, Physiotherapy 

Community Health Diabetes, Podiatry, Dietetics 

Endoscopy Endoscopy Procedures 

Public Health And Wellbeing Sexual Health clinics, Smoking Cessation 

 

Location 

The Bromley H&WBC is proposed to be located at the Adventure Kingdom site currently identified on the 

plan shown in Appendix B. 

Demand and Capacity 

The functional content and size of the Centre have been based upon the output from a dynamic activity 

modelling exercise. This has incorporated demand projections provided by the CCG and agreed throughput 

and utilisation assumptions. These are detailed in Section 2 and Appendix B. 

This document provides a specification that will achieve the clinical deliverables according to best practice 

and ensure the adaptability of the facility to take account of future service changes. 

Page 155



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  6 
 

2 Services Description 

2.1 Range of Services 
The H&WBC will provide the following services: 

Primary Medical Care Services 

• Dysart Medical Practice; • Primary Care Access Hub. 

 

Secondary Care 

• Diabetes; 

• Diabetic Retinopathy; 

• Cardio-Vascular disease service; 

• Public Health/wellbeing; 

• Midwifery Services – Parent-craft, Ante-
natal & Post-natal; 

• Podiatry. 

 

Secondary care outpatients, therapy and diagnostics 

• Physiotherapy; 

• Domiciliary and clinical services; 

• Phlebotomy; 

•  

• Ultrasound 

• Echocardiography. 

 

Endoscopy Suite 

• Endoscopy procedures.  

 
Mental Health 

• Employment support & Rehab; 

• IAPT evening sessions for commuters; 

• Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies Programme (IAPT). 

 

Public Health 

The Centre may offer Public Health and wellbeing services, possibly including:- 

• Smoking cessation; 

• Weight management; 

• Sexual health; 

• Counselling. 

 
In addition it is anticipated that the Centre will be the focus for a wide range of health and wellbeing 

activities in association with the local voluntary sector and the zoning of accommodation should facilitate 

such use including outside normal operational hours. 

Page 156



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  7 
 

2.2 Operational details 

Operational Hours 

The H&WBC will be open from 08.00 – 20:00, Monday to Friday and from 08:00 – 13:00 on Saturdays and 

Sundays. Services will be available to both registered and unregistered patients. 

It is envisaged that most patients will access services at the facility via booked appointments. Services will be 

scheduled throughout the day to take into consideration people’s work patterns and lifestyles. This will also 

enable the volume of people accessing the H&WBC to be managed, typically, over a 65 hour per week. 

Staffing Levels 

It is envisaged that the number of clinical, administrative and support staff present in the overall facility at 

any one time will be in the order of 60 people (see Table 1). Where patients have a booked appointment to 

see a clinician for a consultation or examination, there may be other professional colleagues and escorts in 

attendance with rooms sized accordingly. 

Multidisciplinary care will be provided within the facility, depending on the specific health needs of the 

patient. Staff will therefore expect to be mobile and operate throughout the facility. Staff will be present in 

the Centre either on a full-time or sessional basis. The brief has been prepared on the following planning 

assumptions on full time presence: 

Reception 

Space is required for reception staff at ground floor covering the main entrance. In addition, there will be 

dedicated reception points for primary care services and (shared) for outpatients, therapies and endoscopy. 

NOTE: this is only a possible configuration at present as there is not yet a design for the building. This 

requirement will be reviewed during the design process. 

Security 

Security staff will be present during normal opening hours and it is envisaged they will have a base provided 

at the main reception. This role may include other support functions. The H&WBC will be monitored by 

CCTV, the extent of which will be determined by the layout of the facility. 

Primary Medical Care 

For Dysart Medical Practice typically 6 General Practitioners and up to 3 Practice Nurses will be present 

during operational hours. A Practice Manager and administrative support staff will be present during 

operational hours 

Typical staff numbers likely to be present across the range of services to be provided in the H&WBC are 

shown in Table 1. 

Approximately 600 patients (not including escorts) will attend the Centre daily. 

  

Page 157



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  8 
 

Table 2 - Typical staff requirements H&WBC 

Service 
Accommodation Typical Staff Numbers Present per Room 

Room no No. Medical Nursing AHP Admin Other Total 

Primary Care 

Consult.        

Treat.        

Group        

Office w/s        

Interview        

Sub total          

Outpatients 

Consult.        

Treat.        

Group        

Interview        

Weigh/Measure        

Sub total          

Imaging 

Plain Film        

U/Sound        

Office w/s        

Reception        

Sub total          

Therapies 

Interview        

Activity        

Treatment        

Office w/s        

Reception        

Sub total          

Main Entrance, 
Shared support 

Main reception        

Interview        

Library        

Café        

Seminar        

Centre Manager        

Sub total          

 

2.3 Primary Medical Care 

Activity Levels 

It is anticipated that by 2020 Dysart Medical Practice will have a list size of approximately 14,000 patients. In 

assessing future capacity requirements the methodology set out in HBN 11 01 has been applied. The 

assumptions within this approach are set out in Appendix A. Whilst these are subject to review and may be 

amended it is not anticipated that accommodation requirements will alter significantly. Thus while the 

consulting/examination rooms to be provided are greater than the output from the activity model this is to – 

Page 158



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  9 
 

• Allow for timetabling constraints (compared to level scheduling assumptions within annualised 
activity model); 

• Provide flexibility for future increases in demand and model of care shifts. 

 

Range of Services 

The Primary Medical Care services form an essential component of the H&WBC, delivering a high quality 

approach that optimises service efficiency and clinical outcomes. The service will provide GP and Nurse-led 

consultations, examinations, assessments, reviews and treatments including: 

• Minor procedures & Minor operations; 

• Immunisations; 

• Wound management; 

• Family planning; 

• Smoking cessation; 

• Diabetic service – both primary care and 
advanced; 

• Sexual health, primary care and Tier 1; 

• Phlebotomy Urology, including gonadorelin 
enhanced services; 

• Cervical screening including services as part 
of Tier 1 sexual health; 

• Chlamydia screening including services as 
part of Tier 1 sexual health; 

• Contraception services including Tier 1 
sexual health; 

• Child health surveillance; 

• Antenatal maternity care; 

• Supporting people with learning difficulties; 

• Glucose intolerance service; 

• CHD Nurses; 

• COPD; 

• Vascular checks; 

• Promotion of self-care; 

• Counselling;  

• Gold Star Framework for Palliative Care; 

• Weight management; 

• Health living and lifestyle checks; 

• Travel checks; 

• Well person clinics; 

• Carers’ support. 

 

Service Requirements 

Patients attending the H&WBC for Primary Medical Care will initially report to ground floor reception for 

registration or self-register. 

The Primary Medical Care accommodation is detailed in Section 7. 

Consultations, examinations and treatments will be carried out in a consult/exam (CE) room or treatment 

room. Clean and dirty utility rooms will be shared by the practices. Other clinical support functions within the 

outpatient zone may also be used by Primary Care Services and should be located to facilitate this (see 

Section 6, Functional Relationships). 

Scheduled administrative accommodation for the Primary Medical services includes a dedicated Practice 

Manager’s office, and an area for administrative support staff. 

 

Page 159



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  10 
 

2.4 Community Health and Secondary Care 
Activity levels 

Projected outpatient, diagnostic and therapy services attendances in 2020 are shown in Appendix A. These 

are based upon a 3% growth in the relevant population from the baseline year – 2017. Population growth 

from 2017 – 2022 is projected to be 2%. It is envisaged that increased demand in the H&WBC beyond 2017 

will be accommodated through extended sessional working. 

Range of Services 

Community health and secondary care outpatient, diagnostic and therapy services to be provided in the 

H&WBC are shown in Appendix A. It is likely that the range of outpatient specialties and sub-specialties will 

change over time and accommodation should be planned accordingly for generic use wherever possible. 

Service Requirements 

Outpatients and those attending for therapies will initially report to the ground floor reception or self-

register and wait within the adjacent waiting area until called via an electronic call forward system. (e.g. 

http://www.intouchwithhealth.co.uk/outpatient-efficiency-gains/patient-calling/). In keeping with LEAN 

principles, it is envisaged that appointments will be scheduled to minimise patient waiting times and 

numbers. Flexibility to change the range and mix of services offered within the H&WBC over time is a key 

project objective and the accommodation for community health and secondary care outpatient services will 

be generic and interchangeable in both short and long term use. 

Mental Health 

Mental health services to be provided in the H&WBC will include the Bromley IAPT services and group 

sessions, typically involving up to 12 people. These activities will take place in generic consulting and group 

rooms. Projected activity levels are shown in Appendix A. 

Endoscopy Suite 

Surveillance and early diagnostic endoscopy services will take place within the H&WBC. The schedule of 

accommodation has been developed to undertake circa 6,000-8,000 procedures per annum. There would be 

no activity taking place that would require general anaesthetic.  

Therapies 

Therapy activities taking place within the H&WBC will include – 

• Speech and language therapy (activity 
shown under outpatients in Appendix A); 

• Falls; 

• Musculoskeletal community treatment and 
assessment service (MCATS); 

• Exercise classes. 

 
The accommodation provided for therapy services reflecting the modelled activity and treatment times 

estimated by the current service provider. The service may also have timetabled access to generic consulting 

suites and group rooms.  

Page 160



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  11 
 

3 General Design Principles  

3.1 A Healing Environment 
Evidence based design initiatives have demonstrated the value of a healing environment. The benefits 

include reduced staff turnover, reduced staff errors, reduced patient anxiety and better clinical outcomes. 

These approaches can be broadly grouped under the following categories; 

• Easy wayfinding; 

• Access to natural light and pleasant 
outlook; 

• Patient Control over the environment; 

• Positive distractions including artwork; 

• Social support; 

• Reduction of environmental stresses; 

• Standardisation. 

 

3.2 Patient Privacy and Dignity 
The protection of patients’ and relatives’ privacy and dignity is of paramount importance. Particular 

consideration will be given to the needs of specific groups e.g. those having particular ethnic, cultural or 

religious beliefs, the elderly, those who are particularly vulnerable and those receiving bad news. An 

appropriately designed reception area which will facilitate confidential exchange with the patient is required. 

Particular consideration should also be given to those patients having intimate procedures and should 

achieve the following:  

• No sight of the interior of rooms containing these patients by passers-by; 

• A feeling of security and control over their environment in these patients, particularly control over 
access to the room by others; 

• Easy and dignified transfer of patients from one surface to another e.g. wheelchair to couch; 

• Minimal need for staff to enter and leave the room whilst a patient is present. 

 

3.3 Facilities for People with Disabilities 
The H&WBC will be fully DDA (Disability Discrimination Act) compliant, providing facilities including: 

• Vehicular drop-off at main or secondary entrance; 

• Means of communication and access control from reception to main and secondary entrances; 

• Step-free access to the H&WBC and throughout the facility; 

• Low-level reception counters; 

• Wheelchair storage area near main entrance; 

Page 161



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  12 
 

• Assisted WCs; 

• Wheelchair-friendly corridor widths; 

• A mobile hoist; 

 
In order to meet the requirements of people with disabilities, the design team should refer to legislation and 

guidance such as BS5810:1997; The Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970; The Chronically sick and 

Disabled Persons (Amendment) Act 1976; The Disabled Persons Act 1981; The Disabled Persons (Services, 

Consultation and Representation) Act 1986; The Building (Disabled People) Regulations 1987; Building 

Regulations 1991, Approved Document: Access and Facilities for Disabled People 1992 and HBN40 Volume 4 

Designing for Disabled People. 

Page 162



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  13 
 

4 Facilities Requirements 

4.1 Clinical Facilities 

Consulting/Examination (C/E) Rooms 

All C/E rooms will be generic, capable of use by a range of clinics on a sessional basis.  Each C/E room will 

require: 

• Natural daylight (if feasible within the constraints of the building); 

• A workstation or desk; 

• A patient couch to be used flexibly either against the wall or in a peninsular position; 

• Full access for wheelchair users; 

• Suitable power, data and telecoms (including IT access); 

• A clinical sink; 

• Appropriate lighting for examinations; 

• Separate waste storage facilities taking into consideration the need to segregate sharps, COSHH and 
clinical waste; 

• An emergency call alarm linked to reception; 

• A nurse call system control panel; 

• All access, security, finishes, fixings and furnishings to be in accordance with ‘General Requirements’. 

 
The C/E room may be used for: 

• Routine consultation and examination; 

• Carrying out clean clinical procedures. 

 

Treatment Rooms 

Treatment rooms must meet relevant standards as set out in HBN and HTM guidance including appropriate 

ventilation and will be associated with both the clean and dirty utility rooms. The treatment rooms will be 

generic, used by a range of clinics on a sessional basis and will require: 

• Natural daylight (if feasible within the constraints of the building); 

• A workstation or desk; 

• A patient couch to be used flexibly either against the wall or in a peninsular position (up to two 
members of staff may be working around the patient simultaneously so must be able to move freely 
and safely); 

• Full access for wheelchair users; 

• Suitable power, data and telecoms (including IT access); 

Page 163



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  14 
 

• A clinical sink; 

• Appropriate lighting for examinations; 

• Minor surgery lamp; 

• Separate waste storage facilities taking into consideration the need to segregate sharps, COSHH and 
clinical waste; 

• An emergency call alarm linked to reception (panic button); 

• A nurse call button also linked to reception; 

• All access, security, finishes, fixings and furnishings to be in accordance with General Requirements; 

• An emergency call alarm linked to reception; 

• A nurse call system control panel; 

 
Treatment rooms may be used for: 

• Routine consultation and examination; 

• Carrying out clean clinical procedures; 

• Carrying out sterile procedures – e.g. change of dressings. 

 

Clean Utility Room 

Clean utility rooms will be associated with the C/E/ and treatment rooms and will be used for: 

• Reception and storage of sterile packs, syringes and needles; 

• Storage of drugs including dangerous and scheduled drugs; 

• Assembly of items for patients’ treatments; 

• Washing of hands; 

• Accommodating two dressing trolleys. 

 

Dirty Utility Room 

These rooms will be associated with the C/E and treatment rooms and will be used for: 

• Disposal of patient waste; 

• Disposal of fluid waste; 

• Storage of medical and surgical 
disposables; 

• Urine testing. 

 

Near Patient Testing 

It is currently anticipated that pathology samples taken in the Centre will be collected by KCH NHFT transport 

and process in the Princess Royal University Hospital laboratories. A small near patient testing area is shown 

in the schedule of accommodation pending clarification by service providers as to whether any local testing 

may take place. Should this not be the case this area may be re-assigned. 

Page 164



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  15 
 

Group Room/Multi-purpose/Seminar Rooms 

These rooms will be used for a range of Health Promotion and Wellbeing activities which may, subject to 

confirmation with the London Borough of Bromley (LBB), include weight management, healthy eating, 

mental health service group sessions, smoking cessation and voluntary groups. Activities will also include 

child health with occasional use of the associated interview room. 

 Typical numbers are 30 (parent/carers) per 2 hour session. At least one of Group Room is to be treated as a 

clinical area and will require a hand wash basin, appropriate flooring, both panic button and a staff call 

button linked to reception. 

Endoscopy Suite 

Two endoscopy procedure rooms are required plus associated space. There is no requirement for on-site 

decontamination facilities. There is a requirement for a facility to store endoscopes to be collected for 

decontamination off-site. 

• A Hand washing sink is required in each room 

• Preparatory worktop space is required in each room 

• Non-slip Vinyl floor coverings to all rooms 

• Electrical supplies for wall mounted monitor, Fridge and Moveable monitor for endoscope required 
in each room 

• Electrical supplies and data to be provided for desk in each room in each room 

• Wall mounted x ray view required in each room 

• Suction required in each room 

•  A total of 14 recovery positions would be required for two procedure rooms, 9 positions for Stage 1 
recovery and 5 positions for Stage 2 Recovery 

• Waiting area should be calculated on the assumption of 3 patients per hour per endoscopy room 

• Three preparation rooms should be provided for two endoscopy rooms 

• Trolley parking bays are required 

• Disposal hold is required, with clear sub division of floor space 

 

Ultrasound 

• One ultrasound suite is required. Some patients may require assistance with mobile hoists; 

• Hand washing sink; 

• Non-slip, antistatic vinyl floor covering, with coved vinyl skirtings; 

• Data points for internet/PACS/RIS connection; 

• Storage for consumables; 

• Room environment = max 28 degrees C; humidity 30-80%. 

 

Page 165



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  16 
 

Therapy Activity Area 

An activity area is are required for a range of group activities. This should be adjacent to the patient change 

facilities with close adjacency to the store for efficient storage and retrieval of equipment. 

 

4.2 Non-Clinical Facilities 

Main Entrance 

General 

The main entrance zone will provide access for all staff, patients and visitors attending the H&WBC. It 

comprises the following Main entrance and imaging reception; 

• Main waiting area including child play area 
and vending machine; 

• Patient WCs; 

• Baby change; 

• Baby feeding facilities; 

• Kitchenette; 

• Centre manager’s office; 

• Interview room; 

• Group/multi-purpose/seminar rooms. 

 
The group rooms should be easily accessible from to the main entrance and waiting area and may 

accommodate large numbers of users. For planning purposes it is assumed that people arriving for group 

sessions will be directed to the room and will not typically occupy space within the main waiting area.  

Doors must be automated with a manual override and achieve the right mix between throughput, security, 

draught control and appearance for successful pedestrian access. If the entrance doors lead directly to the 

main street then a push button to open should be provided to prevent children exiting the building 

unattended. 

All access, security, finishes and furnishings must be in accordance with NHS Standards. 

Reception 

When patients enter the building they will go either to the main reception or be directed to the related 

waiting area. The main reception should have good sight lines to and from the lift and stairs. Reception areas 

should be welcoming, well lit, and suitable for use by all and within the shared primary care reception there 

should be equal visibility for both practices. (See ‘Welcoming entrances and reception areas’ (NHS Estates 

2004), ‘Friendly healthcare environments for children and young people’ and Health Building  Note 23. 

The reception may be operated in different ways to accommodate registration including self-check-in, 

appointment making, queries information giving and should facilitate confidential exchange with the patient. 

There should be minimum amplification of the conversation and an interview room will also be available if 

patients require greater privacy. 

The reception must be provided with suitable power, data and telecoms as well as be in easy access to the 

repeater panels associated with the nurse call, staff alarm, fire alarm, security alarm and security cameras. 

Page 166



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  17 
 

Administrative space 

Areas will be provided behind the main reception for undertaking administrative tasks including printing, 

photocopying, scanning and faxing etc. This should be able to accommodate two people at any one time. For 

Primary Medical Care there will be dedicated offices for the Practice Managers and an area for 

administrative support staff. The Practice Managers’ office can also be used for one-to-one sessions and 

small meetings of 2-3 people. A centre manager’s office is provided and should be located close to the main 

entrance zone. 

Medical Records 

For Primary Medical Care, records will be held electronically. It is envisaged that minimal paper record 

storage will be required for a transitional period and space has been allocated within the primary care zone. 

Consideration should be given to how this space and any associated with the reception area could be reused 

as the H&WBC transitions to paperless. Exact requirements will depend on the storage system adopted. 

Waiting Areas 

The main entrance and waiting areas will provide the main seating accommodation for all services in the 

H&WBC. The waiting areas should be designed to protect the privacy of conversations. The building must be 

designed in accordance with NHS guidance on acoustics (HTM08). To this end an acoustics consultant must 

be appointed to advise throughout the design and construction/fit-out of the building. The waiting area 

should not provide direct views in to clinical areas. 

The waiting area should be relaxing and informal in design, with access to daylight and external views where 

possible. Waiting areas should be clearly visible from reception and must be wheelchair accessible. Floors 

should be easy to clean, but not overtly clinical in nature. The use of colour on walls is important, as is the 

use of art as visual stimulation can often reduce anxiety. 

Power sockets should be located at no more than 4 metres apart, to allow the use of cleaning equipment as 

well as future proofing the area. There should also be at least one data, telecom and television outlet in the 

room.  

Provision is required to install a patient call system. This will be integrated with the IT solution for the facility. 

The H&WBC should be able to screen promotional health and centre focused messages. 

All access, security, finishes, fixings and furnishings must be in accordance with General Requirements 

Health Information Resource Service 

The main entrance zone will provide space for patient information which will provide controlled access to 

web based information. This may be an open area within the main waiting space, and/or associated with a 

group room, with IT access whereby patients or relatives can enquire and obtain further information. 

The design solution should support both fixed interactive information outlets as well as an area that contains 

leaflets and brochures with appropriate power, data and communication outlets. The design solution should 

provide easy access for all visitors and be socially inclusive whilst maintaining an element of privacy for those 

who wish to seek information on private matters. 

Page 167



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  18 
 

Appointment check-in 

This area will contain self-check in terminals. 

Staff and Support Facilities 

All access, security, finishes, fixings and furnishings must be in accordance with NHS Standards. 

Changing 

Clinical staff should not wear their uniform to work and should instead change on arrival at the H&WBC. 

Therefore sufficient staff changing facilities will be provided for uniformed staff as well as, for example, those 

commuting by bicycle. Staff will also have access to a locker on a shared basis to store small personal 

belongings and to a shower facility. This area will be secure and for staff access only. 

Staff Rest 

A staff rest room with a beverage area is required. All kitchen facilities and equipment must be heavy duty 

commercial including provision a microwave, fridge and dishwasher. These are all to be wired into fixed fuse 

spur outlets. At least three additional power outlets, beyond the needs of the above appliances, must be 

provided with one outlet being at low level. The room must also be provided with suitable power, data, 

telecoms and TV outlets. Subject to the design solution, hot and cold beverage bays should be provided in 

the principal staff zones elsewhere in the building. 

Seminar Room 

The seminar room should be located to facilitate use by all H&WBC staff and bookable by service users, 

voluntary groups and others. 

Sanitary Facilities 

There will be toilets for the use of patients, including with disabled access as detailed in the schedule of 

accommodation. These will be provided in appropriate locations. Separate facilities for staff use will also be 

provided. 

Mechanical extraction will be required, the air change rates will be dictated by the CIBSE codes, and if 

necessary filtered make-up air shall be provided. 

WC (assisted) 

This room must be DDA compliant. 

Baby Change Room 

Baby change facilities should be provided with access for both male and female parents. 

Access to the room should be the same as for an assisted WC. A baby changer must be provided that 

supports a minimum static load of 113kg and complies with British Standards (BS EN 2221.2008). It must also 

be easy to clean and inhibit bacterial growth. 

Baby Feeding Room 

A room should be provided to be suitable for mothers who need to breast-feed or fathers who wish to feed 

their baby in privacy. 

Page 168



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  19 
 

Staff Shower and Changing 

These rooms must be able to provide segregation between the wet and dry areas with temporary storage for 

staff valuables, clothes and washing accessories. 

Cleaning 

A cleaner’s room will be provided that serves all clinical and non-clinical areas. The function of this room is to 

provide a base for domestic staff to operate from. The room will have hot and cold running water (bucket 

sink), storage space for cleaning materials and loose equipment. The area will also be used to store electrical 

equipment such as a vacuum cleaner. The room must be appropriately ventilated to enable mops and 

cleaning equipment to dry thoroughly between cleaning sessions. A janitorial unit must be provided. At least 

one low level power socket must be provided. 

Telecommunications Hub and IT 

See ICT specification – Appendix D. 

Religious/Spiritual Facilities 

No dedicated prayer/quiet room will be provided within the facility; however the group and interview rooms 

within the main entrance zone area may be utilised for such purposes if available. 

 

Page 169



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  20 
 

5 Functional Relationships 

Accommodation should be planned to achieve economies and flexibility in the use of space, most effective 

deployment and multi-disciplinary interaction of staff and a seamless experience for service users (e.g. a 

single main reception). For services which will be discrete for many users - imaging and rehabilitation - we 

have suggested separate reception points but this may be subject to review as the design stages proceed. 

The extent to which the proposed shared use of space can be achieved – or increased yielding further 

economies – will be dependent upon a design solution which seeks the optimum adjacencies available (see 

Figure 1) given site constraints and stacking. 

 

Figure 2 - H&WBC High Level Adjacency Diagram 

Page 170



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  21 
 

6 Area Requirements 

Target room by room and whole centre target areas are shown in the schedule of accommodation (SOA) 

below. Since the accommodation is to be provided within a fixed footprint, these areas may be modified 

during design development. Where this occurs functionality including compliance with control of infection 

requirements should be demonstrated at an appropriate scale. 

Page 171



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  22 
 

Table 3 - Accommodation requirements 

 

Page 172



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  23 
 

7 Additional Design Considerations 

Access 

There will be a single main point of entrance to the H&WBC and a secondary entrance for deliveries and 

collection of waste. The building will also require emergency exits, which should be used for that purpose 

only. Staff access at night will be by key or other appropriate control systems. Transport involved in 

collection from the site will include local authority and/or private contractor refuse collection, supplies 

vehicles, couriers and the Royal Mail. Cycle racks should be provided, the number and location to be 

determined by the building solution. 

Car Parking 

There is a need an ambulance bay, patients drop off area, and a disabled car parking bay. 

There are excellent public transport links, and easy pedestrian access to the Centre from Bromley South 

Station. However, there remains a need for earmarked and adjacent car parking provision for a small number 

of “essential user” NHS staff, including the GPs and visiting medical and other professional staff who may 

have on call commitments. This will need to be addressed in the overall design of the new site development. 

Internal Traffic 

Patients will move around the H&WBC either on foot or in a wheelchair, accompanied as necessary. It is not 

envisaged that there will be any requirement for trolley access.  

Peak staff movement will be at the beginning and end of working periods (sessions) and at meal breaks.  

Corridors throughout the facility will be used by people on foot, on crutches and in wheelchairs as well as for 

the movement of goods. It is therefore essential that appropriate and adequate wall and corner protection is 

provided. 

Good signposting can do much to make patients and visitors feel less intimidated by the prospect of visiting a 

health centre. The principle of signposting should be in accordance with NHS Wayfinding guidance and the 

reception should also serve as a natural point for help and enquiries. 

Goods and Sterile Supplies 

A just in time approach to in ordering and stock management will be required, to ensure adequate supplies 

are held while controlling inventory consistent with LEAN principles. In order to reduce congestion on 

corridors, stock deliveries must be timed to avoid other delivery and collection times. 

The handling of pathology specimens will be as per client protocols. Specimens to be sent to an external 

agency must be stored in appropriate containers within clinical areas and transferred to appropriate boxes 

and taken to reception for dispatch and collection. 

The provider of services must ensure compliance with the control of infection standards set out in Appendix 

E. 

Page 173



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  24 
 

Collection of Waste and Linen 

Waste for collection must be colour coded as follows: 

• Yellow Plastic Bags:  Clinical waste for incineration; 

• Black Plastic Bags:  Non clinical household waste; 

• Yellow Plastic Sharps Containers:  Sharps, needles and syringes. 

 
Yellow plastic bags must be used in all areas that generate clinical waste, even if that area incorporates 

administrative offices. Domestic waste will be sorted by the user into recyclable or domestic waste bins 

provided. Once bagged and tied, waste must be held in the disposal hold room until it is collected by the 

waste contract provider. This room will be lockable and not accessible by patients or visitors. 

The clinical waste bags produced will need to be labelled by service. Any sharps container must have the 

label correctly filled in or collection will not occur. The contractor will not enter the building to make 

collections. As part of the waste contract there must be a secure external containment area with suitable 

lockable bins where all waste streams are segregated from one another.  

Inclusion within the contract enables the site to have compliant external bins at no cost. 

There needs to be flexibility for the addition of an additional waste stream or modification to waste streams 

as legislation and guidance changes. Where applicable it is suggested that all clinically active rooms have a 

clinical waste bin and a recycling bin only in accordance with HTM 07-01 and HTM 05-03 Part A. Domestic 

waste bins to be placed in communal areas, reception/waiting areas and kitchen/beverage areas. This will 

emphasise the importance placed on adequate segregation of waste streams. 

Confidential waste will be shredded by the user and placed in an appropriate bin. 

Disposable linen will be used throughout the H&WBC. 

Syringes, needles and all items with a cutting edge will be placed in a special container normally held in the 

clean utility room. This must be labelled with the department name and the date. When full it will be held in 

the dirty utility room and collected as required.  

The provider of services must ensure compliance with the following standards: 

• Waste Management: NHS Purchasing and Supply Agency - Total Waste Management; 

• Environmental Protection Act 1990 (section 34); 

• The Environmental Protection (Duty of Care) Regulations 1991; 

• The Controlled Waste Regulations 1992; The Hazardous Waste Regulations 2005; 

• Radioactive Substances Act 1993. Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE); 

• Statutory Instrument 2005 No. 895 - The List of Wastes (England) Regulations 2005; 

• Hazardous/Special Waste Regulations - guidance and background material; 

• Total waste management - best practice advice on local waste management for the NHS in England. 

Page 174



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  25 
 

8 Whole Site Policies 

8.1 Security and Safety of Staff, Patients and Visitors 
The issue of security within healthcare facilities setting is a significant factor for the safety of the H&WBC 

staff and patients and the prevention of theft and damage to NHS or personal property. 

Security concerns both the reduction in the risk of personal attack and the prevention of theft. It is primarily 

a management responsibility but the planning and design of buildings can ease the task. Security measures 

to be adopted include: 

• Security lighting; 

• Marking valuable equipment; by provider organisations; 

• Use of alarms in sensitive areas; 

• Alarm systems with the ability/option to call Police for assistance; 

• Removal of unlawful persons from the site by staff or police officers; 

• Close liaison with local police; 

• Use of ID badges for all staff; 

• Locks to all doors within and between departments; 

• Staff attack/panic (personal and/or clinical area/room based) alarms reporting to reception; 

• External and if required internal CCTV with internal monitor at reception. 

 
The secure by design principles must be followed, along with close liaison with the local Police Crime 

Prevention Officers and Local Security Management Specialist (LSMS). Fire and Safety Officers should also be 

consulted to ensure that conflict does not occur. A lockdown procedure will be required for the site that 

reflects potential internal and external threats. This must be produced in line with CFSMS guidance. 

The provider organisations should each have a detailed policy covering all aspects of lone working. Solutions 

to reduce the risks involved in people working alone include personal attack alarm systems and the use of 

mobile communication systems. It is important that such systems are in place in vulnerable areas.  

Security of Patient Records must be ensured. Records will be drawn from lockable storage units by 

authorised staff, and returned after use. Current paper-based and electronic systems will be used. It is hoped 

that an all-electronic system can be incorporated eventually. 

Patient records are subject to the Data Protection Act.  

The potential of theft from the H&WBC is significant. The security marking of items and specific measures 

must be considered.  

All external fire escape routes should be connected to the H&WBC’s security system, which will give an 

audible alarm on activation. 

Page 175



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  26 
 

Compliance with the following standards is required - 

Health and Safety 

• Health and Safety at Work Act 1974; 

• The NHS Improvement Plan: putting people at the heart of public services, 2004 (DH); 

• Standards for better health 2004 (DH); 

• Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999; 

• Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992; 

• Health and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) Regulations 1992; 

• Personal Protective Equipment Regulations 2002 and the Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
Regulations 1992 (as amended); 

• Provision and Use of Work Equipment Regulations (PUWER) 1999; 

• Manual Handling Operations Regulations 1992 (as amended in 2002); 

• Health and Safety (First Aid) Regulations 1981; 

• The Health and Safety Information for Employees Regulations 1989; 

• Employers' Liability (Compulsory Insurance) Regulations 1969; 

• Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 1985 (RIDDOR); 

• Noise at Work Regulations 1989; 

• Electricity at Work Regulations 1989; 

• Control of Substances Hazardous to Health Regulations 1999 (COSHH). 

 

Security 

• Data Protection Act; 

• Health and Safety Act; 

• Freedom of Information Act; 

• The Computer Misuse Act; 

• NHS Direct Information Security Policy Statement. 

 

8.2 Fire Precautions 
Fire precautions form an integral part of all operational policies. Specialist guidance includes the Firecode 

series of documents produced by NHS Estates which must be fully complied with. It is critical that staff 

reduce the risk of fire by precautionary measures including the removal of rubbish, not overloading power 

sockets and maintaining tidy storage areas. 

Fire and smoke detection systems will be located throughout the H&WBC. In the event of a fire, staff and 

patients will be able to evacuate or move to a place of relative safety. 

Page 176



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  27 
 

Programmable fire alarm monitoring panels will be located appropriately. In the event of a fire alarm being 

activated, complete evacuation must be undertaken and guidance on additional systems such as Evac Lifts 

(from a Fire Advisor) to support this MUST be implemented where clinical services are to be delivered above 

ground floor. Procedures in the event of a fire or a security threat will need to be established during the 

design development. 

Compliance with the following standards is required - 

Fire Safety:  

• Health and Safety at Work Act 1974; 

• Current Building Regulations Approved Documents (Part B); 

• Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005; 

• Firecode 05 suite of documents; 

• Disability Discrimination Act (DDA) – BS 5588 Part 8. 

 

8.3 Major Incidents 
The Client’s Major Incident Procedure outlines the response to either an external incident, or one occurring 

on its premises. If a major incident is declared, access to the H&WBC will be restricted and the normal 

activities of the facility will be largely disrupted. This procedure will be reviewed regularly by the Client. The 

service provider must take into account the requirements of the procedure and all staff working on site must 

be made aware of it. This will include the local lockdown procedure. 

 

8.4 Incident Reporting 
The CCG has a policy for the identification, reporting, managing and preventing clinical and nonclinical 

incidents. Once service providers have been identified, the Client will agree a protocol for the management 

and sharing of information on adverse incidents related to the services provided. 

 

8.5 Complaints Procedure 
The CCG operates a Complaints Procedure, which follows the framework of the NHS Complaints Procedure. 

Patients will be provided with information on how to make complaints and will have any source of complaint 

investigated by the appropriate Directorate. If complainants are unhappy at the outcome of the 

investigation, they may seek the convening of an independent review. 

 

Page 177



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  28 
 

9 Building and Engineering Design Principles 

The H&WBC will be developed from a Shell and Core facility being made available by a the London Borough 

of Bromley within a new residential/office development of the site. (The Draft Shell and Core Specification 

will be developed at a later stage). 

Life Expectancy of Building Elements 

The facility shall be designed so that any failure of materials and components will minimise any adverse 

impact upon the operation of the facility and any repetitive failures. 

Service Life and Residual Life 

Construction will be of a high build quality with a strong regard for sustainability issues to minimise 

maintenance and life cycle costs. Standardisation and prefabrication of building elements could be 

considered if they are appropriate. 

Design Objectives 

• Create premises that are accessible for all users including those with disabilities and the design 
solutions offered are expected to be examples of good practice in design, to promote social 
inclusion; 

• As the facility will be located within Bromley the Contractor must minimise the risk of undue 
intrusions of the construction on local residents and any tenants of an existing building and be part 
of a Good Contractors Scheme; 

• Have imaginative and well-proportioned design of spaces, both internal and, where feasible, external 
and with circulation space that is well organised, and sufficiently generous, and in particular a main 
entrance that can be clearly “read” as such; 

• Refurbish the new facility in a manner that will permit possible future adaptations / alterations; 

• Provide flexible design that will facilitate changes in policy and technology and which allows 
expansion or contraction in the future, where appropriate; 

• Provide eco-friendly design solutions in the new facility and provide suitable solutions in terms of 
design and choice of materials; 

• Provide good environmental conditions throughout, including appropriate levels of natural light and 
ventilation; 

• Provide attractiveness in design to inspire users and staff to ensure the design of the building/s 
enables them to sit comfortably within the surrounding environment; 

• Respect and enhance the location, the environment and the community; 

• The design of the facility must also meet all other requirements of these Tenants; 

• Add value and reduce whole-life and FM costs; 

• Create flexible, durable, sustainable and ecologically sound development; 

• Minimise waste of materials and energy, in construction and in use; 

Page 178



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  29 
 

• Contribute to construction which is quick, safe and efficient; 

• The acoustic performance of the building shall comply with Part E of the Building Regulations. 

 

Weather Protection 

To be specified in draft Shell and Core Specification. 

Sound Insulation 

Sound insulation to walls that separate consulting rooms from other rooms shall be designed to achieve an 

airborne sound insulation value of at least Rw>50dB. The Contractor shall take into account that poor sound 

insulation can be difficult to correct. 

The design of the facility must demonstrate the following: 

• As a minimum must comply with the requirements of HTM 08 – 01 Acoustics; 

• That noise reverberation from windows, doors, ventilation fans, heaters, air ducts and partition walls 
is minimised; 

• Sound insulation should be in place to reduce echo and restrict airborne noise; 

• Resilient flooring should be used to deaden impact noise affecting other spaces in the facility.  

 

Windows 

To be specified in draft Shell and Core Specification. 

Doors 

Doors should comply with the following requirements: 

• Designed to be sufficiently robust to withstand heavy usage with minimal maintenance and to 
maintain the safety and security of the facility; 

• Designed to take account of the mixed age range of facility users, solid core doors are required; 

• External doors must be watertight and weather-tight and be designed to be secure and as far as 
reasonably practicable; 

• External doors must incorporate appropriate controls and/or fittings where appropriate to afford 
safe operation as well as locks; 

• Internal doors must be suitable for their intended purpose and be sized to meet the anticipated 
traffic within the building; 

• All doors must be designed to allow disabled access, with at least a 800mm wide opening allowing 
the appropriate turning requirements for wheelchairs; 

• Disabled WC’s to be able to be opened both ways; 

• Locations and requirements for doors for building compartmentalisation must be agreed with 
Building Control; 

• Doors that are part of the zoning requirements and are accessible by all must be able to be held back 
in the open position during normal operating hours and self-activated in case of emergency/fire as 
well as a manual override; 

Page 179



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  30 
 

• Doors leading in to the group room and other areas not compatible with permanent hold open 
devices should be fitted with door closers having a time limited hold open ability for buggy and 
disabled access; 

• Doors that lead into restricted access areas must provide adequate entry control; 

• Main corridor doors and where listed on the Room Data Sheets must include vision panel(s) to 
provide visibility suitable for users and wheelchair users; 

• Doors must provide adequate sound reduction for the intended usage. 

 

Ironmongery 

Ironmongery should comply with the following requirements: 

• All doors to rooms, stores etc., shall be lockable with a suited key system; 

• The detail of the locking and suiting requirements to individual rooms must be agreed with the 
Client, an alternative locking system will be considered by the client. 

 
All ironmongery shall be robust and heavy duty 

• Double doors in circulation areas must have non-rebated meeting stiles; 

• Letterbox – provision, location and type (anti-arson) must be agreed with The Client; 

• Emergency release required for the all WC’s, shower rooms, baby changing and patient changing 
areas; 

• The issues of security and means of escape in case of fire must be taken into consideration by the 
Contractor when considering the type and fixing of locks. 

 

Internal Walls 

Internal walls should comply with the following requirements: 

• They must have the appropriate level of sound reduction in accordance with the Legislation, 
Guidance and Codes of Practice 

• All vertical services shall be flush with the walls including service access doors; 

• All services in circulation areas must be flush with the wall; 

• All horizontal services within clinical, admin and staff facilities must be contained within a dado rail, 
in accordance with all applicable regulations; 

• All removable boxing-in must be washable; 

• Pipe work, cables and equipment must be easily accessible for maintenance but, wherever possible, 
hidden from view and made tamper-proof; 

• All internal walls will be constructed full height to the structural soffit with care taken with sound 
and fire resistant detailing around service penetrations. 

 

Ceilings 

Ceilings should comply with the following requirements: 

Page 180



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  31 
 

• Control of Bio-contamination is critical in the medical sector. Therefore any suspended ceiling must 
actively combat harmful fungi, mould and mildew, yeasts and bacteria; 

• It must have an appropriate level of sound absorption for the Healthcare sector; 

• Suspended ceilings are to be provided to all areas except in plant and staircase areas; 

• Lighting must be flush with the ceiling grid where a suspended ceiling is used. In areas where a 
suspended ceiling is not used then services must not be visibly suspended from the ceiling and light 
fittings should be flush and sealed to the ceiling; 

• Where possible all other services must be flush with the ceiling grid whilst maintaining access for 
maintenance and replacement of services. 

 

Floors 

Floors should comply with the following requirements: 

• Floor finishes should be slip resistant, durable and easily cleaned; 

• Coved flooring must be installed and no carpets must be used throughout the facility; 

• Floor finishes should be non-slip in areas where water is used, i.e. toilets, changing rooms, showers 
and kitchens; 

• Suitable barrier matting should be provided and maintained at external entrances to assist with the 
maintenance of cleanliness of internal floor coverings; 

• Joins and seals between different floor finishes will be level and provide a continuous surface for 
wheelchairs. 

 

Colour Schemes 

Colour schemes should comply with the following requirements: 

• Consideration should be given to the provision of suitable colour schemes and contrasts to assist 
people with visual difficulties and all selections should be determined as a result of consultation with 
The Client; 

• Colour boards must be used to agree colour schemes with The Client; 

• Subtle colour schemes and coding should be used to allow distinction between different 
departments and assist patient way finding; 

• Colour schemes should be such to promote young adults and older children to feel comfortable in 
the facility; 

• Colour schemes should be DDA compliant. 

 

Finishes 

Finishes should comply with the following requirements: 

• Finishes should be as detailed in the Room Data Sheets and should be appropriate for their 
particular use; 

• Wall finishes should be durable, easily cleaned and where required fire resistant; 

• Finishes should be chosen with consideration of their acoustics and noise reduction capabilities; 

Page 181



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  32 
 

• External finishes should be durable, resistant to weathering suitable for people with disabilities and 
not able to be used for destructive purposes. 

 

Sanitary Fittings 

Sanitary fittings should comply with the following requirements: 

• Low-level WC cisterns shall be concealed; 

• WC seats shall be securely fixed to the pan; 

• Size and fixing height of sanitary ware must be appropriate for its location (including taking into 
account the needs of disabled persons); 

• No plugs required for wash hand basins in toilets; 

• Each WC will require a wash-hand basin with non-touch taps and a WC with a non-touch flush valve; 

• Robust and tamper proof mixer taps shall be fitted subject to contrary agreement with The Client. 
The type of basin enclosure / surface to be agreed with The Client; 

• Wash hand basins shall be fixed to a solid structure. These may require centre leg supports in case of 
accidental damage by users sitting or putting undue pressure on basins etc. suitable noggins will be 
installed during construction to receive the fixings for all sanitary ware; 

• All supply pipework and waste pipework will be installed in concealed but accessible ducts; 

• Local isolation valves will be fitted to all sanitary ware; 

• Thermostatic mixer valves must be installed on all hot water service supplies to prevent scalding; 

• Mirror fixing height (measured from floor to bottom edge) must be appropriate for the intended 
users; 

• Mirrors shall be shatterproof; 

• Fixtures and fittings in the toilets areas must be sufficiently robust to withstand minor acts of casual 
vandalism; 

• Showers must be self-draining and provide privacy for users 

. 

Signage 

Internal and external signage shall comply with the following requirements: 

• The facility shall have a main external sign, detailing the name of the facility and other pertinent 
information, which the Contractor is required to provide in consultation with The Client; 

• External signage shall also include clear signage for visitors; 

• Colour schemes should be used to help visually impaired users and staff to orientate themselves 
within the buildings, and to identify doorways, door handles, handrails, and changes in levels; 

• Contrasts should be maintained and re-introduced in subsequent redecoration schemes; 

• All rooms and facilities should have appropriate signing to define their purpose. The detailed 
requirements for individual rooms must be agreed with The Client; 

• Means of escape, fire-fighting equipment, automatic fire detection systems and fire signage 
provisions must all be agreed with the Fire and Rescue Service. 

Page 182



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  33 
 

 

Heating and Thermal Comfort 

Heating must be provided to all rooms and areas excluding the cleaner’s store, services cabinets and plant 

areas. Heating shall comply with the following requirements: 

• The systems shall be robust and durable as damage can lead to significant down time; 

• Routing of heating pipes shall be coordinated with the building appearance and be routed such that 
major disruption to the facility is avoided further to minor failures or routine maintenance; 

• Access to the piped services for maintenance and repair must be available without major disruption 
to the building structure and general circulation routes; 

• Heating systems to all areas shall be sufficient to ensure an internal temperature of 20°C to 28°C 
during cold weather (down to -3°C) and incorporate controls capable of reducing the level of heat in 
individual rooms and areas by individual staff 

• Surface temperatures of heat emitters and associated pipe work must be safe; 

• Low surface temperature radiators or under-floor heating or reflective ceiling radiators shall be 
fitted in all areas used by children; 

• Space heating controls must be easy to use by untrained staff, reliable and must be tamper-proof; 

• Low surface temperature radiators should be installed and pipe work boxed in where patients, 
residents and visitors have access in accordance with HGN “Safe Hot Water and Surface 
Temperatures. 

 

Ventilation 

Ventilation systems shall comply with the following requirements: 

• The location of fans/extraction outlets should consider the layout of furniture and equipment in the 
room and its use, e.g. not to be located over treatment couches where patients are likely to be 
partially dressed; 

• All ventilation must be flushed with the ceiling as far as reasonably practical; 

• All methods of ventilation must be integrated into the building whether natural, passive or 
mechanical and coordinated with the fire alarm where required; 

• Ventilation of all internal spaces in the building shall be to the required standards and additional 
ventilation measures will be required in certain areas as identified in the Room Data Sheets an in 
accordance with the Building Regulations Approved Document Part L2 (2002). 

 

Hot and Cold Water Installation 

Systems must fully comply with HTM 04-01 Water Systems – The control of Legionella and HGN “Safe Hot 

Water and Surface Temperatures”.  Where hot and cold water is supplied it shall comply with the following 

requirements: 

• The Contractor must provide water services to outlet points, equipment of the correct type, 
sufficient rate and suitable temperature to meet the Performance Standards; 

Page 183



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  34 
 

• The Contractor must provide suitable systems of water storage and hot water production that 
comply with Industry Standards and complement the physical layout of the building and ensure 
energy efficient operation and meet the operation and requirements of the facility; 

• The temperature of hot water supplies to showers and basins shall not exceed 41°C; 

• The systems shall operate in a safe condition appropriate to the process, function and specific areas 
being served; 

• Mains water shall be supplied direct to the kitchen as per the Room Data Sheets; 

• All water services installations shall comply with BS6700 and BS6465 and be installed and 
commissioned in accordance with the provisions of the Health and Safety Commission; 

• Code of Practice for the Prevention and Control of Legionellosis and disinfected to comply with 
Industry Standards; 

• Where domestic hot water is supplied without local thermostatic control, all taps must be 
appropriately labelled and the water temperature should not exceed 55°C; 

• There shall be a constant supply of hot water to beverage bays suitable for the making of tea and 
coffee as well as constant chilled drinking water. None of these supplies shall make use of bottled 
water. 

 
Where clinical sinks are supplied they shall comply with the following requirements: 

• In clinical areas taps should be elbow-, knee- or sensor-operated; 

• Soaps and disinfectants should be wall mounted near the sink and should not be refillable but 
designed to take single cartridges; 

• Paper towels should be conveniently placed; 

• Foot-pedal operated bins should be placed by each clinical wash basin; 

• Separate sinks should be provided in areas where contaminated wastewater or blood and body 
fluids are disposed i.e. dirty utility rooms, domestic store areas; 

• Splash backs should be provided at all sinks; 

• Seals around the sinks must be sealed to prevent water ingress. 

 

Infection control 

Detailed guidelines for infection prevention and control are set out in Appendix E. These follow the general 

principles given in ‘The Health and Social Care Act 2008: Code of Practice on the prevention and control of 

infections and related guidance’ (the healthcare- associated infection (HCAI) Code of Practice). This code of 

practice sets out criteria by which healthcare organisations are to ensure that patients are cared for in a 

clean environment and where the risk of HCAIs is kept as low as possible. 

The control and prevention of healthcare-associated infection (HCAI) is a priority issue in terms of not only 

the safety and well-being of patients and staff, but also the resources consumed by potentially avoidable 

infections. It is important that the design of the building facilitates good infection prevention and control 

practices, and has the quality and design of finishes and fittings that enable thorough access, cleaning, 

disinfection and maintenance to take place. 

Page 184



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  35 
 

Access 

Access to and from the H&WBC shall comply with the following requirements: 

• There must be appropriate provision for access by an ambulances; 

• There must be appropriate provision for approach and access for goods delivery and waste disposal 
vehicles with appropriate segregation from public and staff access routes; 

• Pedestrian access routes must be obvious, pleasant and suitable for wheelchair users and people 
with other disabilities; 

• All outdoor spaces must be provided with appropriate safe lighting indicating paths, ramps, steps 
etc.; 

• There must be an appropriate fire planning strategy allowing for ready access and egress. 

 

Lighting 

Lighting systems shall comply with the following requirements: 

• Lighting shall be designed to suit specific tasks or multi task areas in line with the room functions; 

• The type of fittings shall be agreed with the client, all fittings should be robust, tamper proof and 
flush with ceilings or floors; 

• Metal light switch and power points are required; 

• The control and switching shall suit the operational requirements of the facility. The Client requires 
that lighting switches are rated at a minimum of 20Amp. for this grid type switches are required; 

• Light fittings and lamp sources shall be robust and suitably secured; 

• The Contractor must provide emergency lighting to ensure safe evacuation in an emergency and/or 
in the event of mains power failure, to be integrated with escape routes and doors. Emergency 
lighting must comply with BS 5266; 

• Illumination levels and luminaires must be in accordance with the CIBSE Code for Lighting and in 
accordance with the Room Data Sheets and Industry Standards; 

• Manual over-ride facilities must be provided to any automatic lighting controls; 

• Tungsten lamps shall not be used; 

• Emergency lighting must be provided for the minor surgery/treatment room, must form part of the 
Uninterruptable Power Supply and be installed in emergency escape routes as indicated by The 
Client’s Fire Adviser; 

• The Contractor must provide external lighting that provides a safe environment for people, traffic 
and the building. Light pollution must be minimised and kept within the limits as required by BS 5489 
and nuisance as a result of lighting to the adjacent neighbourhood shall be avoided wherever 
possible. 

 

Power Circuits 

Power circuit systems shall comply with the following requirements: 

• The power circuit system shall be designed to minimise interference to computers caused by 
electrical faults or failures; 

Page 185



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  36 
 

• Uninterruptable Power Supply will be required to the life critical and safety systems as well as the 
minor ops surgery unit.  The DH HTM 06-01 (Health Technical Memorandum) 2007 - Electrical 
Services: Supply and Distribution (1993), emphasises that a hospital distribution system should 
provide security of supply with safety and flexibility in operation. A professionally designed, installed 
and maintained UPS/IPS system is therefore essential; 

• The Contractor shall provide suitable RCBO/RCD protection against electric shock and circuit 
overload for all socket outlets; 

• The Contractor shall provide the appropriate number and distribution of sockets detailed within the 
Room Data Sheets together with such other additional sockets as may reasonably be required for 
general maintenance and other functions such as cleaning; 

• All sockets must be sited safely away from potential dangers. 

 

Utilities Sub-metering 

Services shall be designed to enable the management and charging of energy and services between the 

primary care and other areas. 

Lightning Protection 

The building shall be provided with suitable lightning protection systems in accordance with current Codes of 

Practice. 

Fire Alarm System 

The building must comply with Firecode and current Building and Fire Regulations and will take into account 

any recommendations made by the Trust’s specialist Fire Officer. To enable swift and safe vertical evacuation 

and exit for mobility impaired / disabled users of the health facility a Fire Evacuation lift to standard 

B2999:2008 must be installed.  

The Evacuation lift must have two independent supplies and we need to ensure that the area where the 

wheel chair services are to be located must be as close to the evacuation lift area as possible with suitable 

fire resistance and compartmentation provided as part of the design. 

The alarm should be a minimum of L2 and must have visual alerts in the toilet and other public areas, i.e. 

corridors and waiting rooms.  

There should be disabled refuge and call systems located on or adjacent to all fire exit stairs and the fire 

evacuation lift on the upper floor. 

A fully digital addressable, open protocol, fire alarm system should be provided throughout the new 

development in accordance with HTM05 suite of documents, as applicable to primary and social care 

premises with DDA compliancy. 

The new system shall be required to be interfaced with the Access Control system so that in the event of a 

fire emergency unhindered egress is afforded. Systems shall be designed to ensure that all necessary 

mechanical systems and incoming gas supply are shut down by the fire alarm in the event of fire. 

A clear laminated fire plan indicating all fire zones and firefighting equipment shall be provided and installed 

in a conspicuous location adjacent to the fire alarm panel. 

Page 186



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  37 
 

Specialist Installations 

The following specialist installations shall be provided where necessary and shall comply with the following 

requirements: 

TV Installations 

TV installations shall be provided that supply TV outlets in the locations set out in the Room Data Sheets, 

together with any signal booster equipment necessary to receive acceptable signals. 

The Contractor shall ensure that the VCR/DVDR can be operated from outside the room it is located in. The 

installations shall be capable of receiving and distributing digital/analogue transmissions and shall comply 

with all relevant British Standards 

ICT System 

The Contractor shall ensure that the installation and testing of the computer networks capable of carrying 

data, voice and video to allow onsite usage is provided in the locations set out in the Room Data Sheets. The 

Contractor shall provide cabling to a minimum of CAT6. The installation shall comply with the requirements 

of BS EN 50174-2 and those of the selected equipment manufacturer. All cabling should be in separate 

compartment trunking. Fibre-optic cabling must be used if the distance to be covered is more than 90m or 

the cabling is exposed to the elements (See Appendix D for detailed specification of requirements). 

Telephones 

The Contractor is required to provide the cabling infrastructure and outlets for the telephone system in the 

locations set out in the Room Data Sheets. All equipment will be provided by the provider organisations. The 

contractor is responsible for ordering those lines required to commission the building including lift lines and 

Redcare line (See Appendix D) 

CCTV and Security System 

An Operational Requirements Survey based on the business case and proposed building design MUST be 

carried out by an LSMS to ascertain the requirements for any CCTV/ Security System to be installed. Based 

upon this report the design, type and requirements for the Alarm/CCTV system can then be stipulated. 

Panic Alarms 

Panic alarms required in all the rooms where staff and patients interact and immediately accessible by staff 

in any part of the room and must be hidden from view. (The Client (LSMS) to confirm system required). Staff 

need to be protected by security whilst still maintaining a welcoming environment for patients. During the 

H&WBC’s normal hours of operation the panic alarm should register back to the reception desk on a control 

panel with call origination capabilities. However, after hours these alarms will need to be diverted to the 

police via an autodial facility. The positioning of panic alarm devices and autodial facilities must be agreed 

with The Client (LSMS). 

Staff Call Systems 

A staff (nurse) call system is required to all clinical rooms. The controls are to be situated in the reception 

area with a link to the Practice/Centre Managers’ rooms and staff room. The specified nurse call system shall 

provide for the following call origination capabilities:  

Page 187



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  38 
 

• Patient station to control station; 

• WC pull cord to control station. 

 
To identify incoming calls, the Reception shall have the floor number, room number, single number and call 

level displayed on clear back lit display. There must also be a clear alarm alert indicator above the door of, or 

adjacent to the room in which the alarm originates. 

Patient Check in/Call System 

The patient call system located within the main reception/waiting area must provide a facility for patients to 

self-check in as well as those wishing to check in at reception. Therefore a simple check in system is required 

for use by both staff and patients. The hardware will be a group 2 item. The Patient Call module should allow 

individual GP’s to view a list of their arrived patients. This view should provide staff with the freedom to call 

and re-call their patients directly and adjust their place in a queue. Once called, an announcement should be 

instantly displayed on a Patient Call screen in the patient waiting area. The call display should be able to be 

configured to show a patient’s name or simply a number. There must also be the ability for staff to mark 

patients as seen or not seen. 

Furniture and Equipment 

Fixed furniture and Equipment 

The Contractor shall supply fixed furniture as set out in the Furniture and Equipment schedule and Room 

Data Sheets. See Appendix C for groupings schedule.  Furniture should be procured from sustainable sources 

where possible and be in compliance with relevant HTMs. 

White Goods and Kitchen Equipment 

White Goods and Kitchen Equipment can be provided as set out in the Furniture and Equipment Schedule. 

These will be group 2 items. 

Loose Furniture 

Where the provision of the loose furniture falls to the developer as stated within the Room Data sheets then 

the furniture and equipment shall comply with the following requirements: 

• The facility shall have appropriate furniture and equipment which shall comply with Industry 
Standards; 

• All soft furniture should be to Crib 5 standard; 

• The responsibility for initial provision and maintenance of firefighting equipment as recommended 
by the Fire Officer is the Contractors; 

• Fixtures and fittings shall be of a standard at least equivalent to that provided by a recognised and 
approved supplier to The Client; 

• All blinds (Group 1) will be operated using a metal side winder operation and where possible, blinds 
to be fitted within the window recess areas; 

• All blinds to be made of a washable, inherently fire retardant fabric; 

• Contract quality, metal, hand drawn track systems to be provided to all areas where curtains are 
required. 

Page 188



Tenants Requirements for the Bromley Health & Wellbeing Centre – Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group 

  39 
 

The Contractor shall provide all window coverings as set out in the Room Data Sheets. 

Curtains where applicable should be fully lined. All vertical blinds are to be washable. Battens for the fixing of 

the window coverings are to be provided. 

Waste 

All forms of waste shall be sealed and stored in a place designated for storage until collection or disposal or if 

internal storage points are not possible, clinical waste will need to be taken to the external store at the end 

of each session. Careful design consideration should be given to the layout and proportions of the waste 

store/hold to ensure segregation of separate waste streams awaiting collection. 

Other 

The design should ensure compliance with the following standards: 

• Sustainability and the Environment: It is an absolute requirement that a ‘Very Good’ BREEAM rating 
is achieved as a minimum standard; 

• Way Finding: The NHS Identity Guidelines: Main Signage: the New NHS Wayfinding Design 
Guidelines, BS 5499 Parts 1 and 4, and the Health & Safety Regulations 1996, The Disability 
Discrimination Act 2005, Current Building Regs Approved Documents (Part M); 

• Information Technology: Data Protection Act, Health and Safety Act, Freedom of Information Act, 
The Computer Misuse Act, NHS Direct Information Security Policy Statement; 

• Planning Permissions: Town and Country Planning Act for England and Wales, any planning 
conditions; 

• Building Regulations: Current Building Regulations Approved Documents; 

• DDA: The Disability Discrimination Act 2005, Current Building Regulations Approved Documents (Part 
M); 

• Health Building Notes; 

• Health Facilities Notes; 

• Health Guidance Notes ; 

• Health Technical Memoranda; 

• British Standards; 

• CIBSE Design Guides; 

• IEE Regulations; 

• Acoustic requirements. 

 

 

Page 189



 

 

Page 190



 

 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 191



 

 

Appendix A – Activity Projections 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Primary care

13,815 6 74,601 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 57.5 70% 15 Consult exam 9.0

13,815 1.05 14,920 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 57.5 70% 20 treatment 2.0

Sub total 89,521 11.0

Primary Care Access Hub 17,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 28 60% 15 Consult exam 1.0

Sub total 107,021 12.0

Diagnostics

Endoscopy procedures exams 8,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 15
Endoscopy  

suite
2.0

Ultrasound exams 7,190 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 15 US suite 0.8

Cardiology Diagnostics exams 5,000 weeks/pa 50 Hrs/week 65 70% 15 Consult exam 1.0

Phlebotomy atts 20,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 5 station 1.0

Sub total 40,190 4.8

Outpatients

Community

Dermatology atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.2

Gynae atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.2

COPD atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.2

Contraception/SH atts 1,550 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Leg ulcer atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.2

SaLT atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.2

Diabetes atts 4,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 1.0

Podiatry atts 5,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 1.0

Weight Mgmt –adults atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.1

Weight Mgmt - children atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.1

Midwifery: ante natal 

Midwifery – Post natal

Midwifery: post natal atts 1,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 20 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Midwifery: Parentcraft atts 750 weeks/pa 12 hrs/month 4 70% 60 Activity Area 0.1

Sub total 25,800 3.9

Secondary

Colposcopy atts 1,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Elderly care atts 1,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Cardio-Vascular atts 3,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 20 Consult exam 0.3

Audiology - adults atts 2,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Audiology - children atts 2,020 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Audiology- tests atts 2,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Sound Proof 1.0

Audiology - tests atts 2,000 Weeks/pa 50 Hrs/week 65 70% 30 Testing room 1.0

Lymphodaema clinics atts 1,500 Weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Falls - consultant atts 250 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.1

Falls - nurse atts 650 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 60 Consult exam 0.3

Sub total 15,920 3.7

Mental Health

IAPT atts 2,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Consult exam 0.4

IAPT – commuter sessions atts 750 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 20 70% 30 Consult exam 0.2

Rehab/re-employment atts 500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 20 70% 60 Consult exam 0.2

Sub total 3,250 0.8

Therapies

New MSK atts 3,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 45 Treatment 1.0

F/up MSK atts 12,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Treatment 2.5

MCATS new atts 2,500 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 45 Treatment 1.0

MCATS return atts 800 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 30 Treatment 0.2

Exercise classes atts 3,000 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 60 Activity area 1.0

Falls - 1:1 physio atts 150 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 60 Treatment 0.1

Falls - group  physio atts 250 weeks/pa 50 hrs/week 65 70% 60 Activity area 0.1

Sub total 21,700 5.9

TOTAL 213,881 31.1

0.250 hrs/week 14 70% 30
Consult exam

rooms

Dysart GP Practice list size

atts pa availability utilisation
contact 

mins

atts 1,500 weeks/pa

Activity Performance and utilisation Functional Content

Page 192



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 193



 

 

Appendix B – Site Location 

 

 

Page 194



 

 

Appendix C – Equipment Grouping 

General Description & Fittings List Checklist 1 2* 3* 

General descriptions or specification notes 

Suspended ceilings with modular lighting to suit use/function ✓   

Carpet/vinyl floor finishes to suit use/function (include barrier matting) ✓   

Doors: durable, self-finished with suited locks, latches and handles to suit use/function ✓   

Glazed screens to be full height with doors to match ✓   

Wall protection: on corners ✓   

Wall protection: dado to YHC corridor areas ✓   

Door protection: ancillary and service entrances; kick plates to high wear areas ✓   

Skirtings: to provide protection and a hygienic finish/ joint between wall and floor ✓   

Staircase - no resonant vibration: balustrades/handrails - simple ✓   

Balustrades (e.g. balconies/edge protection) - pre finished with glazed panels ✓   

Walls and partitions to achieve min 45db (site tested) ✓   

Wall and ceiling finishes in waiting, foyer open areas to achieve low reflection time ✓   

Colour scheme to client approval (Dulux Diamond to walls) ✓   

Design against cross infection and Legionnella ✓   

Lighting (general and feature - e.g. to reception counters, info areas, waiting rm) ✓   

Small power and dedicated supplies for building services and systems as required ✓   

Space heating, zoned to suit: avoid hazard and obstruction to use or placing of furniture ✓   

Natural ventilation by openable windows (day time and night time cooling) + trickle ✓   

Mechanical ventilation, only where required to suite use or function ✓   

Comfort cooling systems (minor ops and comms rooms) or as essential to use BMS - simple ✓   

CCTV to entrance, reception, waiting, foyer, staircase and circulation areas ✓   

Lightning protection ✓   

Cold water storage for standby operation ✓   

Plug in for mobile generator for essential supply ✓   

Intruder alarm system - zoned to suit use ✓   

Access control system: PC based with proximity readers or swipe card  ✓  

Redcare ✓   

Panic/attack system ✓   

Patient call system - linked to IT system  ✓  

Fire alarm system ✓   

Firefighting equipment  ✓  

White goods  ✓  

Room identification numbers and room names ✓   

Window blinds to all areas as necessary for privacy and to avoid direct sunlight and heat gain ✓   

Internal direction signs ✓   

Entrance and exits doors 

Automatic control to main entrance doors with intercom, access control and lock ✓   

Double doors to ancillary/service entrance with intercom, access control and lock ✓   

Security locks to external doors with panic push bars on inside of fire exit doors ✓   

Access control to all external doors (other than fire exit only)  ✓  

Page 195



 

 

General Description & Fittings List Checklist 1 2* 3* 

Medical gas bottle storage ✓   

Medical gas by bottles   ✓ 

Loose furniture i.e. desks, chairs, couches, trolleys, mobile lights, cabinets etc.   ✓ 

Bins   ✓ 

Notice/pin boards Coat hooks to doors   ✓ 

Office, staff, meeting and training areas 

Loose furniture i.e. desks, chairs, tables, cabinets etc.   ✓ 

Kitchenettes: sink, mixer tap, appliance spaces, worktop, base and wall cup'ds ✓   

General shelving - store rooms   ✓ 

General shelving - offices   ✓ 

Sundry equipment - white board, projection screen etc.   ✓ 

Cabling for TV/Video to training/meeting rooms   ✓ 

Showers/shower cubicles included in shared area ✓   

Safe   ✓ 

WC, showers, changing, baby change, ancillary 

Mixed sex/public and staff WCs ✓   

Mixed sex/public and staff shower and change area ✓   

Water proof, seamless wall and floor finishes complete ✓   

Tamper proof suspended ceilings with recessed lighting etc. ✓   

Concealed building services ✓   

Space heating to avoid electric heaters or surface mounted radiators ✓   

Generally, outward opening doors, laminate finished ✓   

Staff small, medium and full height lockers   ✓ 

Coat hooks, shelf and bench to shower and change area ✓   

Towel hook to shower/change ✓   

WCs to be back to wall or (preferred) concealed cisterns ✓   

Wash basins - WC areas: lever mixer mono-block or (preferred) vanity unit with inset basin 
and lever mixer mono-block 

✓ 

  

Shower cubicles complete, including fixed head spray, mixer and curtain + track ✓   

Change areas to include vanity basin with mixer tap and base unit, mirror and mirror light ✓   

Baby change to include vanity basin with mixer tap and base unit, fixed change table, mirror 
and mirror light 

✓ 

  

Coat hooks to all WCs ✓   

Mirror above all basins/vanity basins ✓   

Electric hand driers to WC and wash rooms ✓   

 

General Description & Fittings List Checklist 1 2* 3* 

Soap, hand scrub dispensers   ✓ 

Toilet roll holders   ✓ 

Paper towel holders   ✓ 

Bins: sharps, clinical, general, sanitary towel etc.   ✓ 

Shelving to store rooms   ✓ 

Page 196



 

 

IT 

Structured cabling for voice and data ✓   

Telephone system   ✓ 

IT Terminations ✓   

Patch panels ✓   

Containment for Voice/Data cabling ✓   

Containment for Security cabling ✓   

Three compartment trunking to work stations/above worktops and counters incl. reception ✓   

IT Equipment   ✓ 

TV aerial and booster ✓   

External areas 

Illuminated external building name sign Illuminated external site sign ✓   

Site directional signage ✓   

External security lighting ✓   

Hard landscaping to draft planning application Soft landscaping to draft planning 
application CCTV (Internal/External) 

✓ 

  

Lockable clinical waste/bin stores ✓   

External tool store ✓   

Stand, building services connection and access to mobile unit ✓   

External cold water tap ✓   

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 197



 

 

Appendix D – ICT Infrastructure 
 

ICT Infrastructure 

Requirements  

Bromley Health and 

Wellbeing Centre 
 
 
  

Page 198



 

 

 
 

Contents 

1 Purpose and Scope ........................................................................................................................ 3 

2 Service Requirements .................................................................................................................... 3 

3 Assumptions................................................................................................................................... 4 

4 Terminology ................................................................................................................................... 4 

5 Planning requirements................................................................................................................... 4 

Design and planning principles ......................................................................................................... 4 

Detailed Design and Planning Requirements ................................................................................... 5 

Telephony Business Continuity ........................................................................................................ 6 

6 Environmental Pre-Requisites ........................................................................................................ 6 

Communications/Hub Room Specification ....................................................................................... 6 

Air conditioning for Communication Rooms .................................................................................... 8 

7 Wireless Connectivity..................................................................................................................... 8 

8 Warranty 9 

9 Technical Standards ....................................................................................................................... 9 

Technical principles .......................................................................................................................... 9 

Performance Verification ............................................................................................................... 11 

Wiring Map ..................................................................................................................................... 11 

10 Testing - Minimum Requirements ............................................................................................... 11 

Testing of ISO Class E ...................................................................................................................... 11 

Testing of Fibre ............................................................................................................................... 12 

Documentation .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Appendices ............................................................................................................................................. 14 

Appendix 1 – Glossary .................................................................................................................... 14 

Appendix 2 - Example communication room layout ...................................................................... 16 

Appendix 3 - Example cabinet layout ............................................................................................. 17 

 

  

Page 199



 

 

1 Purpose and Scope 

Throughout this document, the use of the phrase “communications room” 

signifies a dedicated room suitable for communications, network and/or server 

operations. 

a) Structured Cabling, including copper and fibre. 

b) All patch panels for the structured cabling, including RJ45 

termination panels in cabinets, termination in floor boxes, 

termination in Dado trunking and all other RJ45 outlets. 

c) Cabling and server cabinets, including cable management, PDUs, and fan trays. 

d) Cabling for any audio-visual requirements. 

e) Analogue, digital and satellite signal reception devices. 

f) Incoming communications, e.g. voice and data. 

g) Specifically excluded from the scope at this stage are: 

• Active audio visual equipment e.g. whiteboards, projectors; 

• Proximity and/or swipe card readers; 

• General building management systems e.g. fire alarms; 

• Access control systems; 

• Catering systems; 

• All other loose ICT; 

• Containment. 

 

2 Service Requirements 

a) 24 hours per day, 365 days per year access to NHS voice and data network and associated 
services. 

b) Services which are fully compliant with all Information Governance, IT Security 

and Data Protection Policies and other relevant HSCIC policies. 

c) Access to organisational information will be secure and structured manner. 

d) Clinical and management access to Integrated Care Records System including 

PAC’s image services, where appropriate. 

e) Access for all NHS staff from the supported organisations to all N3 Spine Applications. 

f) Disability access to ICT services will be available if specified and will be costed separately. 
 

3 Assumptions 

The following assumptions are made: 
 

Page 200



 

 

a) On the ground or first floor there will be a main reception area which may 

be shared by different agencies. 

b) Technical representatives working for or on behalf of the tenant’s to have 

shared access to the communications / server rooms. Secure access 

methods to be agreed. 

c) The individual tenants will provide their own network hardware, desktop 

equipment, servers, pagers, telephones and other communication devices, 

unless agreed otherwise. 

d) The tenants will install and manage the telephony service and systems. This 

may be a centralised system with costs and charges being apportioned 

between tenants. 

 

4 Terminology 
 

Appendix 1 contains a glossary of technical terms and acronyms. 
 
 

5 Planning requirements 
 

Design and planning principles 

 
a) The provision of an Ethernet network backbone utilising 1000BASE-T/1000BASE-TX (Gigabit 

Ethernet) cable that is capable of supporting speeds of 1000 Mbit/s. 

b) As a minimum, the cabling MUST conform to CAT.6 specification and certification. 

c) The network cabling is to provide connectivity to every data outlet within the building 

d) Each location where a data and/or telephony point is presented, there will 

be a minimum of Four active RJ-45 sockets. This will allow for connectivity of 

: 

⚫ Workstation 

⚫ Telephone 

⚫ Other network device (e.g. network printer) 

⚫ Spare 

 
e) The tenants will install and manage the LAN/WAN infrastructures with 

the exception of the structured cabling infrastructure and power, 

which is the responsibility of  the Developer. 

f) Communication rooms MUST NOT be located in basement areas. 
 
 
 

Page 201



 

 

 

Detailed Design and Planning Requirements 

The ICT facilities are expected to provide the services detailed below: 
 

a) The core network (voice and data) services must provide for a 

minimum of 40% expansion including peripherals such as printers and 

faxes. 

 

b) The LAN/WAN must be able to support services including but not 

limited to: 

⚫ TCP/IP protocol including (EIGRP, LWAPP) 

⚫ IP Telephony 

 

c) Where possible, IP Telephony is to be implemented providing core telephony services. 
 

d) Wiring systems must support a multi-product, multi-vendor environment. 
 

e) All communication rooms must be connected to separate, clean power circuits or phases, 
different for each room, offering a minor level of redundancy with power related problems. 
 

f) Uninterruptible power supply systems will be installed in the communication rooms to 
provide at least one hour of battery backup to all critical network and server room 
equipment. These will be provided by each of the tenants for their organisation’s IT 
equipment in the communications room, unless this is shared infrastructure which will then 
be provided by the BHC/BCCG IT. 
 

g) Quad multi-mode fibre connections to be installed between each communication room to 
allow for cross-connectivity and reduce network bottlenecks and latency between rooms. 
 

h) For additional resilience, two CAT.6 interconnect UTP cables per cabinet between each 
communication room. Therefore the installation of four cabinets would require eight UTP 
cables, clearly identified and terminated on a patch panel. 
 

i) As a minimum a 25 pair multicore voice cable to be installed from the main DP to a dedicated 
24 port voice panel in each communication room to allow for copper based services (e.g. 
PSTN, ISDN) to be distributed via the central cabling system. 
 

j) It must be possible to access the required clinical system(s) at the point of care. 
 

k) In areas where the required hardware that provides access to a clinical system is prohibitive 
(e.g. due to space restrictions), the use of mobile technology combined with a Wireless LAN is 
the recommended approach. 

l) Each area that provides diagnosis and treatment for patients should have 

access to required clinical system, if applicable, to assist in that process. 

m) Diagnostic images will be provided in digital format. This negates the 

Page 202



 

 

need for light boxes to be fitted, although there will be need to increase 

the work stations with diagnostic quality screens. These are to be 

installed in convenient areas. 

n) The installed LAN must be capable of transporting large image files (up to 

200Mb) without any adverse effect to other users. 

o) Access to BAU applications and Email functionality via NHSMail must be available 

to all staff. This will include access to central file servers and localised directories 

as permitted by the individual’s logon credentials. 

p) Provision of a double network point for each patient self-check system – two are 

required for the GP surgeries. 

q) Two double power points to be installed in the same locality as each patient check-in system. 

r) Provision for a ceiling mounted, double network point for a patient call system at 

each waiting area (including sub waits). 

s) Patient information and education should be provided electronically, where 

possible, in public areas, such as waiting rooms, receptions, etc. 

Telephony Business Continuity 

a) Each tenant is advised to have one PSTN direct dial handset provisioned in their 

reception area for business continuity purposes. They are for emergency use only 

and the numbers are not to be made public. The cost for both rental and call to 

be billed to the services. 

b) The handsets must not be electrically powered or battery operated. 

 

6 Environmental Pre-requisites 
 

Communications/Hub Room Specification 

 
This section describes the technical standards and requirements for the communication rooms. 
 

Appendix 2 shows an example room layout. 
 

a) The number of communication rooms is be determined by the size of the 

buildings, the 90m cable limitation and the density of staff. 

b) Each communication room must : 

⚫ be of a MINIMUM room size of 3 metres by 4 metres by 3.5 metres high. 

⚫ be able to accommodate 4 cabinets of 42U by 1000mm (depth) 

800mm (wide) bayed as one unit. 

⚫ have dual air conditioning units offering N+1 protection, 

providing the appropriate cooling for the potential output from 

4 server cabinets. See section 7.2 for further information on air 

Page 203



 

 

conditioning requirements. 

⚫ have the flooring waterproofed with no service penetrations. 

⚫ not have a ceiling grid installed. 

⚫ have lighting with minimum lux levels conforming to BS6206 

installed at the front and rear of each cabinet. Lighting MUST not 

be installed directly over a cabinet. 

⚫ have windows blocked out, if present. 

⚫ secured door entry. 

⚫ not have any water supplies (feed or waste) pass through the rooms. 

⚫ have a dedicated power feed to each room, running on their own circuit or phase. 

⚫ have a minimum of 12 double electrical sockets fitted, with a 

minimum of 8 units being installed to the rear of the cabinets and 

the remaining installed on the opposing front wall. See comment in 

Appendix 2 

⚫ have 4 double RJ45 data outlets installed on the opposing front 

wall. See comment in Appendix 2 

⚫ have the interconnecting fibre cables presenting at the top of 

“communication links” cabinet using a fibre connector panel. 

Ideally there should be a couple of metres of spare fibre to allow 

for the relocation of the fibre panel in the future. 

⚫ have a dedicated 24 port RJ-45 patch panel connected to the 

multi-core voice cable from the main DP. This is to be in the 

“communication links” cabinet and marked up appropriately. 

 
c) Each communications cabinet must: 

⚫ be a minimum of 42U by 1000mm (depth) 800mm (wide). 

⚫ have mesh fronted doors. 

⚫ be fully earth bonded to a minimum of EN50174-2, EN50310 standards. 

⚫ bayed together to form a single unit. 

⚫ internal side panels removed. 

⚫ fitted on a static 100mm high plinth fixed to the floor. 

⚫ be fitted with dual roof fans on each cabinet. 

⚫ have cable containment both back and front. 

⚫ fitted with, as a minimum, an 18 way mixed socket PDU, 

mounted horizontally at the rear in the mid-point. 

⚫ have the front vertical supports recessed 150mm from front of cabinet. 

⚫ horizontal 1U cable tidies to be installed per two 24 way patch panels. 

⚫ vertical cable tidies to be installed every 6U on both sides and in all supplied cabinets. 

⚫ have no gaps left for expansion in the patch panels, all cables 

must be installed in a contiguous fashion. 

⚫ not exceed the maximum acceptable cabinet density of 432 

Page 204



 

 

cables, which will fully populate a 42U cabinet. 

 
d) Any NON ICT equipment MUST NOT be installed within the communication rooms. 

e) Any devices that generate a high level of electromagnetic field MUST not be 

installed near network cabling. This can have performance issues of the UTP 

Category 6 cable but more importantly corrupt network traffic. 

f) Where a UTP or fibre cable will be susceptible to damage from normal 

operational activity it MUST be protected by an appropriate covering. An 

example of this is where a UTP cable is exposed at floor level and is susceptible 

to damage by being trodden upon. 

g) All rooms MUST be constructed with walls and or partitions going from slab 

to slab to form a fire resistant barrier. 

h) Any object piercing this structure MUST be properly sealed to be fire resistant. 

i) Communication room’s walls and soffit installations MUST be sealed, 

exposed brick work or unfinished surfaces are not allowed. 

 
Air conditioning for Communication Rooms. 

Each of the communication rooms must be fitted with a form of air conditioning, 

adhering to the following requirements: 
 

a) two air conditioning units must be installed in each communication room. 
 

b) each air conditioning unit must have of sufficient spare capacity to deal with maximum rated 
heat output from active electrical and ICT equipment, together with any solar gain. 
 

c) where possible the air conditioning units will have diverse electrical supplies to enable 
continued cooling in the event of individual breaker or cable failure. 
 

d) if the air conditioning units are ceiling mounted then these must not installed or positioned 
above or over the cabinets. 
 

e) no water or coolant pipe work is to run over the cabinets to or from the air conditioning units. 
 

f) during normal activity, each air conditioning unit should function at 45% of their overall load. 
 

g) in the event of a unit failure, the remaining unit should automatically increase its cooling 
output and maintain the required level of cooling. 
 

h) have a means of notifying the buildings manager of any air conditioning device problem or 
failure, externally to the communication room. 

 

7 Wireless Connectivity 

The modern world is moving towards a greater reliance on wireless technology, there 

Page 205



 

 

is a strong need for secured wireless access points (AP). Wireless networks are now an 

accepted part of the infrastructure requirements for the provision of modern 

healthcare systems. The AP’s need to be distributed around the building to provide 

strong coverage in all of the main areas. 
 

a) The wireless AP’s will be powered using Power over Ethernet (PoE) 

technology, negating the need for separate power feeds. 

b) There is a requirement for a double network point to be installed in each location. 
 

c) BHC/BCCG IT will nominate an authorised contractor to carry out a site survey to 

identify the best AP locations. This survey MUST be carried out at such at time 

during the build process that the internal build is substantially complete so as to 

enable a representative survey to be undertaken. 

d) Developer to provide 4 weeks’ notice of the week in which the survey can be undertaken. 

e) Where outlets are positioned above the ceiling grid a label MUST be fixed to 

wall below the outlet. The label to be a minimum of 40mm * 20mm with the 

wording 

 

8 Warranty 

a) A MINIMUM of a 20-year system warranty covering the installed cabling 

system(s) defined within this specification against defects in: 

⚫ workmanship 

⚫ components 

⚫ performance against manufacturer specification and to provide 

follow-on support after project completion. 

 
b) Warranty submittal shall comply with the manufacturer’s requirements for 

warranty to eliminate possible problems and delays. 

c) Bit Error Rate (BER) testing of the structured cable infrastructure to ensure 

1000BASE-TX, 1000BASE- SX and 1000BASE-LX compliance. 

d) Copies of all warranty paperwork and test results to be made available to SLCSU 

for review and audit purposes. 

 

9 Technical Standards 

This section describes the technical standards and requirements for cable, fibre and 

sockets, including the installation standards required. 
 

Technical principles 

a) It is the tenants’ policy to integrate voice and data cabling. There will 

Page 206



 

 

therefore be no distinction made between the specification of voice and data 

cables, from the data cabinet, to the end user location. 

b) Category 6 UTP will be minimum standard installed by the Developer which 

meets or exceeds EIA/TIA TSB 36 standard for Unshielded Twisted Pair (UTP 

cable) and EIA/TIA TSB 40 for cross-connect hardware. 

c) The Developer must adhere to EIA/TIA Building Telecommunications Wiring Standards as 
follows: 

EIA/TIA-568B series for: 

⚫ Commercial Unshielded Twisted Pair (UTP) Wiring Standard. 

⚫ Commercial Unshielded Twisted Pair (UTP) Wiring Standard for cross-connect hardware. 

⚫ Transmission Performance Specifications for Testing of UTP systems 

⚫ Centralised Optical Fibre Cabling Guidelines 

⚫ Commercial Building Telecommunications Wiring Standard. 

EIA/TIA-569-A for: 

⚫ Commercial Building Standard for Telecommunications Pathways and Spaces. 

EIA/TIA-606 for: 

⚫ The Administration Standard for the Telecommunications 

Infrastructure of Commercial Buildings 

J-S ID-607-A for: 

⚫ Commercial Building Grounding and Bonding Requirements for Telecommunications. 

 
d) The criteria contained within the EIA/TIA standards are subject to revision 

and updating as warranted by advances in network terminal equipment or 

wiring technology and the LIFTCO must ensure that the latest standard is 

applied prior to cable installation. 

e) If there are discrepancies between this specification including its supporting 

documents and EIA/TIA standards detailed above, the Developer will apply the 

latest EIA/TIA standard. 

f) All components of Category 6 UTP cable installation (such as data jacks, cross-

patch panels and patch cables) must be certified for Category 6 installations. An 

end to end certification test must be used by Developer and the results of the 

test are to be provided to SLCSU in an electronic format. This format to be 

agreed. 

g) All UTP cable installed MUST enable 1000BASE-TX and Fast Ethernet. 

h) All multi-mode fibre cable installed MUST enable 1000BASE-SX and Fast Ethernet. 

i) All single mode fibre installed MUST enable 1000BASE-LX. 

j) The longest Category 6 run from hub to user equipment must be no more than 

90 metres, excluding fly leads. 

Page 207



 

 

k) The maximum total length of patch cables and fly leads at both ends of the 

link to be 10 metre or less. 

l) A minimum of 40% of expansion must be provided. 

m) There must be 4 terminated Fibre cable runs between all the communication 

rooms. The fibre cables should contain at least 16 cores of multimode 62.5/125 

fibre optic, where the run is less than 251 metres. The fibre cables should 

contain at least 16 cores of Single mode 9/125 fibre optic, where the run is more 

than 250 metres. The required termination connectors to be confirmed. 

n) There must be two CAT.6 interconnect UTP cables per cabinet between 

each comms room. Therefore the installation of four cabinets would 

require eight UTP cables, clearly identified and terminated on a patch 

panel. 

o) The installed fibre Optic Cables will be designed to meet the requirements 

of structured cable networks in accordance with EN50173 or equivalent 

latest standard. 

p) All installed fibre cable will be suitable for use in the transmission of Gigabit 

Ethernet. Whether to install tight buffered or loose tube design will be left 

to the discretion of the Developer. 

q) All copper and fibre cable will adhere to the latest requirements to install 

LSNH (Low Smoke No Halogen) fire retardant standard cable in New Builds. 

r) Labelling will be capable of being altered in the event of the use of the 

data-point changing at a future date. 

 
Performance Verification 

a) The certified cabling installer will perform Bit Error Rate (BER) testing of 

the structured cable infrastructure to ensure 1000BASE-TX, 1000BASE-SX 

and 1000BASE-LX compliance. 

b) The results of the BER test will be made available to SLCSU for review and audit purposes. 
 

Wiring Map 

a) The wiring pin out MUST conform to the EIA/TIA 56B wiring standard. 

b) The installation MUST be completed in accordance with British Standards BS 

6701 Parts 1 and 2, BS EN 50174 and IEEE Regulations (17th Edition). If any of 

these standards have been superseded at the time of installation, then the 

updated versions will be deemed to be expected standards. 

 

 

Page 208



 

 

10 Testing - Minimum Requirements 

All cables must be tested to demonstrate compliance with the standards and 

specification to which they were bought. The manufacturer of the cabling system 

shall provide copper and optical fibre testing procedures that clearly describe the 

tools and settings to be used to ensure correct measurements of the system. 
 

The use of certification tool is MANDATORY. These tools are capable of producing 

reports logging key information such as the time of the test the link, identification 

under test, the link length, the attenuation at the window tested and the acceptable 

link attenuation. The report shall also identify in which direction the testing was 

implemented. 
 

It is expected that these reports will form the basis of the certification and warranty documentation. 
 

Testing of ISO Class E 

a) 100 % of the installed horizontal links have to be tested. The testing procedure has to comply 
with 

the standard ISO/IEC 11801: 2002 for Class E, according to the procedure for 

“Channel or Permanent Link” or latest technical standard. 

b) The measurements shall be done using Level III or IV testing equipment. 

Channel testing shall be preferred. 

c) The testing equipment must be yearly calibrated by the manufacturer and the 

copy of the calibration certificate must be included in the documentation. 

d) The following parameters have to be tested: 

⚫ Pair continuity (wiremap) 

⚫ Pair length 

⚫ DC Loop resistance per pair 

⚫ Insertion loss (Attenuation) per pair 

⚫ Next and Powersum Next for every pair combination 

⚫ Fext and Powersum Fext for every pair combination 

⚫ The ACR (ratio NEXT/ insertion loss) for every pair combination 

⚫ Return Loss (impedance match, retransmitted signal) 

⚫ Any standard tests that emerge over the lifetime of the structured 

cable infrastructure may be required after discussion with the 

tenants’ BHC/BCCG IT representative. 

 
e) The complete test results of all the installed links or channels have to be 

collected in a certification file. It is required to have the test result in electronic 

format to facilitate the certification procedure. 

 

Page 209



 

 

Testing of Fibre 

a) The procedure shall comply with the ISO/IEC 14763-3 standard or its successor. 

b) The ISO/IEC 14763 standard specifies the implementation and operation of customer 
premises cabling. 

c) The part 3 of this ISO document (14763-3) details test procedures for optical fibre cabling 
designed in accordance with ISO/IEC 11801:2002 and installed according to the 
recommendations of ISO/IEC 14763- 2 (Planning and installation of customer premises 
cabling). 

d) For Multimode fibres, the test procedure is based on the use of the “one-jumper method” 
specified by Method 2 of IEC 61280-4-1. This procedure is used for testing links for which the 
connector loss is a significant portion of the total link attenuation. This is the case for LAN 
premises links. 

e) For single mode fibres, the test procedure to be applied is the same and is based on the use 
of the “one-jumper method” specified by Method 1a of IEC 61280-4-2. 

 

f) Fibre-optic Tests applied to links and exclude equipment and work area cord. 
 

g) OF Attenuation testing is used to verify the initial performance of the installed link. 
 

h) All 100 % of the installed OF links have to be tested and must pass the acceptance criteria. 
 

i) The attenuation of the link is measured using the insertion loss method. This method uses an 
optical source and an optical power meter to compare the difference between two optical 
power levels. 
 

j) When testing multimode optical fibre links with a Light Source and a Power Meter, this 
measurement kit has to be capable of operating at: 

⚫ 850nm and 1300nm for multimode fibres (OM1, OM2 & OM3) 

⚫ 1310nm and 1550nm for single mode fibres (OS1) 
 

 
k) The test scenario with a Light Source and a Power Meter shall be one of the following for each 

link: 

⚫ Single direction @ 850nm and @ 1300nm for multimode fibres 

⚫ Single direction @ 1310nm and @ 1550nm for single-mode fibres 

 
l) When testing with basic optical source and power meter, the operator will fill in a report 

logging: 

⚫ the time of the test 

⚫ the link identification under test 

⚫ the link length and attenuation at the window tested 

⚫ The report shall also identify in which direction the testing was implemented. 

⚫ Acceptable link attenuation (To be calculated) 

Page 210



 

 

 
m) The measured attenuation of the links shall have a lower value than the 

acceptable link attenuation calculated. 

 

Documentation 

The following documentation is to be provided to BHC/BCCG IT in electronic and 

hardcopy formats for review and audit purposes: 

a) Certification files (in Excel format) 

b) Plans “as built” (in AutoCad and PDF format) showing all outlet positions 

with outlet number and cable routes. 

c) Class E “Link and Channel Warranty” delivered by the Developer / Product manufacturer 

d) List of components used, (Manufacturer and Part number) 
 
 

Page 211



 

 

Appendix 1 – Glossary 

 

BER Bit Error Rate: In telecommunication, an error ratio is the ratio of the number of bits, 
elements, characters, or blocks incorrectly eceived to the total number of bits, 
elements, characters, or blocks sent during a specified time interval. The error ratio is 
usually expressed in scientific notation; for example, 2.5 erroneous bits out of 100,000 
bits transmitted would be 2.5 out of 105 or 2.5 × 10-5.Some software may display this 
as "2.5e-05". 

BHC/BCCG IT Bromley HealthCare/Bromley CCG IT - based at Global House, 10 Station Approach, 
Hayes , Kent BR4 0DA. They provide the technical support for the Bromley Healthcare, 
Bromley CCG and Primary Care 

EES Circuit Ethernet Extension Services (EES Circuit) - formerly known by BT in the U.K as LES 
Circuits (LAN Extension Services) is a point to point circuit available at speeds of 10 
Mbps, 100 Mbps and 1000 Mbps. 

EIA Electronic Industries Alliance is a membership organization founded in 1924 as the 
Radio Manufacturing Association. It sets standards for consumer products and 
electronic components. In 1988, it spun off its Information & Telecommunications 
Technology Group into a separate organization known as the Telecommunications 
Industry Association (TIA). 

EIGRP Enhanced Interior Gateway Routing Protocol is a Cisco proprietary routing protocol 
loosely based on their original IGRP. EIGRP is an advanced distance-vector routing 
protocol, with optimizations to minimize both the routing instability incurred after 
topology changes, as well as the use of bandwidth and processing power in the router. 
EIGRP and IGRP are compatible with each other. 

BCCG NHS Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group is responsible for commissioning most of 
the healthcare services for the people of Bromley. This means it is responsible for 
planning which services need to be in place and ensuring that there are a range of 
healthcare providers able to deliver care high quality care to patients when they need 
it. 

ISO The International Organization for Standardization is an international standard-setting 
body composed of representatives from various national standards bodies. Founded 
on 23 February 1947, the organization produces world-wide industrial and commercial 
standards. 

LWAPP Lightweight Access Point Protocol is the name of a protocol that can control multiple 
wireless access point at once. 

RJ45 Short for Registered Jack-45, an eight-wire connector used commonly to connect 
computers onto a local-area networks (LAN), especially Ethernets. RJ-45 connectors 
look similar to the ubiquitous RJ-11 connectors used for connecting telephone 
equipment, but they are somewhat wider. 

PACS Picture Archiving and Communication System is the system which enables images such 
as x-rays and scans to be stored electronically and viewed on screens, so health 
professionals can access the information and compare it with previous images more 
efficiently. 

 

PDU Power Distribution snit is a device fitted with multiple outputs designed to distribute 
electric power, especially to racks of computers and networking equipment. 

Page 212



 

 

TCP/IP Short for Transmission Control Protocol/Internet Protocol, the suite of communications 
protocols used to connect hosts on the Internet. TCP/IP uses several protocols, the two 
main ones being TCP and IP. TCP/IP is built into the UNIX operating system and is used 
by the Internet, making it the de facto standard for transmitting data over networks. 
Even network operating systems that have their own protocols, such as Netware, also 
support TCP/IP. 

TIA Telecommunications Industry Association that specifies minimum requirements for 
telecommunications cabling within an office. TIA has recommendations for topology 
and distances, media parameters which determine performance, connectors and pin 
assignments (to ensure inter-connectivity), and demands that the useful life of 
telecommunications cabling systems be in excess of 10 years. 

UTP Short for unshielded twisted pair, a popular type of cable that consists of two 
unshielded wires twisted around each other. Due to its low cost, UTP cabling is used 
extensively for local-area networks (LANs) and telephone connections. UTP cabling 
does not offer as high bandwidth or as good protection from interference as coaxial or 
fibre optic cables, but it is less expensive and easier to work with. 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 213



 

 

00 

.  
0 

0 

0 

1 

Appendix 2 - Example communication room layout 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Power/Data Sockets 

 

 

  

 

   

 

   

Front 

Back 

10
00

.0
0

 

8
0

0
 

Page 214



 

 

Appendix 3 - Example cabinet layout 

 
     Cabling points          Comms links         Active network         IT equipment 
 
 

 
 

NB Equipment fitted is for representative purposes only 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 215



 

 

Appendix E – Infection Control & Prevention 

Guidance for this section has been taken from the following: 

• Health Building Note 00-03: (2013) Clinical and clinical support spaces, 

• Health Building Note 00-10: (2013) Design for flooring, walls, ceilings, sanitary 
ware and windows Parts A-D 

• Health Building Note 11-01: (2013) Facilities for primary and community care services 

• Health Building Note 00-01: (2014) Designing Health and Community Care Buildings 

• Health building Note 00-02: (2013) Designing sanitary spaces 

• Health Technical Memorandum, 07-04: (2013) Water management and water 
efficiency 

• Health Technical Memorandum 04-01(addendum):(2013) Management of 
pseudomonas aeruginosa in health sector 

• L8 Approved Code of Practice Health and Safety Executive 

• Health Technical Memorandum 04-01 (2006) The control of Legionella Part A and 
Part B 

• Department of Health (2010) The Health and Social Care Act 2008 -Code of 
practice for the prevention and control of healthcare associated infections and 
related guidance. 

• Health Building Note 00-09: (2013) Infection control in the built environment 

• Environment Agency (2011) Hazardous Waste Regulations. Waste (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Waste (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
(Wales) 2011 Regulations. 

• British Association of Day surgery (BADS) Directory of Procedures 4th Edition 

Design Principles: 

• Use finishes that are impervious, smooth and seamless 

• Hard flooring to be run up walls and floor cupboards for a short distance (20cms) 
to provide for easy cleaning 

• Preferably floor mounted cupboards should be set above floor 

• Eliminate or minimise dead legs and blind ends in water systems 

• Consider hands free operation of utilities (e.g. sensor taps, automatic lights, 
movements sensors for toilet flushes) 

• Provide sufficient space for activities to take place and to avoid cross-
contamination (e.g. cubicle curtains and wash hand basins) 

• Ensure proper segregation and management of waste 

• Provide sufficient waste receptacle storage for both domestic and clinical waste in 
rooms that are easy to clean 

• Design out horizontal surfaces (e.g. window sills, shelving) to discourage clutter 

• Provide sufficient hand wash basins 

• Plan for good separation of clean and dirty activities 

 

Page 216



 

 

1. Generic Rooms 

Advice in the use of Generic rooms, designed to accommodate a range of activities 
rather than being tailored for a single function or range of specific functions are not 
included in this section. 

There may be certain functions that may be carried out in a number of rooms and will 
depend on risk. 

2. Risk based approach 

The key principle used in this section is a risk-based approach to determine appropriate 
rooms/facilities for a range of procedures. Procedures have been allocated to facilities as 
follows: 

• No or very low risk procedures take place in Consulting, Examination, Therapy 
rooms, etc. 

• Low risk procedures require a treatment room. 

• Medium risk, enhanced procedures require a procedure room. 

• High risk procedures require an operating theatre. 

 

3. Consulting / counselling / examination / therapy rooms 

These rooms are not used for treatments e.g. where there may be accidental and minimal 
spillage of blood or body fluids 

 

3.1 Size, location and pattern of use 

Rooms should preferably be 16m2 to allow access to three sides of the examination couch 
when required. Although in general practice it would be usual to align the couch against 
one wall leaving space for escorts and mobile equipment. 
If the room is to be used only for consultations the room size may be reduced to 12-
14m2. A room of this size must not be used for any other purpose other than 
consultations. A room of this size should not have an examination couch in the room. A 
clinical hand wash basin is essential. 

 
3.2 Characteristics of the space 

• Window: External windows may be open able and have curtains, tracks or 
blinds; which should be easy to clean or easy to remove for laundering. 

• Finishes: For ease of cleaning finishes should be jointless or with sealed joints, 
impermeable and easy to clean. Typically floors should be covered in sheet vinyl 
with coved skirting to at least 20 cm up the wall. 

• Artificial lighting: Light fittings and illumination levels should be cleanable. 

• Furniture, fittings and equipment: All furniture should have a washable impervious 
surface, not textured. All store cupboards should be enclosed with lockable doors 
to provide a clean environment. Furniture should be wipeable and easy to clean. A 
wall bracket is required for sharps bins at a height which is out of reach of children, 
but low enough to allow visual disposal of sharps. 

• Clinical Hand Wash basin: to HTM 64 standard with wall-mounted liquid soap 
dispenser, paper towel dispenser, and alcohol hand rub dispenser. 

Page 217



 

 

4. Treatment room 

The room is used for procedures which exclude the use of general anaesthetics but 
must be suitable for the conduct of advanced life support in the event of collapse. 

 
4.1 Size, location and pattern of use 

Rooms should be a minimum of 16m² or preferably 18-20m2. If more than one, clustered 
in groups, or with other treatment rooms, supported by the other accommodation. Each 
room should provide workspace for a clinician and an assistant. 

The couch or operating table must be accessible on all four sides. 

 
4.2 Characteristics of the space 

• Window: External windows should not be openable (no trickle vents), and have no 
curtains, tracks or blinds. Windows must be designed to preserve privacy ie 
obscure glazing. External blinds may be appropriate for solar control and remotely 
operated. 

• Ventilation: The room must be mechanically ventilated and cooled, with a minimum 
of 10 air changes with a good standard of filtered air. Hepa filters are not 
necessary, but the room should be under positive pressure to 10 pascals. 

• Finishes: Finishes should be jointless or with sealed joints, impermeable and easy 
to clean. Typically vinyl floors with coved skirting at least 20 cm up the wall. Walls 
and ceilings should be sealed smooth and capable of withstanding chemical 
disinfectants. 

• Artificial lighting: Light fittings and illumination levels should be cleanable. Ceiling 
mounted operating lamp, or adjustable examination/operating lamp fitted should 
be easy to clean. 

• Furniture, fittings and equipment: All furniture should have a washable impervious 
surface, not textured. All store cupboards should be enclosed with lockable doors to 
provide a clean environment. There should be no open cupboards or shelves. 
Furniture should be wipeable and easy to clean. A wall bracket is required for 
sharps bins at a height which is out of reach of children, but low enough to allow 
visual disposal of sharps. 

• Clinical Hand Wash basin: to HTM 64 standard with wall-mounted liquid soap 
dispenser, paper towel dispenser, and alcohol hand rub dispenser. It must be 
easily accessible from both the consultation and examination areas. The curtain 
should be located to prevent it becoming contaminated from use of the clinical 
wash-hand basin. 

 

5. Clean utility room/s 

Of a standard size from 8m2 - 12m2 rooms depending on the equipment to be located in 
the room. Ideally a dedicated sterile store room would be directly accessible to the 
procedures treatment room. 

 
5.1 Characteristics of the space 

• Window: Not a necessity. If provided should be obscured glass with no curtains, 
tracks or blinds. 

Page 218



 

 

• Nature of the environment: Mechanical ventilation should be provided to the space. 
Twenty- five air changes per hour with 35 pascals are recommended for lay-up 
preparation rooms, but only six air changes for a normal clean utility. 

• Finishes: Finishes should be joint less, impermeable and easy to clean. Typically 
vinyl floor finish with painted walls and impervious splash back to work surfaces 
are appropriate. 

• Furniture: Furniture should be wipeable and easy to clean. Furniture should 
include storage for dressing trolleys and waste sack holders. 

• Fittings: A clinical hand wash basin to HTM 64 standard (with wall-mounted liquid 
soap dispenser, paper towel dispenser, antiseptic hand solution dispenser and 
alcohol hand rub dispenser). A range of built-in closed cupboards. No open 
shelves. 

• Equipment: This will include desktop and floor-mounted items. 

 

6. Dirty utility room/s 

The size and number of dirty utility rooms will depend on activity and layout. They should 
be of a standard size from 8m2 - 12m2. Ideally a dedicated dirty utility room would be 
directly accessible to the treatment room with a hatch rather than a door. 

The location of dirty utility rooms should minimise travel distances for staff to reduce 
the risk of spillages and cross contamination, and to increase working efficiencies. 

 
6.1 Activities that occur in dirty utility rooms include: 

• Disposing of liquid waste; 

• Urine testing; 

• Clinical hand washing using a clinical hand wash basin with sensor taps; 

• Storage of soiled linen, awaiting collection; 

• Holding waste sacks prior to their removal to a disposal hold; 

• Disposal of small amounts of liquid human waste; and 

• Storage of disposable pots and liners. 

 
The space required for holding waste sacks will depend on the local disposal policy. As 
soon as sacks have been filled they should be sealed and taken away (as soon as 
possible thereafter) to the associated disposal hold to await collection, to avoid cluttering 
and build-up of odours. 

 
6.2 Characteristics of the space: 

• Storage of disposable pots and liners. 

• Window: Not a necessity. If provided should be obscured glass with no curtains, 
tracks or blinds. 

• Nature of the environment: Mechanical extract ventilation should be provided to the 
space. Six air changes with negative pressure are recommended. 

• Finishes: Finishes should be joint less, impermeable and easy to clean. Typically 
non- slip vinyl floor finish with painted walls and impervious splash back to work 
surfaces are appropriate. 

Page 219



 

 

• Furniture: Furniture should be wipe-able and easy to clean. 

• Fittings: This will typically include a clinical hand wash basin (with wall-mounted liquid 
soap dispenser, paper towel dispenser), a sink and drainer (with wall- mounted taps 
and no overflow), a flushing slop sink, a range of built-in cupboards, shelves and 
urine testing cupboard. 

 

7. Cleaner’s Room 

This room is used to deliver day-to-day cleaning services for a defined area. The 
recommended room size is between 8m2 – 12m2. 

• Cleaning materials and equipment in daily use should be stored in this room. 

• The room should be provided with a sink and slop-hopper or janitorial unit as well as 
a wash- hand basin. 

• There should be unrestricted access to the sink and slop-hopper/janitorial unit 

• Space should be provided for mops, buckets, a vacuum cleaner, 
scrubbing/polishing machine (for hard floors) and other appropriate cleaning 
equipment. 

8. Hot and cold water 

Should be at a minimum flow of 600C ± 2.5oC, with a return temperature of 50oC. 

Allow for safe water temperature of 43oC at each outlet - to be obtained by use of 
automatic mixer units providing water at the predetermined temperature 

Taps discharging directly into a drain hole can cause splashing, which could disperse 
contaminated droplets. The tap outlet flow should not discharge directly into the waste 
aperture. 

 

 

 

Page 220



 

 

 

 

© Archus 2019 

UK Company Registration No. 6937095 

 

Page 221



This page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 223

Agenda Item 19
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 225

Agenda Item 20
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 233

Agenda Item 21
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

Agenda Item 22
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is left intentionally blank


	Agenda
	4 TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 JANUARY 2020
	Executive 150120 Appendix A Questions and Replies
	Executive 150120 Appendix B

	5 MATTERS OUTSTANDING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
	6 2020/21 COUNCIL TAX
	Report No.    London Borough of Bromley
	FSD20022
	PART 1 - PUBLIC
	Date: 12th February 2020
	REASON FOR REPORT
	2.     RECOMMENDATIONS
	3. PREVIOUS REPORTING TO MEMBERS
	4. 2020/21 DRAFT BUDGET AND CHANGES SINCE LAST MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE
	4.1 The last report to the Executive identified a balanced budget in 2020/21, assuming an increase in council tax and adult social care precept of 3.99%, and a ‘budget gap’ of £16.9m by 2023/24.The main updates are shown below:
	5.  LATEST FINANCIAL FORECAST
	6. DRAFT 2020/21 CENTRAL CONTINGENCY SUM
	7. GENERAL AND EARMARKED RESERVES
	8. 2019/20 BUDGET MONITORING
	9. THE SCHOOLS BUDGET
	10. LEVIES
	11 COLLECTION FUND
	12. THE GREATER LONDON AUTHORITY PRECEPT
	13. UTILISATION OF GENERAL RESERVES, COUNCIL’S CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND BUILDING MAINTENANCE
	14.      CONSULTATION
	15. POSITION BY DEPARTMENT – KEY ISSUES/RISKS
	16. COUNCIL TAX LEVEL 2020/21
	17. FUNDING SETTLEMENT
	18. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING
	18.4 For financial planning purposes, the financial forecast assumes a council tax increase of 1.99% per annum over the following three years to compensate for funding reductions, to meet inflationary costs on social care and provide funding to meet i...
	19. IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS WITH CHILDREN
	20. POLICY IMPLICATIONS
	21.     PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
	21.1 Staff, departmental and trade union representatives will be consulted individually and collectively on any adverse staffing implications arising from the Draft 2020/21 Budget. Managers have also been asked to encourage and facilitate staff involv...
	22. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	22.1 The Council is required to fix its Council Tax by the 11th March in any year. The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) Regulations 2001 and the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) Regulations 2000 (as amended) deal, amongs...
	22.2 Schedule 5 to the Localism Act 2011 inserted a new section 52ZB in the 1992 Act which sets out the duty on billing authorities, and precepting authorities to each  determine whether their relevant basic amount of council tax for a financial year ...
	22.3 The introduction of the Education Act 2005 has changed the procedure for the setting of schools budgets. The Act has introduced the concept of a funding period, which allows for the introduction of multiple year budgets rather than the setting of...
	22.4 The Schools Finance (England) Regulations 2005 introduced under the provisions of the new Section 45AA of  the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, place a requirement  on the LEA to determine schools budgets by the 31st March. Notice of a sc...
	2. General Reserves
	3.   3. Earmarked Reserves
	3.2 The report highlights the ongoing ‘budget gap’ (see 5.1 of main report) which results in the Council, on an ongoing basis, having a “structural deficit”. To respond to this, Members have agreed over the last few years to create new earmarked reser...
	4.2 Level and Timing of Capital Receipts
	4.3     Budget and Financial Management and ‘Demand Led’ Budgets
	4.4     Financial Standing of the Authority
	4.5     Financial Information and Reporting
	4.5.1  The arrangements for finance staff to report to the Director of Finance, in place since April 2002, have produced far greater clarity of roles and responsibilities. The Council will need to continue with a rolling service review process to be a...
	4.6 Virement Procedures
	4.7 Risk areas
	4.8 Link with other plans/strategies
	4.9 Insurance Fund
	4.10 Funds and the adequacy of provisions
	4.10.1 As is discussed above, the Council has both general and earmarked reserves and continues to take a prudent approach to limiting the scope of future year’s capital expenditure and other commitments. It is essential that an adequate level of rese...
	4.11 Council’s Investment Income contributing to supporting key services
	4.11.5 Details of the approach to treasury management is being reported to Executive, Resources and Contracts PDS meeting on 5th February 2020. The Treasury Management Strategy has previously been revised to enable alternative investments of £100m whi...
	Appendix 3 2020-21 (30.01.20).pdf
	App 3 (Feb 20)

	Appendix 2 (30.01.20).pdf
	App 2A (Feb 20)
	App 2B (Feb 20)

	Appendix 1 (27.01.20).pdf
	summary (Feb Exec)


	7 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING Q3 2019/20 AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 2020 TO 2024
	Executive 120220 Capital Programme Part 1 Appendices

	8 TEC AMENDMENT TO ALLOW LONDON COUNCILS A COLLABORATIVE ROLE IN ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE
	9 CRYSTAL PALACE PARK
	10 HOUSING STRATEGY 2019-2029
	Executive 120220 Housing Strategy Appendix 1 Consultation Summary
	Executive 120220 Housing Strategy Appendix 2 Housing Strategy Summary

	11 TENANCY SUPPORT SERVICES FOR HOMELESS PEOPLE (PART 1)
	12 CONTRACT AWARD: PROVISION OF HOUSING SUPPLY IN ANERLEY AND CHISLEHURST (PART 1)
	13 CONTRACT AWARD: DOMICILIARY CARE FOR DISCHARGE TO ASSESS (PART 1)
	14 LONDON BOROUGHS LEGAL ALLIANCE FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT FOR BARRISTERS
	15 AUTHORITY TO ENTER INTO NEGOTIATIONS TO DISPOSE  OF FORMER ADVENTURE KINGDOM BUILDING, BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE  TO CREATE A NEW NHS HEALTH AND WELL BEING CENTRE FOR BROMLEY
	Executive 120220 Tenants Requirements Bromley HWBC
	Document control
	1 Introduction
	Vision
	Location
	Demand and Capacity

	2 Services Description
	2.1 Range of Services
	Primary Medical Care Services
	Secondary Care
	Secondary care outpatients, therapy and diagnostics
	Endoscopy Suite
	Mental Health
	Public Health

	2.2 Operational details
	Operational Hours
	Staffing Levels
	Reception
	Security
	Primary Medical Care

	2.3 Primary Medical Care
	Activity Levels
	Range of Services
	Service Requirements

	2.4 Community Health and Secondary Care
	Activity levels
	Range of Services
	Service Requirements
	Mental Health
	Endoscopy Suite
	Therapies


	3 General Design Principles
	3.1 A Healing Environment
	3.2 Patient Privacy and Dignity
	3.3 Facilities for People with Disabilities

	4 Facilities Requirements
	4.1 Clinical Facilities
	Consulting/Examination (C/E) Rooms
	Treatment Rooms
	Clean Utility Room
	Dirty Utility Room
	Near Patient Testing
	Group Room/Multi-purpose/Seminar Rooms
	Endoscopy Suite
	Ultrasound
	Therapy Activity Area

	4.2 Non-Clinical Facilities
	Main Entrance
	General
	Reception
	Administrative space
	Medical Records
	Waiting Areas
	Health Information Resource Service
	Appointment check-in
	Staff and Support Facilities
	Changing
	Staff Rest
	Seminar Room
	Sanitary Facilities
	WC (assisted)
	Baby Change Room
	Baby Feeding Room
	Staff Shower and Changing
	Cleaning
	Telecommunications Hub and IT
	Religious/Spiritual Facilities



	5 Functional Relationships
	6 Area Requirements
	7 Additional Design Considerations
	Access
	Car Parking
	Internal Traffic
	Goods and Sterile Supplies
	Collection of Waste and Linen

	8 Whole Site Policies
	8.1 Security and Safety of Staff, Patients and Visitors
	Health and Safety
	Security

	8.2 Fire Precautions
	Fire Safety:

	8.3 Major Incidents
	8.4 Incident Reporting
	8.5 Complaints Procedure

	9 Building and Engineering Design Principles
	Life Expectancy of Building Elements
	Service Life and Residual Life
	Design Objectives
	Weather Protection
	Sound Insulation
	Windows
	Doors
	Ironmongery
	Internal Walls
	Ceilings
	Floors
	Colour Schemes
	Finishes
	Sanitary Fittings
	Signage
	Heating and Thermal Comfort
	Ventilation
	Hot and Cold Water Installation
	Infection control
	Access
	Lighting
	Power Circuits
	Utilities Sub-metering
	Lightning Protection
	Fire Alarm System
	Specialist Installations
	TV Installations
	ICT System
	Telephones
	CCTV and Security System
	Panic Alarms
	Staff Call Systems
	Patient Check in/Call System

	Furniture and Equipment
	Fixed furniture and Equipment
	White Goods and Kitchen Equipment
	Loose Furniture

	Waste
	Other

	Appendices
	Appendix A – Activity Projections
	Appendix B – Site Location
	Appendix C – Equipment Grouping
	Appendix D – ICT Infrastructure
	1 Purpose and Scope 3
	2 Service Requirements 3
	3 Assumptions 4
	4 Terminology 4
	5 Planning requirements 4
	6 Environmental Pre-Requisites 6
	7 Wireless Connectivity 8
	8 Warranty 9
	9 Technical Standards 9
	10 Testing - Minimum Requirements 11
	Appendices 14
	EIA/TIA-568B series for:
	EIA/TIA-569-A for:
	EIA/TIA-606 for:
	J-S ID-607-A for:
	NB Equipment fitted is for representative purposes only



	Appendix E – Infection Control & Prevention
	Guidance for this section has been taken from the following:
	Design Principles:
	1. Generic Rooms
	2. Risk based approach
	3. Consulting / counselling / examination / therapy rooms
	3.1 Size, location and pattern of use
	3.2 Characteristics of the space

	4. Treatment room
	4.1 Size, location and pattern of use
	4.2 Characteristics of the space

	5. Clean utility room/s
	5.1 Characteristics of the space

	6. Dirty utility room/s
	6.1 Activities that occur in dirty utility rooms include:
	6.2 Characteristics of the space:

	7. Cleaner’s Room
	8. Hot and cold water




	19 TENANCY SUPPORT SERVICE FOR HOMELESS PEOPLE (PART 2)
	20 CONTRACT AWARD: PROVISION OF HOUSING SUPPLY IN ANERLEY AND CHISLEHURST
	21 CONTRACT AWARD: DOMICILIARY CARE FOR DISCHARGE TO ASSESS (PART 2)
	22 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - APPENDIX F



